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Forward-looking Information  
Certain information in this report, including Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, contains forward-looking statements as 
such term is defined in Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Certain forward-looking statements can be 
identified by the use of forward-looking terminology such as, “believes”, “expects,” “may,” “will,” “should,” “seeks,” “approximately,” “intends,” “plans,” “estimates,” or 
“anticipates” or the negative thereof or other comparable terminology, or by discussions of strategy, plans or intentions. Forward-looking statements involve risks and 
uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements. These include risks and uncertainties such as the effects of, 
and changes in, general economic conditions and capital spending by customers, competitive market pressures, material changes in demand from larger customers, 
availability of labor, the Company’s performance on contracts, changes in customers’ attitudes toward outsourcing, government policies or judicial decisions adverse to the 
staffing industry, and other uncertainties set forth herein, and as may be set forth in the Company’s subsequent press releases and/or Forms 10-Q, 8-K and other filings with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date 
hereof. The Company assumes no obligation to update such information. Certain other risk factors are discussed more fully under “Risk Factors” in Part I, Item 1 of this 
filing.  
   

Part I  

Restatement of Financial Statements  
(dollars in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)  
As part of its 2004 year-end closing process, the Company identified approximately $4.0 million of pre-tax adjustments which pertained to 2003 and the first three quarters of 
2004. Approximately $2.0 million related to the first three quarters of 2004 and the remaining $2.0 million related to 2003. As a result, the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements for these periods have been restated to reflect a decrease of pre-tax earnings of approximately $928, $696, and $346 for the third, second, and first quarters, 
respectively, of 2004, and a decrease in pre-tax earnings of approximately $879, $886, and $398 for the fourth, third, and first quarters of 2003, respectively, and an 
increase in pre-tax earnings of approximately $161 for the second quarter of 2003. Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements of the Company for these periods and 
the segment data for the Business Solutions segment for these periods included in prior filings with the SEC should no longer be relied upon.  
   All applicable financial information contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K gives effect to these restatements. For information concerning the background of the 2003 
restatement and the specific adjustments made, see Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Restatement of 
Financial Statements”, and Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and Quarterly Results (Unaudited) Supplementary Data included in Item 8. Remedial 
measures that were recommended or identified in the course of the restatement process are summarized in Item 9A, “Controls and Procedures.”  
   

   

      

Item 1.   Business 
General  
CDI Corp., (the “Company” or “CDI”) (NYSE:CDI), which was founded in 1950 in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, provides engineering and information technology outsourcing 
solutions and professional services, specialized staffing and permanent placement services, and franchise services. The Company derives the majority of its revenues from 
Fortune 1000 companies serviced primarily in the United States.  
   Overview  
CDI’s primary services are to provide temporary and managed staffing, project outsourcing, permanent placement, and franchise services to a diversified group of 
customers located primarily in the United States. These services are described as follows:  
   

   

  

�   Temporary staffing services include providing skilled engineering, information technology (“IT”), construction and other professionals, as well as clerical, legal, 
financial, and administrative staff, to work at a customer’s location under the supervision of customer personnel on a contractual basis. Managed staffing services 
include services where we assume the operation and management of a customer function, such as on-site management of staffing requirements, certain human 
resource functions, and the utilization of web-based technology to support these functions. 

   

  
�   Project outsourcing services are high value-added engineering and consulting services provided under contractual engagements that generally are more than a 

year in duration. These services typically involve managing a portion of a customer’s capital project, and may include feasibility studies, infrastructure 
management, enterprise support, and technology advisory services. 
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�   Permanent placement services include the search, recruitment, and employment of candidates on behalf of CDI’s customers. Generally, permanent placement 

services are performed on a non-exclusive, contingency basis, and the Company is compensated only upon successfully placing a recommended candidate. 
Revenues for permanent place -  
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  ment services also include ongoing royalty fees paid by franchisees. These fees are based on a contractual percentage of a franchisee’s permanent placement 

service. 

   
  

�   Franchise services include providing a franchisee with the right to use trademarks and trade names, ongoing field service and public relations support, training, 
and purchasing leverage. In addition, an inter-office referral network provides franchisees international recruiting capabilities in fulfilling customer requirements. 

In the fourth quarter of 2003, the Company initiated a business integration plan to align the Company’s organizational structure with the key vertical markets it serves. This 
integration plan was designed to better serve the needs of the Company’s customers, create synergies within its existing operating units, achieve greater operating 
efficiencies, and generate higher revenue.  
   In January 2004, the Company implemented organizational and reporting changes in support of its vertical go-to-market strategy. The new organizational structure has four 
reporting segments—Business Solutions (“BS”), AndersElite (“Anders”), Todays Staffing (“Todays”), and Management Recruiters International (“MRI”). Management 
integrated its former Professional Services and Project Management segments to form BS, which focuses on specific vertical markets—information technology services, 
process and industrial, aerospace, government services, and life sciences. Anders, previously part of the Professional Services reporting segment, is a major provider of 
building and construction professionals and operates primarily in the United Kingdom. The Todays and MRI segments remain unchanged.  
   The following tables summarize the Company’s revenue by category, and reporting segment for 2004, 2003, and 2002:  
   

   
Reporting Segments  
See Note 19 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements for additional information regarding the Company’s operating segments. All prior year presentations have 
been revised for the effect of the restatement as well as for the new reporting segments.  
   

     Year ended December 31, 2004   

     

Business 

Solutions     Anders     Todays     MRI     Total   
Revenues:                                 

Staffing services     59.6 %   90.4 %   97.2 %   43.1 %   68.0 % 
Project outsourcing     40.0     -    -    -    26.8   
Permanent placement and royalties     0.4     9.6     2.8     49.4     4.8   
Franchise fees     -    -    -    7.5     0.4   

     100.0 %   100.0 %   100.0 %   100.0 %   100.0 % 

     Year ended December 31, 2003   

     

Business 

Solutions     Anders     Todays     MRI     Total   
Revenues:                                 

Staffing services     57.5 %   90.3 %   97.1 %   47.7 %   66.7 % 
Project outsourcing     42.2     -    -    -    28.5   
Permanent placement and royalties     0.3     9.7     2.9     45.3     4.4   
Franchise fees     -    -    -    7.0     0.4   

     100.0 %   100.0 %   100.0 %   100.0 %   100.0 % 

     Year ended December 31, 2002   

     

Business 

Solutions     Anders     Todays     MRI     Total   
Revenues:                                 

Staffing services     61.4 %   90.0 %   98.0 %   35.1 %   67.1 % 
Project outsourcing     38.4     -    -    -    26.6   
Permanent placement and royalties     0.2     10.0     2.0     59.8     5.9   
Franchise fees     -    -    -    5.1     0.4   

     100.0 %   100.0 %   100.0 %   100.0 %   100.0 % 

Business Solutions (“BS”)  

BS provides temporary and managed staffing, project outsourcing, and permanent placement staffing solutions to customers seeking engineering, design, consulting, 
information technology resources, and professional staff, in approximately 70 offices in the United States and 6 international offices in Canada and Germany. In 2004, 
approximately 7% of BS’ total revenue was generated outside the United States.  
   Services  
BS offers its services to customers through the following targeted verticals:  
   

   
  

�   CDI Information Technology Services—Provides Information Technology (“IT”) staffing and IT outsourcing solutions to a broad range of primarily service-based 
industries. 

   

  
�   CDI Process and Industrial—Provides a full range of engineering, project management, design, professional staffing, and outsourcing solutions to firms in two 

different sectors: the process sector, that includes firms in oil, gas, and chemical industries; and the industrial sector, covering firms in power generation and 
energy transmission, telecommunications, and heavy manufacturing industries. 

   
  

�   CDI Aerospace—Provides a full range of engineering, design, project management, professional staffing, and outsourcing solutions to both the commercial and 
military aerospace markets. 

   
  �   CDI Government Services—Focuses on providing engineering, design, and logistics services to the defense industry. 
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�   CDI Life Sciences—Offers design, validation, project management, engineering, professional staffing, and outsourcing solutions to customers in the 

pharmaceutical, bio-pharmaceutical, and regulated medical services industries. 
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The following table shows the percentage of revenue derived from each of these verticals within the BS segment for 2004, 2003, and 2002:  
   

   
BS segment’s staffing service delivery is tailored to the needs of the customer. The most basic service is providing skilled professionals to work at a single customer location 
on a temporary or permanent basis. The segment’s highest staffing value to customers is in the provision of customized managed staffing solutions, which may include: 
serving as the lead recruiter among several vendors, the procurement of hundreds of professional employees across a broad geographic area, the provision of on-site 
management of staffing requirements and certain human resource functions, and the utilization of web-based technology to support these functions.  
   

     2004     2003     2002   
Revenues:                     

CDI Information Technology Services     39.9 %   37.9 %   43.6 % 
CDI Process and Industrial     39.6     38.8     38.4   
CDI Aerospace     12.3     14.2     8.9   
CDI Government Services     6.9     6.7     5.8   
CDI Life Sciences     1.3     2.4     3.3   

     100.0 %   100.0 %   100.0 % 

When providing staffing services, the segment recruits and hires employees and provides these personnel to customers for assignments that, on average, last close to one 
year. The vast majority of these services are performed in the customers’ facilities. Customers use the segment’s employees to meet peak period personnel needs, to fill in 
for employees who are ill or on vacation, to provide additional capabilities in times of expansion and change, and to work on projects requiring specialized skills. At the end 
of the project, an employee is either reassigned to another project for the current customer, assigned to perform services with another customer, or employment is 
terminated.  
   When supplying staffing services, the segment provides not only the employees but may also manage all of the customer’s contract staffing needs, as well as certain human 
resource functions required to manage the customer’s contract workforce. When providing managed staffing services, the segment frequently establishes on-site offices at 
one or more of the customer’s facilities, staffs it with employees from the segment, and ties that office into the segment’s business systems. If desired, managed staff 
services utilize web-based technology to help accelerate and streamline the procurement, management, and supervision of contract employees.  
   Although services are usually performed at the customer’s premises, BS remains the employer of its temporary employees and is responsible for administrative matters and 
employment-related taxes of these temporary employees. When services are performed at CDI’s offices, BS generally provides supervision for employees, and may have 
increased responsibility for the per formance of work that is generally monitored in conjunction with customer personnel.  
   BS offers a wide range of project management, outsourcing services, and technical consulting services to customers in high technology and capital-intensive vertical 
markets. These services include feasibility studies, turnaround management, validation services, and technical publications. In addition, BS provides information technology 
outsourcing services such as infrastructure management, enterprise support services, and technology advisory services. These high value-added engineering and 
consulting contractual engagements are generally more than a year in duration.  
   The high-value added engineering services typically involve managing a discrete portion or portions of a customer’s capital project, including, but not limited to, preliminary 
or detailed plant design and construction management, validation and commissioning of a facility, and lifecycle support. To the extent such activities entail design and 
planning work, they are typically performed at CDI’s offices. However, construction management, validation, commissioning, and lifecycle support activities are generally 
performed on-site.  
   In providing information technology outsourcing services, the segment usually manages a customer’s technical department by staffing the department with its employees, 
and monitoring the results of the department. In most instances, the managed department is located on-site at the customer’s premises, but in some cases the customer 
may prefer an off-site location. In this case, the segment may need to maintain a stand-alone operation.  
   Pricing  
Under a substantial number of temporary and managed staffing contracts between BS and its customers, pricing is generally based on mark-ups on contractual rates of pay. 
Contracts generally do not obligate the customer to pay for any fixed number of hours. Generally, the customer has the right to terminate the contract, usually on short 
notice. BS maintains the right to terminate its staffing employees at will.  
   Project outsourcing services are generally based on mark-ups on contractual hourly rates of pay. Contracts generally do not obligate the customer to pay for any fixed 
number of hours. To a lesser extent, BS’ revenues are derived from fixed-price and outsourcing contracts. Customers typically invite several companies to bid for contracts, 
which are awarded primarily on the basis of price, technological capability, value-added services, and prior performance. Many times customers grant multi-vendor 
contracts.  
   Permanent placement services are contingent upon filling an assigned position. If the customer hires the candidate, BS is compensated based upon an agreed-upon rate, 
which generally amounts to a percentage of first year compensation for the candidate placed.  
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Customers / Markets  
Marketing activities are conducted by national, divisional, and regional management to ascertain opportunities in specific vertical markets and geographical areas. Each 
office assists in identifying the potential markets for services in its geographic area, and develops that market through personal contact with prospective and existing 
customers. The segment’s operating management stays abreast of emerging demand for services so that efforts can be expanded or redirected to take advantage of 
potential business in either established or new marketing areas.  
   The segment’s quarterly operating results are affected by the seasonality of its customers’ businesses. This seasonality is due to customers’ plant closures and vacation and 
holiday schedules. Demand for BS’ staffing and project outsourcing services is generally lower in the fourth quarter of a calendar year and increases during the first, second, 
and third quarters. In 2004, no one customer exceeded 10% of total segment revenue. In 2004, governmental contract service business represented approximately 8% of 
BS’ total segment revenues. Most of this business is in the Government Services vertical, with the balance primarily in the IT vertical.  
   AndersElite (“Anders”)  

Anders provides temporary and permanent placement staffing solutions for customers seeking building, construction, and other related professional services in 13 company-
owned offices principally in the United Kingdom. Services provided include architecture, building services, commercial and industrial construction, consulting engineering, 
facilities management, interior design, surveying, and town planning projects in both private and government-funded capital infrastructure investments.  
   Services  
Temporary staffing services are performed at customer jobsites by Anders’ workers who are hired to work on customers’ projects. The period of assignment depends on the 
need for the skills of the individual worker and can range from several days to many months. The average assignment duration can vary significantly depending on the 
assignment. At the end of the project, the worker is either reassigned to another project for the current customer, assigned to perform services with another customer, or is 
terminated.  
   Anders provides temporary workers to work at customer jobsites. Anders contracts for the temporary workers’ services either with the individual worker or with a limited 
company. In the case of individual workers, Anders is responsible for related tax deductions and national insurance contributions, whereas in the case of limited company 
workers, the limited company employer is responsible for such deductions and contributions. The customer has supervisory control and responsibility for performance of the 
temporary workers.  
   
Pricing  
Temporary staffing services are generally billed by the hour for the number of hours worked. Pricing is based on mark-ups on contractual rates of pay, and arrangements 
with the customer generally do not obligate the customer to pay for any fixed number of hours. Fees for permanent placement services are contingent upon filling an 
assigned position. If the customer hires the candidate, Anders is generally compensated based on a percentage of first year compensation for the candidate placed.  
   Customers / Markets  
Anders’ primary markets include national and regional U.K.-based customers that operate within the public and private sector. These customers span industrial, commercial, 
government and defense, housing, retail, and the rail industries. The segment’s quarterly operating results are affected by the seasonality of its customers’ businesses. This 
seasonality is due to weather and daylight limitations, as well as governmental budget constraints. Demand for Anders’ staffing services is generally lower in the first quarter 
and fourth quarter of a calendar year and increases during the second and third quarters. Although Anders provides services to the governmental sector, the segment has 
no significant dependency on governmental contract services. In 2004, no one customer represented more than 10% of total segment revenue.  
   Todays Staffing (“Todays”)  

Todays provides temporary and managed staffing and permanent placement staffing solutions for customers seeking office administrative, legal professionals, and financial 
staff, through approximately 70 company-owned and franchised offices in the United States and 10 company-owned offices in Canada. In 2004, approximately 12% of 
Todays’ total revenue was generated in Canada.  
   Services  
Temporary and managed staffing services are performed in customers’ facilities by Todays employees who are hired to work on customers’ projects. The period of 
assignment depends on the need for the skills of the individual employee and can range from several days to many weeks. The duration of most assignments ranges from 
six to nine weeks. At the end of the assignment, the employee is either reassigned to another project for the current customer, assigned to perform services with another 
customer, or is terminated.  
   Although services are provided in the customer’s facilities, Todays remains the employer of its temporary employees, with responsibility for administrative matters and 
employment-related taxes for these individuals. The customer retains supervisory control and responsibility for the performance of the employee’s services.  
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Pricing  
Temporary and managed staffing services are generally billed by the hour for the number of hours worked. Pricing is typically based on mark-ups on contractual rates of 
pay, and arrangements with the customer generally do not obligate the customer to pay for any fixed number of hours. Permanent placement services are contingent upon 
filling an assigned position. If the customer hires the candidate, Todays is generally compensated based on a percentage of first year compensation for the candidate 
placed.  
   Todays supports seven franchised offices and employs all of their personnel, including those recruited by the franchised offices, and also bears the responsibility for billing 
services to customers. Franchisees are responsible for selling services to customers, recruiting temporary personnel, and administrative costs, such as rent and utilities. The 
franchisee receives a portion of the gross profit on the franchised accounts.  
   
Customers / Markets  
Customers retain Todays to supplement their existing workforces, to meet peak manpower needs, and to staff special projects. Marketing activities are conducted by 
divisional and regional management to ascertain opportunities in specific markets and geographical areas. Each office assists in identifying the potential markets for 
services in its geographic area, and develops that market through personal contact with prospective and existing customers. Todays focuses on larger national accounts, as 
well as small to medium-sized customers in the financial, medical, educational, and communications industries, including: financial and legal services, technology, 
education, energy, and telecommunications.  
   The segment’s quarterly operating results are affected by the seasonality of its customers’ businesses. Demand for Todays’ staffing services is generally lower in the first 
and third quarters of a calendar year and increases during the second and fourth quarters. Although Todays provides services to the governmental sector, the segment has 
no significant dependency on governmental contract services. In 2004, revenues from no one customer represented more than 10% of total segment revenue.  
   Management Recruiters International (“MRI”)  

MRI is a franchisor providing support services to its franchisees who engage in the search and recruitment of primarily management and sales personnel for employment by 
the franchisees’ customers. The MRI franchisees provide permanent placement services primarily under the MRI brand umbrella name. In addition, MRI provides temporary 
staffing services to its franchisees as support to the franchisees’ network. As of December 31, 2004, MRI had approximately 800 franchised offices in the United States and 
approximately 150 franchised offices located in 35 other countries throughout the world. In 2004, approximately 8% of MRI’s total revenue was generated outside the United 
States.  
   Services  
Support for MRI’s franchise network is provided by administrative offices in New Castle, Delaware, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, Cleveland, Ohio, and in the United Kingdom 
for international franchise operations. The broad geographic scope of operations and underlying support and related systems enables franchisees to provide international 
recruiting and matching of employers with job candidates.  
   Pricing  
Initial franchise fees and ongoing royalties are the primary component of MRI’s revenues. Individual franchises and international master franchises may be acquired by 
qualified candidates both in the United States and internationally. Franchisees located in the United States pay an initial fee approximating $79,000, while franchisees 
located internationally pay an initial fee approximating $60,000. Ongoing royalty fees are based on a contractual percentage of the franchisee’s permanent placement 
service fees and any other revenue collected. New franchise agreements generally have a term of 10 years.  
   In accordance with the franchise agreement, the franchisee is entitled to the use of MRI’s intellectual property, such as trademarks and trade names, as well as ongoing field 
service and public relations support, training, and purchasing leverage. Franchisees also have access to MRI’s extensive performance development curriculum which is 
designed specifically for the recruitment industry, and an inter-office referral network which provides franchisees international recruiting capabilities in fulfilling customer 
requirements. MRI does not control the business operations of its franchisees.  
   In addition, in conjunction with MRI, franchisees offer temporary staffing services to their customers in the areas of administrative, legal, finance, and other professions. 
Franchisees are responsible for selling these services to their customers and for recruiting temporary personnel. MRI employs the temporary personnel recruited by the 
franchised offices, and also bears the responsibility for billing and collection services to customers. The franchisee receives a portion of the gross profit on the temporary 
staffing service accounts.  
   Customers / Markets  
MRI’s primary objectives are to sell new franchises, renew existing franchises, and, most importantly, provide superior service, training, and support to its franchisees in a 
way that enables them to increase their revenues. New franchisees are brought into the MRI network primarily on a referral basis. The ability of MRI’s franchisees to 
compete in the staffing services industry is important to the segment’s prospects for growth.  
   The ability of an individual franchisee to compete and operate successfully may be affected by the location and service quality  
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of its office, the number of permanent placement offices in the area, community reputation, and other general and local economic factors. The potential negative effect of 
these conditions on the segment’s results of quarterly and annual operations is generally reduced by the diverse geographical locations of its franchisees. No part of MRI’s 
business is dependent on a single franchisee.  
   Other Information  
Competition  
All segments of the Company’s operations face competition in attracting both clients and high-quality specialized employment candidates. The temporary and permanent 
placement businesses are very competitive and highly fragmented, with limited barriers to entry into the market. CDI competes in global, national, regional, and local 
markets with numerous temporary staffing and permanent placement companies. In many areas, the local companies are the strongest competitors. In 2004, some of CDI’s 
largest competitors included: Kelly Services, Inc.; Adecco, S.A.; Spherion Corporation; Volt Information Services, Inc.; and Jacobs Engineering Group, Inc.  
   Competition varies from market to market. In most areas, no single company has a dominant share of the market. Many customers use more than one staffing services 
company; however, the practice of using a primary supplier has become increasingly prevalent among the largest customers. This has led to intense price competition within 
the staffing and recruitment industry in recent years. These sole supplier relationships can have a significant impact on the Company’s revenue and operating profit growth 
as volume reductions by such customers, whether related to economic factors or otherwise, could have an adverse effect on the Company’s results in any period.  
   Key factors that influence success in CDI’s industries include quality of service, price, and geographic location. The Company believes it derives a competitive advantage 
from its long experience in and commitment to its industries, its national presence, and its various marketing activities.  
   Safeguards—Business, Disaster and Contingency Planning  
CDI has a number of safeguards to protect the Company from various system-related risks. Given the significant amount of data generated in the Company’s key processes 
including recruiting, payroll, and customer invoicing, CDI has established redundant processing capability within the Company’s primary data center. This redundancy 
mitigates the risks related to hardware failure. Additionally, CDI has contracted with a third-party provider to restore its primary data center operations in the event of a 
disruption. Finally, the Company maintains site disaster plans for a majority of its operating offices as well as maintaining data back-up requirements throughout the 
Company.  
   
Employees  
As of December 31, 2004, CDI had approximately 1,700 staff employees. In addition, there were approximately 15,000 employees and workers as billable personnel. The 
number of billable employees and workers varies in relation to the number of assignments in progress at any particular time.  
   Risk Factors  
The Company’s business involves a number of risks, some of which are beyond its control. The risk and uncertainties described below are not the only ones the Company 
faces. Management believes that the more significant of these risks and uncertainties are as follows:  
   Economic Trends  
The demand for the Company’s services, in particular its temporary and managed staffing and permanent placement services, is highly dependent upon the state of the 
economy and upon the staffing needs of the Company’s customers. The pace of customer capital spending programs, new product launches, and similar activities has a 
direct impact on the need for temporary and permanent employees and for project outsourcing. Any variation in the economic condition or employment levels of the United 
States or any of the foreign countries in which the Company does business, or in any specific industry, could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, 
financial condition, or results of operations.  
   Government Regulations  
Changes in government regulations could result in prohibition or restriction of certain types of employment services or the imposition of new or additional benefits, licensing, 
or tax requirements with respect to the provision of employment services that may reduce CDI’s future earnings. There can be no assurance that CDI would be able to 
increase the fees charged to its clients in a timely manner or in a sufficient amount to cover increased costs as a result of any of the foregoing.  
   Material Weakness in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting  
As of December 31, 2004, the Company has identified a material weakness in its internal controls over financial reporting. CDI is committed to, and is actively engaged in, 
remedying these matters. See Item 9A “Controls and Procedures”, in this Form 10-K for further information. The failure to implement, or delays in implementing, the 
improvements necessary to remedy the material weakness could adversely affect the ability of the Company to report reliable financial information on a timely basis and to 
comply with the financial reporting requirements under applicable governmental and stock exchange rules.  
   Highly Competitive Business  
The staffing services business is highly competitive and fragmented with limited barriers to entry. CDI competes in global, national, regional, and local markets with 
numerous temporary  
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staffing and permanent placement engineering and IT outsourcing companies. Price competition is significant, and pricing pressures from competitors and customers are 
increasing. There has been a significant increase in the number of customers consolidating their staffing services and engineering and IT outsourcing purchases with a 
single provider or with a small number of providers. The trend to consolidate purchases has in some cases made it more difficult for the Company to obtain or retain 
customers. The Company also faces the risk that certain customers may decide to provide similar services internally. Additionally, pricing pressures have intensified as 
customers have continued to competitively bid new contracts. This trend is expected to continue for the foreseeable future which could limit CDI’s ability to maintain or 
increase its market share or profitability.  
   Offshore Outsourcing Markets  
There is increasing pressure on companies to outsource certain areas of their businesses to low-cost offshore outsourcing firms. Many staffing, engineering and IT 
outsourcing companies are now seeking an offshore solution to support their technology and business process functions, and as a result, a significant amount of technology 
and financial staffing may be replaced by offshore resources. CDI has established partnering arrangements with offshore companies to provide lower cost options to its 
customers. However, offshore solution providers could develop direct relationships with CDI’s customers which could result in the Company losing significant market share 
and revenue.  
   Availability of Qualified Candidates  
CDI depends upon its ability to attract qualified personnel who possess the skills and experience necessary to meet the requirements of its customers or to successfully bid 
for new customer projects. CDI must continually evaluate its base of available qualified personnel to keep pace with changing customer needs and emerging technologies. 
Competition for individuals with proven professional or technical skills always exists, and demand for such individuals is expected to remain very strong in the foreseeable 
future. There is always uncertainty whether qualified personnel will continue to be available to CDI in sufficient numbers and on terms of employment acceptable to CDI.  
   Potential Liability to Employees, Customers and Subcontractors  
From time to time, various types of legal claims can be alleged against CDI that arise in connection with the ordinary course of its business. Employees of the Company may 
make a variety of claims including workplace injury claims and employment-related claims such as discrimination, harassment, and wage and hour claims. Since the 
Company’s staffing business involves employing individuals on a temporary basis and placing them in customer workplaces where CDI has limited ability to control the 
workplace environment, these types of claims may arise more frequently in those business operations. Customers of the Company may make claims based on the 
Company’s alleged failure to perform in accordance with contract requirements. Since the Company’s project business often involves responsibility to pro duce specified 
deliverables, these types of claims may arise more frequently in those business operations. Customers in the staffing business may allege claims based on the conduct of 
staffing employees assigned to the customer’s worksite. Customers and subcontractors may make claims alleging the Company’s failure to abide by certain contract 
provisions.  
   Fixed-Price Contracts  
CDI, within its BS segment, enters into fixed-price contracts with customers, largely for engineering project services. Revenue recognized under fixed-price contracts 
accounts for less than 5% of consolidated revenue over the past three years. Under these fixed-price contracts, prices are established based on cost and scheduling 
estimates, which in turn are based in part on assumptions about the prices and availability of skilled personnel, equipment, and materials. If the Company’s price estimates 
for a particular project prove to be inaccurate, then cost overruns may occur, and CDI could experience reduced profits or a loss for that project. Cost overruns may also be 
caused by changes in the scope of the project after the contract has been entered into or by a failure of the parties to adequately define and agree upon the entire scope of 
the project upfront. In those cases, there may be disputes between the parties over who should pay for the cost overruns. In general, fixed-price contracts can offer greater 
profit potential but also entail more inherent risk—both in terms of possible financial losses and the potential for significant disputes with customers—than contracts 
containing pricing on a time-and-materials basis.  
   Workers’ Compensation  
The Company self-insures a portion of the exposure for losses related to workers’ compensation. The Company has established reserves for workers’ compensation claims 
based on historical loss statistics and periodic independent actuarial valuations. While management believes that its assumptions and estimates are appropriate, significant 
differences in actual experience or significant changes in assumptions may materially affect the Company’s future financial results.  
   Dependence Upon Personnel  
The Company’s operations depend on the continued efforts of its officers and executive management. The loss of key officers and members of executive management may 
cause a significant disruption to the Company’s business. CDI also depends on the performance and productivity of its local managers and field personnel. The Company’s 
ability to attract and retain new business is significantly affected by local relationships and the quality of service rendered. The loss of key managers and field personnel may 
also jeopardize existing client relationships, which could cause future revenues to decline in that event.  
   Concentration of Stock Ownership  
Certain members of CDI’s directors, and trusts for which some of the Company’s directors serve as trustee, own, in the aggregate, a substantial portion of the Company’s 
outstanding common stock. By virtue of this stock ownership, such share -  
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holders have the power to significantly influence CDI’s affairs and are able to influence the outcome of matters required to be submitted to shareholders for approval, 
including the election of members of any Board of Directors and the amendment of the Company’s Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws. Such shareholders could exercise 
influence over the Company in a manner detrimental to the interests of CDI’s other shareholders.  
   Foreign Currency Fluctuations  
The Company is exposed to risks associated with foreign currency fluctuations and changes in exchange rates. CDI’s exposure to foreign currency fluctuations relates 
primarily to operations in foreign countries conducted through subsidiaries, principally in the United Kingdom and Canada. Exchange rate fluctuations impact the U.S. dollar 
value of reported earnings derived from these foreign operations as well as the carrying value of CDI’s investment in the net assets related to these operations. From time to 
time, the Company engages in hedging activities with respect to its foreign operations. Historically, the effects of foreign currency exchange fluctuations have been 
immaterial on CDI’s consolidated earnings.  
   Acquisitions  
The Company may selectively pursue acquisitions as an element of its growth strategy. Acquisitions involve a number of risks, including the diversion of management’s 
attention from its existing operations, the failure to retain key personnel or customers of an acquired business, the assumption of unknown liabilities of the acquired 
business, and the inability to successfully integrate the business. There can be no assurance that any future acquired businesses will generate anticipated revenues or 
earnings.  
   Data Center Capacity and Telecommunication Links  
The Company’s ability to protect its data centers against damage from fire, power loss, telecommunications failure, and other disasters is critical. In order to provide many of 
its services, CDI must be able to store, retrieve, process, and manage large databases and periodically expand and upgrade its capabilities. Any damage to the Company’s 
data centers or any failure of the Company’s telecommunication links that interrupts its operations or results in an inadvertent loss of data could adversely affect CDI’s ability 
to meet its customers’ needs and their confidence in utilizing CDI for future services.  
   Access to Company Information  
The Company electronically files its annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and all amendments to those reports with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). The public may read and copy any of the reports that are filed with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 450 Fifth 
Street, NW, Washington, DC 20549. The public may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC 
maintains an Internet site (http://www.sec.gov ) that contains reports, proxy, information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically.  
   CDI makes available, free of charge, through its website or by responding to requests addressed to the Company’s Vice President of Corporate Communications, its Annual 
Report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and all amendments to those reports filed by the Company with the SEC pursuant to 
Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act, as amended. These reports are available as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is electronically 
filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission. CDI’s website address is http://www.cdicorp.com . CDI posts its audit committee, compensation 
committee, and governance and nominating committee charters, corporate governance principles, and code of ethics on the Company’s website. The information contained 
on the Company’s website, or on other websites linked to the Company’s website, is not part of this document.  
   

   
The Company presently maintains its principal executive offices at 1717 Arch Street, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19103, in approximately 22,000 square feet of leased office 
space under a lease expiring in 2013. The Company also maintains corporate offices at 1801 Market Street, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19103, in approximately 65,000 
square feet of leased office space of which approximately 15,000 and 50,000 square feet expire in 2005 and 2016, respectively. During 2004, the Company renegotiated 
and extended the leases associated with its executive offices and a portion of its corporate offices.  
   

      

Item 2.   Properties 

The Company has closed or exited approximately 100 operating sites during 2002 and 2003 primarily in the United States, as a result of its restructuring and cost reduction 
efforts. Many of these facilities are under non-cancelable operating leases. Accordingly, the Company has negotiated lease buy-outs or subleases to minimize the cash 
outflow requirements. In connection with the Company’s office closings, reserves were established to reflect the net estimated future cash outlays related to closed office 
leases. Actual future cash outlays could exceed these reserves in the event of sublease defaults. Refer to Note 16 to Consolidated Financial Statements for further 
information concerning operating lease commitments and related sublease arrangements.  
   In addition, during 2004, the Company vacated excess office space primarily associated with the contraction of its Life Sciences vertical within the BS segment and a portion 
of the former headquarters of its MRI segment. Refer to Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information concerning real estate exit costs.  
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As part of the Company’s restructuring and reorganization efforts, some of the Company’s offices accommodate more than one operating segment. In such cases, square-
foot usage is allocated among the segments primarily based on utilization.  
   Each reporting segment has numerous active facilities and locations under operating lease agreements. Most of the leased space is devoted to sales, marketing and 
administrative functions, in-house services, and back-office functions. These facilities are leased under terms generally extending up to five years. The Company believes 
that its facilities are adequate to meet its current needs and future operations.  
   

   
The Company has litigation and other claims pending which have arisen in the ordinary course of business. The Company is a party to two arbitration proceedings involving 
disputes regarding amounts due under two separate fixed-price contracts with customers. The amounts claimed by the Company total $6.9 million, a portion of which has 
been recorded in accounts receivable as of December 31, 2004. The amounts claimed by the customers total approximately $10.0 million, none of which has been reserved 
as a liability. While management anticipates a favorable resolution of these disputes, a favorable resolution cannot be assured, and an unfavorable resolution of these 
disputes could be material to the Company’s consolidated financial statements.  
   

   
There were no matters submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of the year covered by this report.  
   

   

   

      

Item 3.   Legal Proceedings 

      

Item 4.   Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders  

Part II  

      

Item 5.   Market for Registrant’s Common Equity and Related S tockholder Matters 
Market information  
CDI’s common shares are traded on the New York Stock Exchange (trading symbol “CDI”). The following table sets forth the high and low quarterly sales prices of the 
Company’s common shares during the two most recent years (all as reported by The Wall Street Journal) :  
   

   

     2004    2003 
     High    Low    High    Low 
First quarter     $ 33.99    28.31    27.70    20.90 
Second quarter       35.98    30.40    27.99    22.25 
Third quarter       34.99    18.86    28.15    23.74 
Fourth quarter       21.66    15.74    34.60    27.78 

Shareholders  
Shareholders of record on March 7, 2005 numbered 474. This number counts each street name account as only one shareholder, when in fact such an account may 
represent multiple owners. Taking into account such multiple owners, the total number of shareholders on March 7, 2005 approximated 3,800.  
   Dividends  
The Company paid a dividend of $0.09 per share on March 23 and May 19, 2004, with a total of approximately $1.8 million being distributed to shareholders at each date. 
On August 18, 2004, the Company paid a dividend of $0.11 per share and an additional special dividend of $2.00 per share, with a total of $41.6 million being distributed to 
shareholders on that date. On November 17, 2004, the Company paid a dividend of $0.11 per share, with a total of $2.2 million being distributed to shareholders on that 
date. The declaration and payment of future dividends will be at the discretion of the Company’s Board of Directors and will depend upon many factors, including the 
Company’s earnings, financial condition, capital requirements, and other factors.  
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The following is selected financial data derived from the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for each of the last five years. The data should be read in 
conjunction with the Company’s consolidated financial statements (and related notes) appearing elsewhere in this report and with Item 7 of this report. The data presented 
below is in thousands, except for per share data.  
   

   
For information concerning the background of the 2003 restatement and the specific adjustments made, see Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations—Restatement of Financial Statements”, and Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and Quarterly Results 
(Unaudited) Supplementary Data included in Item 8. Remedial measures that were recommended or identified in the course of the restatement process are summarized in 
Item 9A, “Controls and Procedures.”  
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Item 6.   Selected Financial Data 

     2004    2003    2002     2001      2000 
          (As Restated)                   
Earnings Data:                                
Revenues     $ 1,045,207    1,060,181    1,169,475     1,458,592      1,675,455 
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations before cumulative effect of 

accounting change     $ 7,528    21,244    4,082     (16,704 )    28,811 
Discontinued operations       -   -   527     1,094      4,192 
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax       -   -   (13,968 )   -     -
Net earnings (loss)     $ 7,528    21,244    (9,359 )   (15,610 )    33,003 

Basic earnings (loss)  
Per share:                                
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations     $ 0.38    1.10    0.21     (0.88 )    1.51 
Discontinued operations       -   -   0.03     0.06      0.22 
Cumulative effect of accounting change       -   -   (0.73 )   -     -
Net earnings (loss)     $ 0.38    1.10    (0.49 )   (0.82 )    1.73 

Diluted earnings (loss)  
Per share:                                
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations     $ 0.38    1.07    0.21     (0.88 )    1.51 
Discontinued operations       -   -   0.03     0.06      0.22 
Cumulative effect of accounting change       -   -   (0.71 )   -     -
Net earnings (loss)     $ 0.38    1.07    (0.48 )   (0.82 )    1.73 

Cash dividends declared per common share     $ 2.40    2.18    -    -     -

Balance Sheet Data:                                
Total assets     $ 359,019    405,180    432,774     472,572      572,029 
Long-term debt (including current portion)       -   -   -    7,913      49,623 
Shareholders’ equity     $ 267,190    299,411    307,801     310,650      325,795 
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Item 7. 
  

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of  
Financial Condition and Results of Operations  

Executive Overview  

Despite the improvement in economic conditions in both the United States and abroad, as well as the implementation of the Company’s new go-to-market strategy, CDI’s 
2004 revenues declined slightly from 2003. This was due primarily to a number of factors, including slower then anticipated ramp-up of significant new contracts and 
continued weak capital spending by clients in key business verticals, particularly within the Business Solutions (“BS”) segment. Additionally, the Company incurred higher 
costs related to incremental hiring of revenue-generating personnel at its Todays Staffing (“Todays”) and AndersElite (“Anders”) segments as a result of higher than normal 
turnover in both the management and recruitment functions and the inherent delay before newly hired sales staff generate revenue.  
   The Company also reported lower profits from a year ago. This decline was primarily due to higher operating and administrative expenses across the Company driven by 
costs associated with investment in hiring sales and recruitment management personnel as described above, as well as expenses and legal fees associated with resolution 
of several items of litigation, claims and disputes, incremental spending for Sarbanes-Oxley compliance, and costs of exiting various leased facilities.  
   The Company continues to believe it is well positioned to benefit from business trends favoring outsourcing of non-core, highly skilled functions and operations. CDI offers a 
broad range of services from high-value engineering, design, consulting, information technology staffing, and project management to traditional staffing and permanent 
placement services. With this broad level of service offerings, CDI can address demand in the marketplace for more cost effective, single-source providers of engineering 
and information technology solutions, and professional staffing.  
   CDI believes that its integrated vertical go-to-market strategy should improve revenue opportunities. The success of this strategy is dependent on the Company’s ability to 
leverage its broad and integrated service offerings to its customers while continuing to focus on leveraging its existing infrastructure, maintaining cost discipline and strong 
control over its contracting processes, and management of its working capital.  
   Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  

In compiling its financial results for the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2004, management identified a material weakness in the Company’s internal control over 
financial reporting relating to account analysis practices and procedures employed by the Company in its period-end financial reporting process. Specifically, management 
identified circumstances in which certain financial statement accounts were not being analyzed by appropriate personnel, resulting in an accumulation of account ing errors 
that were not detected on a timely basis. The financial statement accounts in which accounting errors were identified included primarily accounts receivable, which was 
overstated in prior annual and interim periods, and accrued payroll, which was understated in prior annual and interim periods. These deficiencies in the Company’s internal 
control over financial reporting resulted in misstatements to prior annual and interim financial statements and, accordingly, certain prior annual and interim financial 
statements have been restated to reflect the correction of accounting errors as more fully described in Note 2 to the Company’s consolidated financial statements.  
   The Company has identified and is in the process of implementing action plans to remediate the material weakness described above. Specifically, the Company has 
developed and implemented new account analysis procedures to ensure that accounts are being analyzed on a timely basis, analyses are being independently reviewed, all 
identified adjustments are recorded on a timely basis, and all account balances are substantiated by supporting detail. The Company is currently in the process of hiring 
additional accounting staff as well as reorganizing its accounting and finance departments. While the Company is in the process of implementing remediation plans, the 
aforementioned material weakness will not be considered remediated until the new internal controls operate for a sufficient period of time, are tested, and management 
concludes that these controls are operating effectively. As a result, the Company did not consider these remediation efforts in the Company’s assessment of its internal 
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004. See Item 9A, “Controls and Procedures,” in this report.  
   Restatement of Financial Statements  

The net effect of the $4.0 million restatement referred to above was to decrease pre-tax earnings by approximately $928, $696, and $346 for the third, second, and first 
quarters, respectively, of 2004 and decrease pre-tax earnings by approximately $879, $886, and $398 for the fourth, third, and first quarters of 2003, respectively, and to 
increase pre-tax earnings by approximately $161 for the second quarter of 2003. Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements of the Company for these periods and 
the segment data for the Business Solutions (“BS”) segment for these periods (which was the only segment affected by the restatement) included in prior filings with the 
SEC should no longer be relied upon. See Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data—Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements”, in Note 2 of the Notes 
to the Consolidated Financial Statements and Quarterly Results (Unaudited) Supplementary Data.  
   The Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financi al Condition and Results of Operations reflects the  restatement of the Company’s Consolidated Financia l 
Statements for 2003 as well as for new segment repo rting structure as discussed in Note 19 to the Cons olidated Financial Statements.  
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Three-year Financial Overview  

   Key Financial Trends:  
The table that follows presents a three-year trend of key performance indicators that management focuses on in managing the Company:  
   

   

(in millions)    2004     2003     2002   
     (As Restated)   
Revenues                       

Staffing services     $ 711.2     707.3     785.7   
Project outsourcing       279.9     302.7     311.3   
Permanent placement and royalties       49.9     46.2     68.2   
Franchise fees       4.2     4.0     4.3   

     $ 1,045.2     1,060.2     1,169.5   

Gross profit     $ 245.4     257.0     304.8   
Gross profit as a percent of revenues       23.5 %   24.2 %   26.1 % 
Operating and administrative expenses     $ 237.5     225.9     284.3   
Operating and administrative expenses as a percent of revenues       22.7 %   21.3 %   24.3 % 
Operating profit     $ 9.4     31.2     6.7   
Operating profit as a percent of revenues       0.9 %   2.9 %   0.6 % 
Cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments     $ 32.7     72.9     99.6   
Cash flow from operations     $ 12.3     22.1     84.5   
Return on equity (1)       2.7 %   7.0 %   1.3 % 
(1) Continuing earnings divided by average shareholders’ equity 

In late 2001, CDI launched a multi-phased plan to restructure the Company. The initial phase of the plan focused on implementation of a more operationally efficient and 
financially disciplined business model. This required the exiting of lower margin customer contracts, the re-deployment of assets to support higher margin businesses, and 
the lowering of the Company’s breakeven point through structural cost reductions. These measures extended to all segments of the Company and were substantially 
completed during 2003.  
   The consolidated revenue reduction noted over the past three years is primarily attributable to the above-referenced exit of lower margin contracts as well as to the sale of 
Management Recruiters International (“MRI”) company-owned permanent placement offices in 2002 and 2003. The remaining portion of the revenue decline is largely 
attributable to the contraction in BS’ Life Sciences and Aerospace verticals, which was not offset by new contracts due to the slower than expected ramp-up and to weak 
capital spending by clients in several key verticals. The decline in gross profit margins was due principally to the sale of MRI’s company-owned offices which had historically 
higher margins, growth in lower margin staffing work, and to substantial increases in state unemployment insurance (SUI) rates, as well as costs attributable to settlements 
of, or reserves established for, SUI-related contingencies.  
   The impact of the contraction in revenue and related gross profit margins was more than offset in 2003 by substantial reductions in costs from the Company’s restructuring 
program. In 2004, the increase in operating and administrative expenses was due principally to the expenses described above.  
   Over the past three years, CDI has been successful in reducing its accounts receivable balances which was a major component in the $118.9 million in cash flow from 
operations during this period. CDI also has remained debt-free and funded its operations from internal cash generation. In addition, the Company was able to pay dividends 
during 2004 and 2003 aggregating $89.7 million while still maintaining an adequate level of working capital to fund potential future growth.  
   
Consolidated Results of Operations  

   2004 versus 2003  
The following table presents year-over-year changes in consolidated revenues, gross profit, operating expenses, and operating profit from 2003 to 2004:  
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(in millions)    Revenue     
% 

Change     
Gross 
Profit     

% 
Change     

Operating 

Expenses      
% 

Change      

Operating 

Profit   
2003 (As Restated)     $ 1,060.2           $ 257.0           $ 225.9             $ 31.2   
Business Solutions       (16.4 )   (2.3 )     (12.4 )   (8.5 )     1.7      1.4        (13.9 ) 
AndersElite       15.8     10.5       3.0     8.2       9.1      32.3        (6.1 ) 
Todays       (13.5 )   (9.9 )     (4.6 )   (12.4 )     (0.6 )    (2.1 )      (4.2 ) 
MRI       (0.9 )   (1.4 )     2.4     6.4       (2.4 )    (7.4 )      6.2   
Corporate       -            -            3.8      29.3        (3.8 ) 
2004     $ 1,045.2     (1.4 )   $ 245.4     (4.5 )   $ 237.5      5.1      $ 9.4   
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Consolidated revenues for 2004 were $1,045.2 million, compared to $1,060.2 million in 2003. Revenues in three of the four Company segments decreased. The $15.0 
million decrease in consolidated revenues was primarily due to declines in BS and Todays partially offset by increased revenues in Anders. The declines in the BS segment 
were mostly in the Aerospace and Life Sciences verticals which were partially offset by increased revenues in the IT vertical. BS continues to be negatively impacted by 
ongoing project delays in new business ramp-up. Todays’ decline is primarily due to ongoing competitive pricing pressures. Although MRI’s revenues declined slightly 
largely to the exit of the last of the Company-owned offices in the first half of 2003, there was an increase in permanent placement and royalty revenue. The increase in 
revenue of $15.8 million in Anders was almost entirely driven by favorable exchange rates. On a constant currency basis, Anders’ revenue has remained essentially flat.  
   The Company’s consolidated gross profit of $245.4 million was 4.5% lower than 2003. The decrease in gross profit was due largely to lower sales volume as well as to a 
decrease in gross profit margin from 24.2% in 2003 to 23.5% in 2004. The gross profit margin decrease was driven principally by growth in lower margin staffing work, 
higher SUI rates and ongoing competitive pricing pressures. The decrease in gross profit margin was partially offset by higher margins within MRI due largely to the increase 
in franchise royalty revenues.  
   Operating and administrative expenses in 2004 of $237.5 million increased $11.6 million, or 5.1%, from 2003. This increase was due to:  
   

   
  �   Expenses and legal fees associated with the resolution of certain litigation, claims, and disputes totaling $4.8 million. 

   
  

�   Increased spending of $3.7 million within Anders due primarily to hiring of recruiting, sales, and management personnel, driven by higher-than-normal staff 
turnover. 

   
  �   Incremental spending of $3.5 million related to the Company’s Sarbanes-Oxley compliance. 

   
  �   A charge of $2.9 million related to real estate that was permanently vacated. 

   
  �   Expenses associated with hiring sales and recruiting staff, including a large investment in business development within BS and Todays. 

The increase in operating and administrative expenses was partially offset by:  
   

   
  �   Reductions in variable expenses due to lower volume. 

   
  �   Lower depreciation expense of $2.2 million resulting from a decline in capital spending. 

   

   

  �   Reversal of a $1.0 million reserve because the exposure for which it was originally established never materialized. 

  �   Lower operating expenses resulting from the Company’s continued cost containment initiatives. 

During the second quarter of 2004, the Company recorded a $1.3 million pre-tax gain resulting from the sale of the last company-owned office within the MRI segment.  
   Net interest income was $0.5 million in 2004 as compared to net interest income of $1.1 million in 2003. This decrease is the result of lower average invested balances 
primarily due to dividend payments of $47.3 million during 2004.  
   The Company’s effective income tax rate for continuing operations decreased from 34.1% in 2003 to 23.9% in 2004. The reduction in the effective tax rate relates primarily 
to favorable resolution of prior years’ tax exposure and a decrease in the valuation allowance attributable to capital loss carry-forwards. Refer to Note 12 to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements for further information concerning the Company’s income taxes.  
   Segment Discussion  

   Business Solutions (“BS”)  
The following table presents year-over-year changes in revenues, cost of services, gross profit, operating and administrative expenses, and operating profit for BS from 
2003 to 2004:  
   

   
BS’ revenue of $700.8 million decreased $16.4 million, or 2.3%, in 2004 as compared to 2003. This revenue decline was largely attributable to:  
   

BS  
(in millions)     2004     2003     

$ 
Change     

% 
Change   

           (As Restated)               
Revenues                             

Staffing services     $ 417.9     412.5     5.4     1.3 % 
Project outsourcing       280.0     302.8     (22.8 )   (7.5 ) 
Permanent placement       2.9     1.9     1.0     56.0   

       700.8     717.2     (16.4 )   (2.3 ) 
Cost of services       567.0     571.0     (4.0 )   (0.7 ) 
Gross profit       133.8     146.2     (12.4 )   (8.5 ) 
Gross profit margin       19.1 %   20.4 %             
Operating and administrative expenses       122.4     120.7     1.7     1.4   
Restructuring       (0.2 )   -    (0.2 )   100.0   
Operating profit     $ 11.6     25.5     (13.9 )   (54.3 )% 

   
  �   Reduced volume due to loss of business and continued project delays in the Life Sciences vertical. 
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�   Volume reduction in both the Aerospace and Process and Industrial verticals. In the Aerospace vertical, a decline in technical staffing was partially offset by an 

increase in higher margin commercial and defense-related project work, with the latter driven by increased government  
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  spending. Continued tight capital spending in the Process and Industrial sector, combined with slower-than-expected ramp-up of new business, resulted in reduced 

volume in the Process and Industrial vertical.  
The declines noted above were partially offset by volume growth in the Information Technology vertical consistent with the average growth in the IT staffing industry.  

   BS’ gross profit of $133.8 million in 2004 decreased $12.4 million, or 8.5%, as compared to $146.2 million in 2003. This decline in gross profit was primarily due to:  
   

   
  �   Lower revenues noted above, particularly in the higher margin Life Sciences vertical. 

   
  �   Reduced volume and higher mix of lower margin business in the Process and Industrial vertical and lower volumes in the Aerospace vertical. 

   
  �   Pricing pressure in the IT vertical staffing services business. 

   
  �   Higher SUI rates. 

BS’ operating and administrative expenses of $122.4 million increased $1.7 million, or 1.4%, from the prior year. This increase was due primarily to:  
   

   
  �   Expenses and legal fees associated with the resolution of certain litigation, claims, and disputes totaling $3.1 million. 

   
  �   A charge of $0.8 million related to real estate that was permanently vacated. 

   
  �   Expenses associated with hiring sales and recruiting staff, including a large investment in business development. 

   
  �   Incremental spending related to Sarbanes-Oxley compliance. 

The increase in operating and administrative expenses was partially offset by:  
   

   
  �   Reduction in variable expenses due to lower volume. 

   
AndersElite (“Anders”)  
The following table presents year-over-year changes in revenues, cost of services, gross profit, operating and administrative expenses, and operating profit for Anders from 
2003 to 2004 in U.S. dollars:  
   

  �   Reversal of a $1.0 million reserve because the exposure for which it was originally established never materialized. 

   
To more effectively discuss the comparative results of operations of Anders for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, the following table present Anders’ results on 
a constant currency basis (i.e., British Pounds—£):  
   

   

Anders  
(US dollars in millions)     2004     2003     

$ 
Change     

% 
Change   

Revenues                             
Staffing services     $ 150.2     135.8     14.4     10.6 % 
Permanent placement       15.9     14.5     1.4     9.4   

       166.1     150.3     15.8     10.5   
Cost of services       126.1     113.3     12.8     11.2   
Gross profit       40.0     37.0     3.0     8.2   
Gross profit margin       24.1 %   24.6 %             
Operating and administrative expenses       37.5     28.4     9.1     32.3   
Operating profit     $ 2.5     8.6     (6.1 )   (70.8 )% 

Anders  
(British pounds in millions)     2004     2003     

£ 
Change     

% 
Change   

Revenues                             
Staffing services     £ 82.1     82.9     (0.8 )   (1.0 )% 
Permanent placement       8.7     8.9     (0.2 )   (2.0 ) 

       90.8     91.8     (1.0 )   (1.1 ) 
Cost of services       68.9     69.2     (0.3 )   (0.4 ) 
                             
Gross profit       21.9     22.6     (0.7 )   (3.1 ) 
Gross profit margin       24.1 %   24.6 %             
Operating and administrative expenses       20.5     17.4     3.1     18.1   
Operating profit     £ 1.4     5.2     (3.8 )   (73.7 )% 

On a constant currency basis, Anders’ revenues and gross profit were essentially flat for 2004, as compared with 2003. Anticipated growth in revenue and gross profit in 
2004 was not achieved due to lower staffing revenue resulting from significant turnover of its recruiting and sales personnel and the inherent delay before newly hired sales 
staff generates revenue.  
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On a constant currency basis, Anders’ operating and administrative expenses increased £3.1 million, or 18.1%, as compared to 2003. This increase was largely due to:  
   

   
  

�   Investments of approximately £1.2 million made in hiring recruiting, sales, and management personnel due to higher-than-normal staff turnover, resulting in part 
from competitive pressures. 

   
  

�   Incremental hiring expenses of approximately £0.8 million to standardize and upgrade business development and training capabilities to position Anders for future 
growth. 

   
  �   Expenses associated with legal and accounting fees, claims, and disputes of £0.5 million. 

   
  �   Higher facility and travel expenses of £0.6 million. 

Todays Staffing (“Todays”)  
The following table presents year-over-year changes in revenues, cost of services, gross profit, operating and administrative expenses, and operating profit for Todays from 
2003 to 2004:  
   

   

Todays  
(in millions)     2004     2003     

$ 
Change     

% 
Change   

Revenues                             
Staffing services     $ 118.9     131.8     (12.9 )   (9.8 )% 
Permanent placement       3.4     4.0     (0.6 )   (15.4 ) 

       122.3     135.8     (13.5 )   (9.9 ) 
Cost of services       89.6     98.5     (8.9 )   (9.0 ) 
Gross profit       32.7     37.3     (4.6 )   (12.4 ) 
Gross profit margin       26.8 %   27.5 %             
Operating and administrative expenses       30.5     31.1     (0.6 )   (2.1 ) 
Restructuring       -    (0.2 )   0.2     (100.0 ) 
Operating profit     $ 2.2     6.4     (4.2 )   (66.0 )% 

Todays’ revenues of $122.3 million in 2004 decreased $13.5 million, or 9.9%, from 2003. The lower revenue was due to:  
   

   
  �   Volume declines in higher-margin retail accounts. 

   
  �   Strong competitive pricing pressures on large national accounts. 

In response to this trend, management has established dedicated teams to more effectively manage and grow its national accounts while also redirecting local office efforts 
to grow in high margin talent lines including retail, finance and accounting, legal and permanent placement.  
   Todays’ gross profit of $32.7 million in 2004 was lower by $4.6 million, or 12.4%, as compared to 2003. The decrease in gross profit was primarily due to:  
   

   
  �   Revenue decline discussed above. 

   

   

  �   Change in the business mix from higher margin retail accounts to lower margin national accounts. 

  �   Decrease in permanent placement revenue which traditionally has higher gross profit margins than the staffing services business. 

   
  �   Higher SUI rates. 

Todays’ operating and administrative expenses of $30.5 million decreased $0.6 million, or 2.1%, from 2003. This decrease was due primarily to the reduction in variable 
expenses due to lower volume, partially offset by higher investment associated with hiring sales and recruitment management personnel.  
   Management Recruiters International (“MRI”)  
The following table presents year-over-year changes in revenues, cost of services, gross profit, operating and administrative expenses, and operating profit for MRI from 
2003 to 2004:  
   

   

MRI  
(in millions)     2004     2003     

$ 
Change     

% 
Change   

Revenues                             
Staffing services     $ 24.1     27.1     (3.0 )   (11.0 )% 
Permanent placement and royalties       27.7     25.8     1.9     7.3   
Franchise fees       4.2     4.0     0.2     6.6   

       56.0     56.9     (0.9 )   (1.4 ) 
Cost of services       17.2     20.5     (3.3 )   (15.5 ) 
Gross profit       38.8     36.4     2.4     6.4   
Gross profit margin       69.2 %   64.1 %             
Operating and administrative expenses       30.3     32.7     (2.4 )   (7.4 ) 
Restructuring and gain on sale of assets       (1.3 )   0.1     (1.4 )   (100.0 ) 
Operating profit     $ 9.8     3.6     6.2     100.0 % 

MRI’s revenues of $56.0 million in 2004 declined $.9 million, or 1.4%, as compared to 2003. The decrease in revenue was primarily attributable to:  
   

   
  �   Exit of the last of the company-owned offices in the first half of 2003. 

   
  �   Lower staffing services revenue resulting from the exit of its specialty staffing business in 2004. 

The decline in MRI’s revenues was partially offset by:  
   

   
  �   Higher permanent placement royalty and franchise fee revenue. 

   
  �   Increases in staffing services revenue by franchise offices. 
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MRI’s gross profit of $38.8 million in 2004 was higher by $2.4 million, or 6.4%, as compared to 2003. This increase in gross profit resulted from:  
   

   
  

�   Increase of higher margin permanent placement royalty and franchise fees revenue which more than offset the lost gross profit from the exiting of the company-
owned offices discussed above. 

   
  �   The exit of lower margin specialty staffing business in 2004. 

MRI’s operating and administrative expenses decreased $2.4 million, or 7.4%, from the prior year. This improvement was largely due to:  
   

   
  �   Expense containment measures instituted in 2004. 

   
This improvement was partially offset by a charge of $2.1 million related to real estate that was permanently vacated and incremental spending related to Sarbanes-
Oxley compliance.  

   
In addition, MRI recognized $1.3 million of pre-tax gains resulting from the sale of its company-owned offices in 2003 which was recorded in 2004.  
   
Corporate  
Corporate expenses totaled $16.8 million in 2004 as compared to $13.0 million in 2003. The increase of $3.8 million in corporate expenses was the result of:  
   

  �   Reduction of operating expenses due to the exit of company-owned offices in the first half of 2003. 

   
  �   Incremental spending related to the Company’s Sarbanes-Oxley compliance totaling $2.8 million. 

   
Consolidated Results of Operations  

2003 versus 2002  
The following table presents year-over-year changes in consolidated revenues, gross profit, operating expenses, and operating profit from 2002 to 2003:  
   

   
   
Consolidated revenues for 2003 were $1,060.2 million, compared to $1,169.5 million in 2002. Revenues in three of the four Company segments decreased. The $109.3 
million, or 9.3%, decrease in revenues was due primarily to:  
   

  
�   Legal expenses and a settlement related to a dispute with the purchaser of a business that was previously sold by the Company plus other settlements totaling 

$1.5 million. 

(in millions)    Revenue     
% 

Change     
Gross 
Profit     

% 
Change     

Operating 

Expenses     
% 

Change     

Operating 

Profit   
2002     $ 1,169.5           $ 304.8           $ 284.3           $ 6.7   
Business Solutions       (94.0 )   (11.6 )     (22.1 )   (13.1 )     (32.3 )   (21.1 )     16.5   
AndersElite       27.3     22.2       6.1     19.9       4.8     20.3       1.3   
Todays       (13.6 )   (9.1 )     (4.2 )   (10.0 )     (4.9 )   (13.3 )     4.9   
MRI       (29.0 )   (33.8 )     (27.6 )   (43.1 )     (21.5 )   (39.8 )     (3.3 ) 
Corporate       -            -            (4.5 )   (25.3 )     5.1   
2003 (As Restated)     $ 1,060.2     (9.3 )   $ 257.0     (15.7 )   $ 225.9     (20.5 )   $ 31.2   

   
  

�   Sluggish U.S. economy resulting in a large number of the Company’s customers reducing their capital spending and staffing levels in 2003, and creating weak 
demand for project outsourcing and permanent and temporary services. 

   
  �   Planned exiting of lower-margin accounts in 2002. 

   
  �   Exiting of company-owned offices within MRI in 2002 and 2003. 

   
  �   Pricing pressures within the BS and Today’s’ segments. 

Partially offsetting these declines was strong revenue growth in AndersElite (a large portion of which was due to exchange rate fluctuations) and the Process and 
Industrial vertical in BS.  

   
The Company’s consolidated gross profit of $257.0 million was 15.7% lower than 2002 due largely to:  
   

   
  �   Lower sales volume. 

   
Operating and administrative expenses of $225.9 million decreased $58.4 million, or 20.5%, from the prior year. This improvement was due primarily to:  
   

  
�   A decrease in gross profit margins from 26.1% in 2002 to 24.2% in 2003. The gross profit margin decrease was driven principally by the exit of company-owned 

offices in MRI which historically had higher margins, as well as an increase in lower margin staffing project work and a decrease in higher margin project business 
within the BS segment. 

   
  �   Lower cost structure resulting from the Company’s restructure plan. 
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  �   Reductions in bad debt expense of $1.4 million as the result of better-than-expected collection of exited lower margin accounts. 

   
  

�   New replacement policy for personal computers, which extended the useful life of these assets from three to four years. As a result of the change in useful lives, 
depreciation expense in 2003 was $1.0 million lower than in 2002. 

   
  

�   Included in operating and administrative expenses in 2002 were $7.5 million of charges primarily related to the accelerated depreciation of both the Company’s 
impaired former enterprise resource planning system and leasehold improvements of exited offices. 

Operating profit for 2003 was $31.2 million, a $24.5 million increase over 2002. The significant improvement in operating profit was due largely to:  
   

   
  

�   Reduction in operating and administrative expenses of $58.4 million, including the $7.5 million of charges in 2002 noted above, which more than offset the 
volume-based decline in gross profit of $47.8 million. 

   
  �   Lower restructuring expense of $12.7 million. 

   
  �   A loss from the sale of assets of $1.3 million in 2002. 

Net interest income was $1.1 million in 2003 as compared to net interest income of $0.1 million in 2002. This increase was the result of increased invested funds.  
   The Company’s effective income tax rate for continuing operations decreased from 38.1% in 2002 to 34.1% in 2003. The reduction in the effective tax rate relates primarily 
to favorable resolutions of prior years’ tax exposures.  
   
Segment Discussion  

Business Solutions (“BS”)  
The following table presents year-over-year changes in revenues, cost of services, gross profit, operating and administrative expenses, and operating profit for BS from 
2002 to 2003:  
   

   
BS’s revenues of $717.2 million in 2003 decreased $94.0 million, or 11.6%, compared to 2002. This revenue decline was largely attributable to:  
   

BS  
(in millions)     2003     2002     

$ 
Change     

% 
Change   

     (As Restated)   
Revenues                             

Staffing services     $ 412.5     498.4     (85.9 )   (17.2 )% 
Project outsourcing       302.8     311.3     (8.5 )   (2.7 ) 
Permanent placement       1.9     1.5     0.4     25.9   

       717.2     811.2     (94.0 )   (11.6 ) 
Cost of services       571.0     642.9     (71.9 )   (11.2 ) 
Gross profit       146.2     168.3     (22.1 )   (13.1 ) 
Gross profit margin       20.4 %   20.8 %             
Operating and administrative expenses       120.7     153.0     (32.3 )   (21.1 ) 
Restructuring       -    6.3     (6.3 )   (100.0 ) 
Operating profit     $ 25.5     9.0     16.5     100.0 % 

   
  

�   Continued weak demand for project outsourcing, the planned exit of lower margin accounts during 2002, and strong pricing pressures within the Information 
Technology vertical. 

   
  

�   Lower revenues were also attributable to reduced capital spending by customers in the Aerospace and Process and Industrial verticals, as well as customer 
project delays in the Life Sciences vertical. 

BS’s gross profit was $146.2 million in 2003 as compared to $168.3 million in 2002. The decline of $22.1 million, or 13.1%, in 2003 gross profit was principally due to:  
   

   
  �   Lower revenues noted above. 

   
  �   Delays in several high margin projects in the Life Science vertical. 

   
  �   Growth in lower margin staffing work and shrinkage in higher margin project business within the Process and Industrial vertical. 

BS’s operating profit was $25.5 million in 2003 as compared to $9.0 million in 2002. This $16.5 million increase in operating profit was due principally to:  
   

   
  

�   A $32.3 million improvement in operating and administrative expenses due primarily to the lower cost structure resulting from the Company’s Plan of Restructure, 
which more than offset the volume-based decline in gross profit of $22.1 million. 

   
AndersElite (“Anders”)  
The following table presents year-over-year changes in revenues, cost of services, gross profit, operating and administrative expenses, and operating profit for Anders from 
2002 to 2003 in U.S. dollars:  
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  �   Lower restructuring expenses of $6.3 million. 

Anders  
(US dollars in millions)     2003     2002     

$ 
Change    

% 
Change   

Revenues                            
Staffing services     $ 135.8     110.7     25.1    22.7 % 
Permanent placement       14.5     12.3     2.2    17.8   

       150.3     123.0     27.3    22.2   
Cost of services       113.3     92.1     21.2    23.0   
Gross profit       37.0     30.9     6.1    19.9   
Gross profit margin       24.6 %   25.1 %            
Operating and administrative expenses       28.4     23.6     4.8    20.3   
Operating profit     $ 8.6     7.3     1.3    18.7 % 
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To more effectively discuss the comparative results of operations of Anders for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, the following table present Anders’ results on 
a constant currency basis (i.e., British Pounds - £):  
   

   
Anders’ revenues of £91.8 million in 2003 increased £10.1 million, or 12.3%, from 2002. The increase in revenue was due to a continued increase in volume of both staffing 
services and permanent placement services throughout its branch network.  
   

Anders  
(British pounds in millions)     2003     2002     

£ 
Change    

% 
Change   

Revenues                            
Staffing services     £ 82.9     73.5     9.4    12.8 % 
Permanent placement       8.9     8.2     0.7    8.3   

       91.8     81.7     10.1    12.3   
Cost of services       69.2     61.2     8.0    13.1   
Gross profit       22.6     20.5     2.1    10.2   
Gross profit margin       24.6 %   25.1 %            
Operating and administrative expenses       17.4     15.7     1.7    10.8   
Operating profit     £ 5.2     4.8     0.4    8.3 % 

Anders’ gross profit of £22.6 million in 2003 was higher by £2.1 million, or 10.2%, as compared to 2002. The increased gross profit was primarily due to increased sales 
growth. Staffing services gross profit margin fell slightly to 16.5% from 16.7% in 2002, indicating continued pressure on pricing. The overall gross profit margin fell to 24.6% 
from 25.1% reflecting the mix of business moving further towards short term staffing services.  
   Anders’ operating profit was £5.2 million in 2003 as compared to £4.8 million in 2002. This improvement was largely attributable to the increase in revenue, partially offset by 
a £1.7 million increase in operating and administrative expenses. The increase in operating and administrative expenses was due primarily to investment in staff headcount.  
   
Todays Staffing (“Todays”)  
The following table presents year-over-year changes in revenues, cost of services, gross profit, operating and administrative expenses, and operating profit for Todays from 
2002 to 2003:  
   

   
Todays’ revenues of $135.8 million in 2003 decreased $13.6 million, or 9.1%, from 2002. The lower revenue was due to:  
   

Todays  
(in millions)     2003     2002     

$ 
Change     

% 
Change   

Revenues                             
Staffing services     $ 131.8     146.5     (14.7 )   (10.0 )% 
Permanent placement       4.0     2.9     1.1     35.6   

       135.8     149.4     (13.6 )   (9.1 ) 
Cost of services       98.5     107.9     (9.4 )   (8.8 ) 
Gross profit       37.3     41.5     (4.2 )   (10.0 ) 
Gross profit margin       27.5 %   27.8 %             
Operating and administrative expenses       31.1     36.0     (4.9 )   (13.3 ) 
Restructuring       (0.2 )   4.0     (4.2 )   (100.0 ) 
Operating profit     $ 6.4     1.5     4.9     100.0 % 

   
  �   Strong competitive pricing pressures on national accounts. 

   
  �   Volume declines in higher-margin retail accounts. 

   
  �   Lower demand for clerical help due to the challenging economic environment in the United Sates in 2003. 

Todays’ gross profit of $37.3 million in 2003 was lower by $4.2 million, or 10.0%, as compared to 2002. The decreased gross profit was primarily due to:  
   

   
  �   Revenue decline discussed above. 

   
  

�   A shift in mix of business from higher margin retail accounts to lower margin national accounts. This decrease was partially offset by an increase in high-margin 
permanent placement business. 

Todays’ operating profit was $6.4 million in 2003 as compared to $1.5 million in 2002. This improvement of $4.9 million was largely attributable to:  
   

   
  �   Reduction in operating and administrative expenses of $4.9 million. 

   
  �   Lower restructuring expenses of $4.2 million in 2003. 

These decreases more than offset the reduction in gross profit of $4.2 million.  
   
Management Recruiters International (“MRI”)  
The following table presents year-over-year changes in revenues, cost of services, gross profit, operating and administrative expenses, and operating profit for MRI from 
2002 to 2003:  
   

   

MRI  
(in millions)     2003     2002     

$ 
Change     

% 
Change   

Revenues                             
Staffing services     $ 27.1     30.1     (3.0 )   (9.9 )% 
Permanent placement and royalties       25.8     51.4     (25.6 )   (49.9 ) 
Franchise fees       4.0     4.4     (0.4 )   (9.4 ) 

       56.9     85.9     (29.0 )   (33.8 ) 
Cost of services       20.5     21.9     (1.4 )   (6.3 ) 
Gross profit       36.4     64.0     (27.6 )   (43.1 ) 
Gross profit margin       64.1 %   74.6 %             
Operating and administrative expenses       32.7     54.2     (21.5 )   (39.8 ) 
Restructuring and gain on sale of assets       0.1     2.9     (2.8 )   (95.5 ) 
Operating profit     $ 3.6     6.9     (3.3 )   (47.5 )% 
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MRI’s revenues of $56.9 million in 2003 declined $29.0 million, or 33.8%, as compared to 2002. The decrease in revenue was primarily attributable to the exit of the 
company-owned permanent placement offices in 2002 and 2003.  
   MRI’s gross profit of $36.4 million in 2003 was lower by $27.6 million, or 43.1%, as compared to 2002. This decline in gross profit resulted from the exiting of company-
owned offices discussed above, which had a direct impact on gross profit margin.  
   MRI’s operating profit was $3.6 million in 2003 as compared to $6.9 million in 2002. The reduction of $3.3 million in operating profit was primarily due to:  
   

   
  

�   Decline in gross profit of $27.6 million discussed above. This decline in gross profit was significantly offset by lower operating and administrative expenses of 
$21.5 million. 

   
Corporate  
Corporate expenses totaled $13.0 million in 2003 representing a reduction of $5.1 million from 2002 due to the Company’s restructure plan noted above, as well as to 
continued spending discipline. Included in the $5.1 million improvement was $0.6 million of restructuring charges in 2002.  
   
Liquidity and Capital Resources  

Historically, CDI has financed its operations from its operating cash flows. CDI generates the majority of its revenues and resultant cash flows from several activities as 
outlined below:  
   

  
�   Restructure and sale of assets declined $2.8 million due to a decrease of $1.5 million of restructuring charges and $1.3 million from loss on sale of assets, both of 

which occurred in 2002. 

   
  

�   Project management, technical engineering, and information technology outsourcing services to facilitate customers’ efforts to reduce costs and/or support 
important growth initiatives. 

   
  �   Temporary staffing to meet customers’ demand for temporary staff augmentation. 

   
  �   Permanent placement activities, including initial franchise fees and ongoing franchise royalties. 

Payrolls for billable employees are typically paid weekly and revenues for temporary staffing are recognized coincident with the payroll cycle. This schedule applies to the 
majority of CDI’s technical engineering business as well. Customers are invoiced weekly, semi-monthly, or monthly for staffing services. Projects under fixed-price contracts 
are invoiced when specific milestones are met or based on a periodic schedule. Customers are typically invoiced for outsourcing services contracts on a monthly basis. MRI 
generates revenues and cash flows from the expansion of its global franchise organization and from the col lection of royalties as its franchisees collect cash from their 
customers for permanent placement services.  
   Despite lower earnings and a reduction in operating cash flow in 2004, the Company continues to have a strong balance sheet. Over the past two years, the Company was 
able to pay dividends to its shareholders totaling $89.7 million.  
   The following table summarizes the major captions from the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows:  
   

   
Operating Activities  
The reduction in operating cash flow from 2003 to 2004 of $9.8 million was driven principally by lower net earnings from continuing operations of $13.7 million and a net 
decrease in non-cash items of $11.9 million partially offset by the effect of changes in working capital of $15.8 million. The improvement in working capital was principally 
attributable to timing of collections of account receivables and payments of liabilities.  
   

(in millions)    2004      2003      2002   
Operating Activities     $ 12.3      22.1      84.5   
Investing Activities     $ 17.9      25.1      (70.4 ) 
Financing Activities     $ (48.3 )    (39.0 )    (8.2 ) 

The decline in operating cash flow of $62.4 million in 2003 as compared to 2002 was due to net cash used for changes in working capital and net decrease in non-cash 
items of $19.1 million partially offset by an increase in earnings from continuing operations. This decline was driven primarily by the significant decline in accounts receivable 
during 2002 due to the successful collection from exited customers. Also contributing to the decline in operating cash flow in 2003 was an increase in accounts receivable in 
2003 caused in part by the implementation of a new accounting system in the third quarter that caused some disruption in the pattern of customer billings and collections. 
This disruption was stabilized during the fourth quarter of 2003.  
   The Company’s working capital position (current assets less current liabilities) was $159.0 million at the end of 2004, a decrease of $34.1 million from year-end 2003. The 
current ratio was 2.9 at the end of 2004, as compared to 3.0 at the end of 2003.  
   
Investing Activities  
CDI’s primary investing activities include purchase of property and equipment to support the enterprise, acquisitions, and investments of excess cash in highly liquid short-
term investments. Capital expenditures for 2004 totaled $7.8 million, a decrease of $5.9 million from 2003. Capital spending in 2005 is expected to be approximately $10.0 
million.  
   Cash generated from operations has been conservatively invested and is readily available to fund Company operations and investment opportunities. During 2004 and 
2003, the  
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Company sold $58.5 million of short-term investments to partially fund the payment of $89.7 million of dividends during the last two years.  
   
Financing Activities  
The Company paid shareholders dividends totaling $47.3 million and $42.4 million in 2004 and 2003, respectively. The declaration and payment of future dividends will be at 
the discretion of the Company’s Board of Directors and will depend upon many factors including the Company’s earnings, financial condition, capital requirements, and other 
factors.  
   
Summary  
The Company’s financial condition continues to remain strong. At December 31, 2004, cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments totaled $32.7 million and the 
Company had no debt. Management believes that its current funds and funds generated from operations will be sufficient to meet currently anticipated working capital and 
other capital requirements. Should the Company require additional funds in the future, management believes that it will be able to obtain these funds at competitive rates.  
   On November 16, 2004, CDI entered into an uncommitted line of credit with a bank for $20 million. This is a short-term debt facility, with a maturity date of November 15, 
2005. The Company had no outstanding borrowings under this line of credit as of December 31, 2004.  
   
Contractual Obligations and Commitments  
The following table summarizes the Company’s outstanding contractual obligations and commitments as of December 31, 2004:  
   

   

(in thousands)    Total   

Less 
than 1 

year   
1 - 3 

years   
3 - 5 

years   

More 
than 5 
years 

Operating lease commitments (1)     $ 58,342   13,317   18,638   11,983   14,404 
Letters of credit (2)       9,639   9,571   68   -  -
Purchase obligations (3)       8,020   5,077   2,191   752   -
Total     $ 76,001   27,965   20,897   12,735   14,404 

   
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates  
The consolidated financial statements contained in this report were prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States, which require 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses, and the disclosure of contingencies. Due to 
the inherent uncertainty involved in making estimates, actual results may be materially different from those estimates. The following policies are those that the Company 
considers to be the most critical to the preparation of its consolidated financial statements. See Note 1, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, for further description of 
these and all other significant accounting policies.  
   
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts  
The Company makes ongoing estimates relating to the collectibility of its accounts receivable and maintains an allowance for estimated losses resulting from the inability of 
its customers to make required payments. Estimates used in determining accounts receivable allowances are based on specific customer account reviews, historical 
experience of credit losses, and application of percentages to certain aged receivable categories. The Company also applies judgment including assessments about 
changes in economic conditions, concentration of receivables among clients and industries, recent write-off trends, rates of bankruptcy, and credit quality of specific 
customers. Unanticipated changes in the financial condition of customers, the resolution of various disputes, or significant changes in the economy could impact the 
reserves required. At December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002, the allowance for doubtful accounts was $4.5 million, $5.5 million, and $7.7 million, respectively.  
   
Income Taxes  
In establishing the provision for income taxes and deferred income tax assets and liabilities, and valuation allowances against deferred tax assets, the Company makes 
judgments and interpretations based on enacted tax laws, published tax guidance, as well as estimates of future earnings. As of December 31, 2004, the Company has total 
net deferred tax assets of $14.7 million. This includes $8.0 million which relates primarily to state net operating loss carryforwards, capital loss carryforwards, and other 
miscellaneous credits. This deferred tax asset was evaluated under the guidelines of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS 109”), “ Accounting for Income 
Taxes ,” and a determination on the basis of objective factors was made that the asset will be realized through future years’ taxable income. In the event that actual results 
differ from these estimates and assessments, additional valuation allowances may be required.  
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(1) Represents future minimum rental commitments under non-cancelable leases which comprise the majority of the operating lease obligations presented above. 

The Company expects to fund these commitments with existing cash and cash flows from operations. 

  (2) Represents letters of credit primarily issued for the account of the Company through major domestic banks as required by certain insurance carriers in 
connection with its workers’ compensation plan. 

  (3) Purchase obligations consist primarily of normal and customary technology maintenance contracts. The Company expects to fund these commitments with 
existing cash and cash flows from operations. 
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Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets  
Effective January 1, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS 142, “ Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets ” (“SFAS 142”) which requires that goodwill be tested for impairment at 
the reporting unit level using a fair-value based approach. Accordingly, the Company discontinued amortizing goodwill and began applying the specific guidance contained 
in SFAS 142 to evaluate the carrying value and recoverability of its goodwill. Application of the goodwill impairment test requires significant judgments including estimation of 
future cash flows, which is dependent on internal forecasts, estimation of the long-term rate of growth for our business, the useful life over which cash flows will occur, and 
determination of our weighted average cost of capital. Changes in these estimates and assumptions could materially affect the determination of fair value and/or goodwill 
impairment for each reporting unit.  
   The Company completed its impairment test as of the date of adoption, January 1, 2002, as required under SFAS 142 and determined that goodwill was impaired. The 
Company had net goodwill of $87.5 million, of which $21.4 million pre-tax was considered impaired and written off as of January 1, 2002. In 2004, 2003, and 2002, the 
Company completed its impairment test during the third quarter and determined that goodwill was not further impaired. However, because of steady declines in revenue of 
the Todays segment over the last 36 months and a significant decline in operating profitability for that business in 2004 as compared to 2003, the Company conducted a 
further goodwill impairment review for the segment at December 31, 2004. Based on this review, which included consideration of improved segment performance in the 
fourth quarter of 2004 and projected increases in revenue and operating profit in 2005 and beyond, management concluded that goodwill related to the Todays segment 
was not impaired as of December 31, 2004. Should the Company’s assumptions and estimates of the future cash flows to be generated by the Todays segment not be 
achievable, it is reasonably possible that a portion of the goodwill recorded for the segment may become impaired and need to be written off in future periods.  
   Changes in future market conditions, the Company’s business strategy, or other factors could impact upon the future values of the Company’s reporting units, which could 
result in future impairment charges. At December 31, 2004, total goodwill amounted to $73.8 million.  
   
Workers’ Compensation  
The Company has a combination of insurance and self-insurance contracts under which the Company effectively bears the first $250,000 of risk per single accident. The 
Company establishes accruals for workers’ compensation utilizing actuarial methods to estimate the undiscounted future cash payments that will be made to satisfy the 
claims, including an allowance for incurred-but-not-reported claims. This process includes establishing loss development factors based on the historical claims experience of 
the Company and the industry, and applying those factors to current claims information to derive an estimate of the Company’s ultimate claims liability. In preparing the 
estimates, the Company also considers the nature and severity of the claims, analyses provided by third party claims administrators, as well as current legal, economic and 
regulatory factors. Changes in these estimates and assumptions could materially affect the determination of the established accrual. Management evaluates the accrual, 
and the underlying assumptions, periodically throughout the year and makes adjustments as needed based on such evaluation. The accrual for workers’ compensation was 
$4.5 million, $5.5 million, and $7.2 million at December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively.  
   
Contingencies  
The Company is primarily in the business of employing people and providing technical and engineering services to businesses on a temporary or outsourced basis. As a 
result, CDI is party to litigation in the ordinary course of its business. The outcome of litigation brought against the Company is subject to significant uncertainty. SFAS 5, “ 
Accounting for Contingencies ”, requires that an estimated loss from a loss contingency, such as a legal proceeding or claim, should be accrued by a charge to income if it is 
probable that an asset has been impaired or a liability has been incurred, and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. Disclosure of a contingency is required if 
there is at least a reasonable possibility that a loss has been incurred. In determining whether a loss should be accrued, the Company evaluates, among other factors, the 
degree of probability of an unfavorable outcome and the ability to make a reasonable estimate of the amount of the loss. Changes in these factors could materially impact 
the Company’s financial position or consolidated results of operations.  
   
Recent Accounting Pronouncements  
In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), “ Share-Based Payment ” (“SFAS 123R”), which replaces SFAS 
No. 123, “ Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation ” (“SFAS 123”) and supercedes APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.” SFAS 123R 
requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the financial statements based on their fair values, 
beginning with the first interim or annual period after June 15, 2005, with early adoption encouraged. The pro forma disclosures previously permitted under SFAS 123 will no 
longer be an alternative to financial statement recognition. The Company is required to adopt SFAS 123R in the third quarter of fiscal 2005, beginning July 1, 2005. Under 
SFAS 123R, the Company must determine the appropriate fair value model to be used for valuing share-based payments, the amortization method for compensation cost, 
and the transition method to be used at date of adoption. The transition methods include prospective and retroactive adoption alternatives. Under the retroactive  
   

22  



Table of Contents  

   
alternatives, prior periods may be restated either as of the beginning of the year of adoption or for all periods presented. The prospective method requires that compensation 
expense be recorded for all unvested stock options and restricted stock at the beginning of the first quarter of adoption of SFAS 123R, while the retroactive methods would 
record compensation expense for all unvested stock options and restricted stock beginning with the first period restated. The Company is evaluating the requirements of 
SFAS 123R and has not yet determined the method of adoption or the effect of adopting SFAS 123R, nor whether the adoption will result in amounts that are similar to the 
current pro forma disclosures under SFAS 123.  
   In December 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. FAS 109-1 (“FAS 109-1”), “ Application of FASB Statement No. 109 , “ Accounting for Income Taxes, ” to the 
Tax Deduction on Qualified Production Activities Provided by the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004,” (“AJCA”). The AJCA introduces a special 9% tax deduction on 
qualified production activities. FAS 109-1 clarifies that this tax deduction should be accounted for as a special tax deduction in accordance with Statement 109. Pursuant to 
the AJCA, the Company will not be able to claim this tax benefit until the first quarter of fiscal 2005. The Company does not expect the adoption of these new tax provisions 
to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.  
   

   

      

Item 7A.   Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Mark et Risk 
The Company is exposed to risks associated with foreign currency fluctuations and changes in interest rates. The Company’s exposure to foreign currency fluctuations 
relates to its operations in foreign countries conducted through subsidiaries operating primarily in the United Kingdom and Canada. Exchange rate fluctuations impact the 
U.S. dollar value of reported earnings derived from these foreign operations as well as the Company’s investment in the net assets related to these operations. From time to 
time the Company engages in hedging activities with respect to its foreign operations. During 2004, the Company entered into a foreign exchange put option contract to 
hedge a portion of its U.K. foreign operations’ 2004 forecasted net earnings. The Company purchased British pound sterling put options aggregating £3.2 million, with 
contractual exchange rates of $1.80 and at a cost of $150,000. The put options expired unexercised at various periods during 2004 with the last put option expiring on 
December 31, 2004. The impact of this foreign exchange put option was immaterial to the 2004 results of operations. In addition, the effects of foreign currency exchange 
rate fluctuations have historically not been material to the Company.  
   The Company’s exposure to interest rate changes is not significant. As of December 31, 2004, the Company had no bank borrowings outstanding. The Company’s 
investment in money market and other short-term instruments are primarily at variable rates.  
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Consolidated Statements of Earnings  
   

   
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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Item 8. 
  

Financial Statements and  
Supplementary Data  

     Years Ended December 31,   

(In thousands, except per share data)    2004     
2003 

(As Restated)     2002   
Revenues     $ 1,045,207     1,060,181     1,169,475   
Cost of services       799,813     803,188     864,682   

Gross profit       245,394     256,993     304,793   
Operating and administrative expenses       237,520     225,945     284,282   
Restructuring       (200 )   (143 )   12,551   
(Gain) loss on sale of assets       (1,295 )   -    1,259   

Operating profit       9,369     31,191     6,701   
Interest income, net       528     1,053     115   
Earnings from continuing operations before income  

taxes, minority interest, and cumulative effect of  
accounting change       9,897     32,244     6,816   

Income tax expense       2,369     11,000     2,599   
Earnings from continuing operations before minority  

interest and cumulative effect of accounting change       7,528     21,244     4,217   
Minority interest       -    -    135   
Earnings from continuing operations before cumulative  

effect of accounting change       7,528     21,244     4,082   
Discontinued operations, net of tax       -    -    527   
Cumulative effect of change in accounting for goodwill, net of tax       -    -    (13,968 ) 

Net earnings (loss)     $ 7,528     21,244     (9,359 ) 

Basic earnings (loss) per share:                       
Earnings from continuing operations before accounting change     $ 0.38     1.10     0.21   
Discontinued operations       -    -    0.03   
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax       -    -    (0.73 ) 

Net earnings (loss)     $ 0.38     1.10     (0.49 ) 

Diluted earnings (loss) per share:                       
Earnings from continuing operations before accounting change     $ 0.38     1.07     0.21   
Discontinued operations       -    -    0.03   
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax       -    -    (0.71 ) 

Net earnings (loss)     $ 0.38     1.07     (0.48 ) 
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Consolidated Balance Sheets  
   

   
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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    December 31,   

(In thousands, except share data)   2004     
2003 

(As Restated)   
Assets                
Current assets:                

Cash and cash equivalents    $ 32,716     50,290   
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $4,466 - 2004; $5,496 - 2003      192,145     198,686   
Short-term investments      -    22,606   
Prepaid expenses      6,558     8,428   
Income taxes receivable      6,363     1,465   
Deferred income taxes      4,846     8,443   

Total current assets      242,628     289,918   
Property and equipment, net      28,384     31,121   
Deferred income taxes      9,808     6,770   
Goodwill      73,755     71,968   
Other assets      4,444     5,403   
    $   359,019     405,180   
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity                
Current liabilities:                

Obligations not liquidated because of outstanding checks    $ 2,135     5,848   
Accounts payable      23,407     23,841   
Withheld payroll taxes      1,639     2,495   
Accrued compensation and related expenses      39,439     45,424   
Other accrued expenses      15,096     18,391   
Income taxes payable      1,907     825   

Total current liabilities      83,623     96,824   
Deferred compensation      8,206     8,945   

Total liabilities      91,829     105,769   

Shareholders’ equity:                
Preferred stock, $0.10 par value - authorized 1,000,000 shares; none issued      -    -  
Common stock, $0.10 par value - authorized 100,000,000 shares; issued 20,668,401 shares -  

2004; 20,535,835 shares - 2003      2,067     2,054   
Class B common stock, $0.10 par value - authorized 3,174,891 shares; none issued      -    -  
Additional paid-in capital      31,687     28,205   
Retained earnings      245,425     285,164   
Accumulated other comprehensive income      10,559     6,829   
Unamortized value of restricted stock issued      (228 )   (544 ) 
Less common stock in treasury, at cost - 964,434 shares - December 31, 2004; 963,465 shares - December 31, 2003;      (22,320 )   (22,297 ) 

Total shareholders’ equity      267,190     299,411   
    $ 359,019     405,180   
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Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity  
   

   
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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    Years Ended December 31,   

(In thousands)   2004     
2003 

(As Restated)     2002   
Common stock                      

Beginning of year    $ 2,054     2,031     2,008   
Exercise of stock options      11     18     18   
Restricted stock issued      -    -    1   
Stock purchase plans      2     5     4   
End of year    $ 2,067     2,054     2,031   

Additional paid-in capital                      
Beginning of year    $ 28,205     22,975     17,629   
Exercise of stock options      2,631     3,521     3,650   
Restricted stock-issued      -    -    338   
Restricted stock-vesting/forfeiture      -    -    5   
Restricted stock-change in value      (9 )   3     14   
Stock purchase plans      380     930     846   
Tax benefit from stock plans      480     776     493   
End of year    $ 31,687     28,205     22,975   

Retained earnings                      
Beginning of year    $   285,164     306,339     315,698   
Net earnings (loss)      7,528     21,244     (9,359 ) 
Dividends paid to shareholders      (47,267 )   (42,419 )   -  
End of year    $ 245,425     285,164     306,339   

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)                      
Beginning of year    $ 6,829     (610 )   (2,038 ) 
Translation adjustment      3,730     7,439     1,428   
End of year    $ 10,559     6,829     (610 ) 

Unamortized value of restricted stock issued                      
Beginning of year    $ (544 )   (800 )   (690 ) 
Restricted stock-issued      -    -    (339 ) 
Restricted stock-forfeiture      23     -    45   
Restricted stock-change in value      9     (3 )   (14 ) 
Restricted stock-amortization of value      284     259     198   
End of year    $ (228 )   (544 )   (800 ) 

Treasury stock                      
Beginning of year    $ (22,297 )   (22,134 )   (21,957 ) 
Restricted stock-forfeiture      (23 )   -    (45 ) 
Shares repurchased      -    (163 )   (132 ) 
End of year    $ (22,320 )   (22,297 )   (22,134 ) 

Comprehensive income (loss)                      
Net earnings (loss)    $ 7,528     21,244     (9,359 ) 
Translation adjustment      3,730     7,439     1,428   
Total    $ 11,258     28,683     (7,931 ) 
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows  
   

   
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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     Years ended December 31,   

(In thousands)    2004     
2003 

(As Restated)     2002   
Continuing Operations                       
Operating activities:                       

Net earnings (loss)     $ 7,528     21,244     (9,359 ) 
Net income from discontinued operations       —    —    (527 ) 
Cumulative effect of change in accounting for goodwill, net of tax       —    —    13,968   
Earnings from continuing operations       7,528     21,244     4,082   
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to cash provided by operating activities:                       
Minority interests       —    —    135   
Depreciation       9,618     11,863     24,457   
Deferred income taxes       559     9,732     6,383   
Tax benefit from stock options       480     776     493   
(Gain) loss on sale of assets       (1,295 )   —    1,259   
Non-cash provision for restructure expenses       (200 )   (143 )   8,530   
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisitions:                       

Accounts receivable, net       6,541     (9,129 )   62,233   
Prepaid expenses       (154 )   (2,025 )   174   
Accounts payable       (434 )   (1,167 )   (4,676 ) 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities       (8,780 )   (19,042 )   (13,410 ) 
Income taxes       (3,816 )   5,461     (6,995 ) 
Other assets, non-current liabilities and other       2,247     4,572     1,853   

Net cash flow from operating activities       12,294     22,142     84,518   
Investing activities:                       

Purchases of property and equipment       (7,798 )   (13,657 )   (10,144 ) 
Sales (purchases) of short-term investments, net       22,606     35,871     (58,477 ) 
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired       —    (1,100 )   (4,146 ) 
Proceeds from the sale of assets       2,162     3,050     —  
Other       917     951     2,415   

Net cash flow from (used in) investing activities       17,887     25,115     (70,352 ) 
Financing activities:                       

Dividends paid to shareholders       (47,267 )   (42,419 )   —  
Payments on long-term debt       —    —    (7,433 ) 
Obligations not liquidated because of outstanding checks       (3,713 )   (130 )   (4,326 ) 
Proceeds from stock plans       2,642     3,539     3,668   
Other       —    —    (131 ) 

Net cash flow used in financing activities       (48,338 )   (39,010 )   (8,222 ) 
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents       583     895     113   
Net cash flows (used in) from continuing operations       (17,574 )   9,142     6,057   
Net cash flows from discontinued operations       —    —    8,836   
Net change in cash and cash equivalents       (17,574 )   9,142     14,893   
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year       50,290     41,148     26,255   
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year     $ 32,716     50,290     41,148   

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:                       
Cash paid (received) during the year for income taxes, (net of refunds)     $ 6,800     (5,225 )   3,228   
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Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements  
(In thousands, except per share and per share amounts, unless otherwise indicated)  
   
Note 1 - Significant Accounting Policies  
Nature of Operations - CDI Corp. (the “Company” or “CDI”) is a provider of engineering and information technology outsourcing solutions and professional staffing. The 
Company is a Pennsylvania corporation with operations primarily in the United States, Europe and Canada.  
   Basis of Presentation - The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company and the accompanying notes are prepared in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America and the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission.  
   Principles of Consolidation - The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of the Company and all wholly-owned and majority-owned subsidiaries after 
elimination of intercompany balances and transactions. For comparative purposes, certain amounts have been reclassified to conform to the 2004 presentation.  
   Use of Estimates - The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of 
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.  
   Revenue Recognition - The Company derives its revenues from several sources. All of the Company’s segments perform staffing services. The Company’s Business 
Solutions segment also performs project and outsourcing services, which includes some fixed-price contracts. Management Recruiters International derives the majority of 
its revenue from ongoing franchise royalties, and initial franchise fees.  
   Staffing Services - Revenues derived from staffing services are recorded on a gross basis as services are performed and associated costs have been incurred using 

employees of the Company. In these circumstances, the Company assumes the risk of acceptability of its employees to its customers. An element of the Company’s 
staffing business is the use of unaffiliated companies (“supplier associates”) and their employees to fulfill a customer’s staffing requirements. Under these 
arrangements, these firms serve as subcontractors. Customers typically require a single consolidated billing which reflects services performed by the Company’s 
employees as well as staffing supplied by supplier associates.  

   When supplier associates are utilized, the Company records the difference between its gross billings and the amount paid to the supplier associate as revenue, which 
is generally referred to as an administrative fee. Administrative and clerical costs related to time accumulation, invoicing, and other activities are recorded and included 
in operating and administrative expenses as incurred.  

   
Project and Outsourcing Services - Revenue derived from project outsourcing services is recorded based on mark-ups on contractual hourly rates of pay. To a lesser 
extent, revenues are derived from fixed-price and outsourcing contracts.  

   Fixed-price contracts typically include development of conceptual design drawings and detailed design drawings in support of a customer’s construction of tangible 
property, and are accounted for using the percentage-of-completion method relying on direct hours as the primary input measure to recognize revenue. Periodically, 
these contracts are evaluated to ensure that any potential losses have been identified and recorded in the financial statements.  

   Outsourcing service contracts generally include the performance of certain computer or network operations or help-desk support on behalf of customers. Service 
contracts typically contain an invoicing schedule covering the contractual period. Accordingly, revenue is recognized on a pro-rata basis using elapsed time as the 
measure of performance under these contracts. Related costs are charged to earnings as they are incurred. As with fixed-price engineering contracts, the Company 
periodically evaluates the need to provide for any losses on such contracts.  

   Permanent Placement - Services include the search, recruitment, and employment of candidates on behalf of the Company’s customers. Generally, permanent 
placement services are performed on a non-exclusive, contingency basis, and the Company recognizes revenue only upon successfully placing a recommended 
candidate.  

   Ongoing Franchise Royalties - MRI’s right to franchise royalties is governed by the provisions of the franchise contracts. Under the franchise contracts, the franchisees 
remit to the Company a contractual percentage of fees collected from their customers. The Company records franchise royalty revenue as fees are collected by the 
franchisee and they become a receivable from the franchisee, in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 45 - “Accounting for 
Franchise Fee Revenue” .  

   Initial Franchise Fees - Fees related to sales of new MRI franchises and master franchise agreements are recognized when the Company has substantially fulfilled its 
requirements under the franchise agreement.  

   Off-Balance Sheet Risk - The Company does not have off-balance sheet financial instruments except for letters of credit primarily issued for the account of the Company 
through major domestic banks as required by certain insurance carriers in connection with its workers’ compensation plan. As of December 31, 2004 and 2003 the Company 
had outstanding letters of credit of $9.6 million and $8.6 million, respectively, expiring at various dates through December 2006. The accrual for workers’ compensation was 
$4.5 million and $5.5 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, and is included in  
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accrued compensation and related expenses in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.  
   From time to time the Company engages in hedging activities with respect to its foreign operations. As of December 31, 2004, the Company had no outstanding hedging 
instruments in place.  
   The Company has an uncommitted line of credit with a bank for $20 million. This is a short-term debt facility with a maturity date of November 15, 2005. The interest rate 
under this line of credit is based on LIBOR, plus 0.60%, or the bank’s prime rate. There are no commitment or facility fees associated with this line of credit. The Company 
had no outstanding borrowings under this line of credit as of December 31, 2004.  
   Concentrations of Credit Risk - The Company’s principal asset is accounts receivable. Substantially all of the Company’s customers are provided trade credit. The primary 
users of the Company’s services are large industrial organizations, many of which are Fortune 1000 companies. The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its 
customers and maintains allowances for potential credit losses. An allowance is provided against accounts receivable that are not expected to be collected. This reserve is 
based upon historical experience, as well as estimates based on management’s judgments in specific matters.  
   There was no single customer from whom the Company derived 10% or more of its consolidated revenues during 2004, 2003 or 2002. The Company’s top ten revenue-
producing customers accounted for approximately 26%, 25%, and 27% of consolidated revenue for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively.  
   In accordance with Statement of Position 81-1, “Accounting for Performance of Construction-Type and Certain Production-Type Contracts,” the Company recorded accounts 
receivable of $1.7 million and $0.4 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, reflecting the anticipated costs incurred on contracts which are currently in dispute. 
Management believes that it is probable that these claims will be collectible from the customers.  
   The Company’s cash balances and short-term investments are maintained in accounts held by major banks and financial institutions, primarily in the United States.  
   Income Taxes - The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method. Under this method, income taxes are provided for amounts currently payable 
and for amounts deferred as tax assets and liabilities based on differences between the financial statement carrying amounts and tax basis of existing assets and liabilities. 
In establishing its deferred income tax assets and liabilities the Company makes judgments and interpretations based on the enacted tax laws and published tax guidance 
that are applicable to its operations. The Company records deferred tax assets and liabilities, and evaluates the need for valuation allowances to reduce the deferred tax 
assets to realizable amounts. The likelihood of a material change in the Company’s expected realization of these assets is dependent on future taxable income, its ability to 
use tax credit carryforwards and carrybacks, final tax settlements, and the effectiveness of its tax planning strategies in the various relevant jurisdictions.  
   Cash and Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investment s - Cash equivalents include investments in highly liquid securities that mature within 90 days from their date of 
acquisition. Short-term investments include investments with an original maturity date greater than 90 days. All the Company’s cash equivalents and short-term investments 
represent investments in money market instruments or debt securities. Short-term investments consist of available-for-sale securities that are carried at fair value based on 
quoted prices. Gains and losses related to available-for-sale securities have been immaterial.  
   Property and equipment - Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation expense is computed using the straight-line method over the following useful lives:  
   

   

Computers and systems     4-7 years 
Equipment and furniture     5-10 years 
Leasehold improvements     Term of lease 

The Company capitalizes direct costs incurred in the development of internal-use software. Amounts capitalized are reported as a component of computers and systems 
within property and equipment.  
   Goodwill - Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of businesses acquired over the fair market value of identifiable net assets at the dates of acquisition. The Company 
generally performs annual testing in the third quarter to evaluate the recoverability of goodwill carried in its balance sheet. Current and projected earnings, cash flows, and 
comparable market data are used to determine the fair-value of each reporting unit. This fair-value is then compared to the carrying value of the underlying assets to 
determine if any impairment has occurred.  
   Long-Lived Assets - The Company evaluates long-lived assets and intangible assets with definite lives for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. When it is probable that undiscounted future cash flows will not be sufficient to recover an asset’s 
carrying amount, the asset is written down to its fair value. Assets to be disposed of by sale, if any, are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less cost to 
sell. See Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional disclosures related to the disposal of long-lived assets reflected as discontinued operations in the 
accompanying financial statements.  
   Obligations Not Liquidated Because of Outstanding C hecks - The Company manages the level of cash in banks to minimize its cash balances. Cash balances as 
reflected by banks are higher than the Company’s book balances because of  
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checks that are outstanding throughout the banking system. Cash is generally not provided to bank accounts until checks are presented for payment. The differences in 
balances created by the outstanding checks result in negative cash balances in the Company’s records. These negative balances are reflected in current liabilities as 
“Obligations not liquidated because of outstanding checks” when the right of offset is not available.  
   Stock-Based Compensation - The Company accounts for its employee stock options under the recognition and measurement principles of Accounting Principles Board 
Opinion (“APB”) No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” (“APB”) No. 25 and related interpretations. Under APB No. 25, no stock-based compensation is 
reflected in operations, as no options granted under the plans have an exercise price less than the fair market value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant 
and the related number of shares granted is fixed at that point in time. Compensation cost has been recognized for restricted stock issued and for units granted under the 
Stock Purchase Plan.  
   The following table illustrates the effect on net income (loss) and earnings (loss) per share as if the Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No 
123:  
   

   

     2004     2003     2002   
           (As Restated)         
Net earnings (loss), as reported     $ 7,528     21,244     (9,359 ) 
Stock-based employee and director compensation cost included in reported net earnings 

(loss), net of income tax effect       693     665     1,083   
Stock-based employee and director compensation cost under fair value-based method, 

net of income tax effect       (2,330 )   (2,125 )   (2,199 ) 
Pro-forma net earnings (loss)     $ 5,891     19,784     (10,475 ) 
Net earnings (loss) per share:                       

Basic - as reported     $ 0.38     1.10     (0.49 ) 
Basic - pro-forma     $ 0.30     1.02     (0.55 ) 
Diluted - as reported     $ 0.38     1.07     (0.48 ) 
Diluted - pro-forma     $ 0.30     1.00     (0.54 ) 

The pro-forma compensation cost using the fair value-based method under SFAS No. 123 includes valuations related to stock options granted since January 1, 1995 using 
the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model. The weighted average fair value of options granted during 2004, 2003, and 2002 has been estimated using the following 
assumptions:  
   

   

     2004     2003     2002   
Risk-free interest rate     3.18 %   3.59 %   4.72 % 
Expected life of option     5.5 years     5.5 years     7 years   
Expected stock price volatility     34 %   38 %   36 % 
Expected dividend yield     1.8 %   1.4 %   N/A   

Foreign Currency Translation - Foreign subsidiaries of the Company use local currency as the functional currency. Net assets are translated at year-end rates while 
revenues and expenses are translated at average exchange rates. Adjustments resulting from these translations are reflected in accumulated other comprehensive income 
(loss) in shareholders’ equity. Gains and losses arising from foreign currency transactions are reflected in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings.  
   New Accounting Pronouncements  
In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123R”), which replaces SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based 
Compensation” (“SFAS 123”) and supercedes APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.” SFAS 123R requires all share-based payments to 
employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the financial statements based on their fair values, beginning with the first interim or annual 
period after June 15, 2005, with early adoption encouraged. The pro forma disclosures previously permitted under SFAS 123 will no longer be an alternative to financial 
statement recognition. The Company is required to adopt SFAS 123R in the third quarter of fiscal 2005, beginning July 1, 2005. Under SFAS 123R, the Company must 
determine the appropriate fair value model to be used for valuing share-based payments, the amortization method for compensation cost, and the transition method to be 
used at date of adoption. The transition methods include prospective and retroactive adoption alternatives. Under the retroactive alternatives, prior periods may be restated 
either as of the beginning of the year of adoption or for all periods presented. The prospective method requires that compensation expense be recorded for all unvested 
stock options and restricted stock at the beginning of the first quarter of adoption of SFAS 123R, while the retroactive methods would record compensation expense for all 
unvested stock options and restricted stock beginning with the first period restated. The Company is evaluating the requirements of SFAS 123R and has not yet determined 
the method of adoption or the effect of adopting SFAS 123R, nor whether the adoption will result in amounts that are similar to the current pro forma disclosures under SFAS 
123.  
   Note 2 - Restatement of Financial Statements (Quart erly Information Unaudited)  
The Company has restated its consolidated financial statements for 2003 and for the first three quarters in 2004. All financial information contained in these consolidated 
financial statements gives effect to these restatements.  
   In compiling its financial results for the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2004, management identified a material weakness in the Company’s internal control over 
financial reporting relating to account analysis practices and procedures employed by the Company in its period-end financial reporting process. Specifically, management 
identified circumstances in which certain financial statement accounts were not being analyzed by appropriate personnel, resulting in an accumulation of accounting errors 
that were not detected on a timely basis. The financial  
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statement accounts in which accounting errors were identified included primarily accounts receivable, which was overstated in prior annual and interim periods, and accrued 
payroll, which was understated in prior annual and interim periods. These deficiencies in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting resulted in misstatements to 
prior annual and interim financial statements and, accordingly, certain prior annual and interim financial statements have been restated to reflect the correction of accounting 
errors. The impact of the restatement was to decrease previously reported pre-tax earnings by approximately $4.0 million.  
   The restatement decreased pre-tax earnings by approximately $928, $696, and $346 for the third, second, and first quarters, respectively, of 2004, and decreased pre-tax 
earnings by approximately $879, $886, and $398 for the fourth, third, and first quarters of 2003, respectively, and increased pre-tax earnings by approximately $161 for the 
second quarter of 2003.  
   The Company also identified an error in the application of SFAS No. 52, “Foreign Currency Translation” in prior years, which it corrected as of December 31, 2003. The 
effect of this adjustment was to increase goodwill and other comprehensive income by $3.8 million as of December 31, 2003.  
   The table below reconciles the Company’s consolidated restated net earnings for 2003 from the net earnings previously presented in the Company’s 2003 Consolidated 
Financial Statements:  
   

   

     2003   
Net earnings as originally reported     $ 22,546   

Adjustments (pre-tax)           
Revenue       (133 ) 
Cost of services       (302 ) 
Operating and administrative expenses       2,171   

Total adjustments (pre-tax)       (2,002 ) 
Tax effect of restated adjustments       700   
Total net adjustments       (1,302 ) 
Net earnings as restated     $ 21,244   

Diluted earnings per share:           
Net earnings – as originally reported     $ 1.14   
Effect of net adjustments       (0.07 ) 
Net earnings as restated     $ 1.07   

The table below reconciles the Company’s restated Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2003, from the Consolidated Balance Sheet previously presented:  
   

   

          2003      

     
As Previously 

Reported    Adjustments    
As 

Restated 
Total current assets     $ 289,694    224    289,918 
Total assets       401,562    3,618    405,180 
Total current liabilities       95,266    1,558    96,824 
Total liabilities       104,211    1,558    105,769 
Total shareholders’ equity       297,351    2,060    299,411 
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity       401,562    3,618    405,180 

   
Note 3 - Cash, Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Inve stments  
Cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 were comprised of the following:  
   

   

     2004    
2003 

(As Restated) 
Cash     $ 4,746    5,199 
Cash equivalents       27,970    45,091 
     $ 32,716    50,290 
Short-term investments       -   22,606 

Cash equivalents are in very liquid, high-quality debt securities with diversification among the investments based upon Company established guidelines. Amortized cost 
approximates fair value. Gains and losses during 2004 and 2003 were immaterial.  
   Note 4 - Acquisitions  
In 2004, the Company did not acquire any businesses. For the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, investments in new businesses acquired totaled $1,100 and 
$4,146, respectively. All acquisitions were accounted for using the purchase method. During 2003, the Company acquired the remaining interest of an affiliated company for 
$1,100, all of which was allocated to the fair value of property and equipment (i.e. computers and systems). For 2002, assets of $2,636 were acquired, all of which were 
goodwill. The remaining $1,510 paid in 2002 was to acquire the interest of all remaining minority shareholders in previously acquired businesses.  
   Financial results of the acquired operations are reflected in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Earnings from dates of acquisition. The acquisitions did not have 
a significant effect on reported earnings in the year of acquisition, and earnings would not have been significantly different from reported earnings had the acquisitions 
occurred at the beginning of the respective years.  
   Note 5 - Property and Equipment  
Property and equipment, net at December 31, 2004 and 2003 were comprised of the following:  
   

   

     2004     2003   
Computers and systems     $ 88,983     85,426   
Equipment and furniture       26,208     26,256   
Leasehold improvements       11,724     13,297   
       126,915     124,979   
Accumulated depreciation       (98,531 )   (93,858 ) 
     $ 28,384     31,121   

During the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company capitalized approximately $1.7 million and $8.7 million, respectively, of internal-use software 
acquisition and development costs.  
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Note 6 - Goodwill  
In connection with the Company’s adoption of SFAS 142, during 2002, the Company recorded an impairment charge to earnings of $21,401 or $13,968 after tax (BS - 
$15,171; MRI - $6,230). This charge is presented in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Earnings as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting as of January 1, 
2002. Prospectively, the Company performs annual testing to evaluate the recoverability of goodwill carried in its balance sheet. Impairment testing was conducted as of 
July 1, 2004 and indicated no further impairment to goodwill. However, because of steady declines in revenue of the Todays segment over the last 36 months and a 
significant decline in operating profitability for that business in 2004 as compared to 2003, the Company conducted a further goodwill impairment review for the segment at 
December 31, 2004. Based on this review, which included consideration of improved segment performance in the fourth quarter of 2004 and projected increases in revenue 
and operating profit in 2005 and beyond, management concluded that goodwill related to the Todays segment was not impaired as of December 31, 2004. Should the 
Company’s assumptions and estimates of the future cash flows to be generated by the Todays segment not be achievable, it is reasonably possible that a portion of the 
goodwill recorded for the segment may become impaired and need to be written off in future periods.  
   
The following table summarizes the changes in the Company’s carrying value of goodwill by reportable segment during 2004 and 2003:  
   

   
Note 7 - Restructuring  
For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002, the Company recorded $(200), $(143), and $12,551, respectively, of restructuring charges (credits) as it 
continued a multi-phased Plan of Restructure initiated in 2001. During 2004 and 2003, the Company reduced by $200 and $279, respectively, some of its reserves in 
connection with the Company’s implementation of its Plan of Restructure. This reduction related primarily to better-than-expected sublease and lease exit experience. In 
addition, during 2003, the Company recorded $136 of restructuring charges in connection with the Company’s new growth and business integration plan. This expense 
related to employee severance costs.  
   

     

Balance at 
December 31, 

2002    Dispositions     

Translation 

and Other    

Balance at 
December 31, 

2003    Dispositions    

Translation 

and Other    

Balance at 
December 31, 

2004 
Business Solutions     $ 16,662    -    -   16,662    -   -   16,662 
AndersElite       18,371    -    3,480    21,851    -   1,587    23,438 
Todays       23,524    -    -   23,524    -   -   23,524 
MRI       9,777    (123 )   277    9,931    -   200    10,131 
     $ 68,334    (123 )   3,757    71,968    -   1,787    73,755 

The 2002 charges related to the closing of approximately 75 field offices and the termination of approximately 220 employees.  
   The table below presents a summary of the restructuring charges:  
   

   

     
Years ended 

December 31, 
     2004     2003     2002 
Asset impairments     $ -    -    3,217 
Provision for severance       -    136     3,479 
Provision for termination of operating leases       -    -    5,855 
Reduction to reserve       (200 )   (279 )   -
     $ (200 )   (143 )   12,551 

   
The breakdown of the restructuring charges among operating segments is as follows:  
   

The tables below present the restructuring activity from a balance sheet perspective:  
   

     2004     2003     2002 
Business Solutions     $ (200 )   (143 )   6,470 
Todays       —    —    3,861 
MRI       —    —    1,595 
Corporate       —    —    625 
     $ (200 )   (143 )   12,551 
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Net 
Accrual at 

December 31, 

2002   
Provision 

(Credit)     
Cash 

Expenditures     

Net 
Accrual at 

December 31, 

2003 
Provision for severance    $ 3,360   136     (2,863 )   633 
Provisions for termination of operating leases      5,539   (279 )   (2,326 )   2,934 
    $ 8,899   (143 )   (5,189 )   3,567 

    

Net 
Accrual at 

December 31, 

2003   
Provision 

(Credit)     
Cash 

Expenditures     

Net 
Accrual at 

December 31, 

2004 
Provision for severance    $ 633   —    (591 )   42 
Provisions for termination of operating leases      2,934   (200 )   (2,382 )   352 
    $ 3,567   (200 )   (2,973 )   394 
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The Company anticipates that the remaining liability for severance will be paid in 2005. The remaining liability for operating leases will be substantially paid by December 31, 
2005. The liability for the provision for restructure is included in other accrued expenses in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.  
   
Note 8 - Real Estate Exit Costs  
During 2004, the Company experienced continued declines in demand in its Life Sciences vertical within the Business Solutions segment. As a result, management 
evaluated certain office space and determined that there was excess real estate capacity within the Life Sciences vertical. In addition, management also determined that 
there was excess real estate capacity in the MRI segment. Accordingly, certain real estate properties were permanently vacated resulting in the Company recording pre-tax 
charges of $2.9 million, of which $0.6 million related to leasehold improvements written off during 2004. These charges are included in operating and administrative 
expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of earnings.  
   The table presented below shows the current year activity by reportable segments:  
   

   

     
Business 
Solutions     MRI     Totals   

Balance as of December 31, 2003     $ -    -    -  
Charge for real estate exit costs       834     2,064     2,898   
Payments/reduction of assets       (596 )   (682 )   (1,278 ) 
Balance as of December 31, 2004     $ 238     1,382     1,620   

The future payments related to the above lease obligations are expected to extend through 2011. The accrual for real estate exit costs is included in other accrued expenses 
in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.  
   Note 9 - Stock Based Plans  
   Omnibus Plan  
During 2004, shareholders of the Company approved the CDI Corp. 2004 Omnibus Stock Plan (the “Omnibus Plan”). The Omnibus Plan replaced the 1998 Non-Qualified 
Stock Option Plan and the earlier Non-Qualified Stock Option and Stock Appreciation Rights Plan.  
   
The Omnibus Plan allows eligible participants to receive awards of options, stock appreciation rights, deferred stock, restricted stock, and performance-based restricted 
stock units (“performance units”). The CDI Corp. 1998 Non-Qualified Stock Option Plan, the Non-Qualified Stock Option and Stock Appreciation Rights Plan, the 1998 
Performance Share Plan, and all prior grants of restricted stock (the “Prior Plans”) have been assumed into the Omnibus Plan. All shares of CDI stock previously available 
for awards under the prior Plans will be available for awards under the Omnibus Plan, and all previously granted awards under the prior Plans have been assumed by the 
Omnibus Plan.  
   Stock Options  
The option price at which options are to be exercised may not be less than 100% of the fair market value per share of the Company’s common stock on the last trading day 
preceding the date of grant. Options granted under the Omnibus Plan generally vest over five years and expire seven years from the date of grant.  
   As of December 31, 2004, 2,954,031 shares of common stock were reserved for future issuances of options under the Company’s Omnibus Plan. Activity under the plans 
for each of the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003, and 2004 was as follows:  
   

   
For various price ranges, weighted average characteristics of outstanding employee stock options at December 31, 2004 are as follows:  
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Shares 
subject to 

options     

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 
December 31, 2001     1,723,713     $ 20.59 

Granted     345,435     $ 22.49 
Exercised     (178,548 )   $ 20.52 
Cancelled     (345,268 )   $ 23.36 

December 31, 2002     1,545,332     $ 20.42 
Granted     296,245     $ 24.09 
Exercised     (176,896 )   $ 20.00 
Cancelled     (233,173 )   $ 24.15 

December 31, 2003     1,431,508     $ 20.64 
Granted     282,447     $ 28.40 
Exercised     (110,026 )   $ 21.35 
Cancelled     (182,268 )   $ 25.71 

December 31, 2004     1,421,661     $ 21.44 

    Options Outstanding   Options Exercisable 

Range of Exercise Prices   

Number 
Outstanding as of 

December 31, 2004   

Weighted Average 

Remaining 
Contractual Life   

Weighted Average 

Exercise Price   

Number 
Exercisable as of 

December 31, 2004   

Weighted Average 

Exercise Price 
$14.23 - $16.05    592,780   6.66   $ 15.77   170,932   $ 15.56 
$16.90 - $21.75    246,705   4.95   $ 21.22   116,216   $ 21.30 
$22.56 - $25.50    275,780   4.88   $ 23.56   104,880   $ 23.37 
$25.77 - $46.50    306,396   5.91   $ 30.70   37,913   $ 40.88 
    1,421,661             429,941       
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On February 15, 2005, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the cancellation of 300,000 stock option shares held by Roger H. Ballou, President and Chief Executive 
Officer. Mr. Ballou agreed to the cancellation and received no consideration for the cancellation.  
   Restricted Stock  
The Company issued shares of restricted common stock that vest with the passage of time (generally four years) and based on the percentage achievement of pre-
determined goals. Shares that do not vest are forfeited.  
   Restricted common shares that vest over time have a fixed value when issued. The value of restricted shares that vest based on performance will fluctuate with changes in 
the fair market value of the common shares until there is a determination as to their vesting. Over the period of time that these shares may become vested, there will be 
charges to earnings based upon the associated fair value of the shares. As such charges occur, unamortized value of restricted stock issued will be reduced. To the extent 
that restricted shares are forfeited, unamortized value will also be reduced and the forfeited shares will be placed in treasury stock.  
   Compensation expense related to the restricted stock awards is charged to operations on a straight-line basis over the vesting period and totaled $285, $259, and $198 for 
the fiscal years ending December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively.  
   Stock Purchase Plan  
Under the terms of a stock purchase plan (“SPP”), designated employees and non-employee directors have the opportunity to purchase shares of the Company’s common 
stock on a pre-tax basis. Employee participants use a portion of their annual bonus awards to purchase SPP units. Certain senior management personnel are required to 
participate by using 25% of their annual bonus awards to purchase SPP units and can elect participation for up to an additional 25%. Other employee participants can elect 
to use up to 25% of their annual bonus amount. Non-employee directors may participate by using some or all of their director fees to purchase SPP units. The Company 
makes a matching contribution of one SPP unit for every three units purchased by a participant on a voluntary basis. Vesting of units occurs over a period of three to ten 
years as chosen by the participant. There are 128,400 SPP units (including Company matching units) outstanding as of December 31, 2004. The units were determined 
using a weighted average market price of $22.90 per share. Costs charged to earnings during 2004, 2003, and 2002 related to this plan were $627, $751, and $1,456, 
respectively.  
   
Note 10 - Capital Stock  
Changes in common shares issued and treasury shares for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002 follow:  
   

   
Note 11 - Basic and Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Sha re (EPS) Data  
The following table reconciles the denominator used to compute basic EPS to the denominator used to compute diluted EPS for each fiscal year ended December 31:  
   

   

     2004    2003    2002 
Shares issued                 

Beginning of year     20,535,835    20,313,915    20,078,972 
Exercise of stock options     110,026    176,896    178,548 
Restricted stock issued     -   -   13,000 
Stock purchase plans     22,540    45,024    43,395 

End of year     20,668,401    20,535,835    20,313,915 
Treasury shares                 

Beginning of year     963,465    958,465    950,502 
Restricted stock issued     -   -   -
Restricted stock forfeiture     969    -   2,963 
Shares repurchased     -   5,000    5,000 

End of year     964,434    963,465    958,465 

     2004     2003     2002   
Basic:                     

Weighted average shares outstanding     19,660,039     19,439,405     19,254,504   
Restricted shares issued not vested     (28,450 )   (42,582 )   (46,031 ) 

     19,631,589     19,396,823     19,208,473   
Diluted:                     

Shares used for basic     19,631,589     19,396,823     19,208,473   
Dilutive effect of stock options     221,906     253,132     264,636   
Dilutive effect of units under the Stock Purchase Plans     103,857     109,014     91,183   
Dilutive effect of restricted shared issued not vested     8,746     12,250     14,586   

     19,966,098     19,771,219     19,578,878   

Note 12 - Income Taxes  
Pre-tax earnings (loss) from continuing operations for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002 were taxed in the following jurisdictions:  
   

   

     2004    
2003 

(As Restated)    2002   
United States     $ 6,689    22,323    (214 ) 
Foreign       3,208    9,921    7,030   
     $ 9,897    32,244    6,816   
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Income tax expense relating to continuing operations for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002 was comprised of the following:  
   

   

     Total     Federal     State     Foreign   
2004                             

Current     $ (1,810 )   (437 )   (177 )   (1,196 ) 
Deferred       (559 )   (594 )   (93 )   128   

     $ (2,369 )   (1,031 )   (270 )   (1,068 ) 
2003 (As Restated)                             

Current     $ (2,312 )   763     (30 )   (3,045 ) 
Deferred       (8,688 )   (6,836 )   (1,758 )   (94 ) 

     $ (11,000 )   (6,073 )   (1,788 )   (3,139 ) 
2002                             

Current     $ 2,087     5,096     (538 )   (2,471 ) 
Deferred       (4,686 )   (5,580 )   958     (64 ) 

     $ (2,599 )   (484 )   420     (2,535 ) 

The following table reconciles income tax expense based on the U.S. statutory rate to the Company’s income tax expense from continuing operations:  
   

   
The tax effects of the principal components creating net deferred income tax assets as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 were as follows:  
   

     2004     
2003 

(As Restated)     2002   
Income tax expense based on the U.S. statutory rate     $ (3,465 )   (11,285 )   (2,386 ) 
State income taxes, net of federal tax benefit       (176 )   (1,162 )   273   
Expenses permanently nondeductible for tax purposes       (367 )   (540 )   (789 ) 
Foreign income taxes       138     483     236   
Change in valuation allowance       400     -    (400 ) 
Resolution of prior years’ tax exposure       1,035     1,405     231   
Other       66     99     236   
     $ (2,369 )   (11,000 )   (2,599 ) 

   

     2004     
2003 

(As Restated)   
Components creating deferred tax assets:                 

Expenses not currently deductible (principally compensation and payroll-related)     $ 11,830     15,118   
Intangible assets amortization       (107 )   1,023   
Other       (53 )   268   
Loss carryforwards       11,049     7,886   
Credit carryforwards       1,550     1,236   
Valuation allowance       (2,334 )   (2,734 ) 

       21,935     22,797   
Components creating deferred tax liabilities:                 

Deferral of revenues and accounts receivable       (2,867 )   (2,852 ) 
Basis differences for fixed assets       (1,319 )   (1,789 ) 
Other       (3,095 )   (2,943 ) 

     $ 14,654     15,213   

   
The valuation allowance of $2,334 as of December 31, 2004 has been provided primarily to reduce state loss carryforwards to a level which more likely than not will be 
realized. The total valuation allowance for the year ended December 31, 2004 decreased $400 due to the reduction of the portion of the prior year valuation allowance 
attributable to capital loss carryforwards.  
   At December 31, 2004, for state income tax purposes, there are operating loss carryforwards aggregating approximately $125.0 million expiring in varying amounts from 
2005 through 2019. Realization is dependent upon generating sufficient state taxable income prior to expiration of the loss carryforwards. Although realization is not 
assured, management believes it is more likely than not that all of the deferred tax asset will be realized. The amount of the deferred tax asset considered realizable, 
however, could be reduced in the near term if estimates of future state taxable income during the carryforward period are reduced.  
   Undistributed earnings of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries amounted to approximately $42.0 million at December 31, 2004. Those earnings are considered to be 
indefinitely reinvested and, accordingly, no U.S. federal and state income taxes have been provided thereon. Because of the availability of U.S. foreign tax credits, it is not 
practical to determine the U.S. federal income tax liability that would be payable if such earnings were not reinvested indefinitely.  
   Note 13 - Discontinued Operations  
In June 2002, the Company sold the net operating assets of its Modern Engineering, Inc. (“Modern”) subsidiary that operated in its Business Solutions segment. Modern 
provided technical staffing services to the automotive industry. A pre-tax loss on the disposal of these assets of $1,160 was recognized.  
   The earnings from discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2002 were as follows:  
   

   

     2002   
Revenues     $ 32,674   
Gross profit     $ 5,718   
Operating and administrative expenses       5,860   
Provision for disposal of assets       1,160   
Loss before income taxes       (1,302 ) 
Income tax benefit       1,829   
Earnings from discontinued operations     $ 527   

Note 14 - Legal Proceedings and Claims  
During 2004, there were various settlements and judgments relating to claims which had been made against the Company. Those settlements and judgments, resulting in a 
charge of approximately $5.4 million, arose primarily out of a dispute with a potential subcontractor and the resolution of state tax matters within the Business Solutions 
segment, a lease dispute within the AndersElite segment, and a dispute with the purchaser of a business that was previously sold by the Company (the settlement of which 
was accounted for as a Corporate expense). These charges are included  
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in operating and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of earnings.  
   The Company has litigation and other claims pending which have arisen in the ordinary course of business. The Company is a party to two arbitration proceedings involving 
disputes regarding amounts due under two separate fixed-price contracts with customers. The amounts claimed by the Company total $6.9 million, a portion of which has 
been recorded in accounts receivable as of December 31, 2004. The amounts claimed by the customers total approximately $10.0 million, none of which has been reserved 
as a liability. While management anticipates a favorable resolution of these disputes, a favorable resolution cannot be assured, and an unfavorable resolution of these 
disputes could be material to the Company’s consolidated financial statements.  
   The Company also has litigation and other claims pending against it which have arisen in the ordinary course of business. Management believes there are substantive 
defenses and/or insurance and specific accounting reserves established such that the outcome of these pending matters should not have a material adverse effect on the 
business, financial condition, or results of operations of the Company.  
   Note 15 - Retirement Plans  
Trusteed contributory and non-contributory defined contribution retirement plans have been established for the benefit of eligible employees. Costs of the plans are charged 
to earnings and are based on either a formula using a percentage of compensation or an amount determined by the Board of Directors. Charges to earnings for these 
retirement plans for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002 were $1,017, $1,418, and $2,370 respectively. The Company opted not to make contributions to 
its CDI Corporation Retirement Plan for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003. The Company does not provide other post-retirement or post-employment benefits.  
   Note 16 - Lease Commitments  
Offices used for sales, recruiting, and administrative functions and facilities used for in-house engineering, design, and drafting are occupied under numerous leases that 
expire through 2016. In addition, there are leases for computers and office equipment. Due primarily to prior year restructuring, CDI has entered into several non-cancelable 
sublease arrangements whereby the Company is now the sublessor. If a sublessee were to default, the Company would remain liable for the prime lease obligation.  
   Rental expenses and sublease proceeds for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002 are as follows:  
   

   
For periods after December 31, 2004, approximate minimum annual rental payments under non-cancelable leases and inflows under non-cancelable subleases are 
presented in the table below. These amounts include accrued lease liabilities of $.4 million and $1.6 million as referred to in Notes 7 and 8, respectively.  
   

   

     2004    2003    2002 
Rental expense     $ 14,527    14,432    16,466 
Sublease proceeds     $ 399    1,052    708 

    2005   2006   2007    2008    2009    
There-

after 
Future minimum lease payments on non-cancelable leases (1)    $ 13,317   10,718   7,920    6,635    5,348    14,404 
Future minimum proceeds to be received under non-cancelable 

subleases (2)    $ 966   438   124    47    39    -

   

(1) Includes leases assigned or sublet to third parties for which the Company remains obligated under the primary lease. 
(2) Includes leases assigned or sublet to third parties who remit respective lease payments directly to the lessors. 

Note 17 - Disposition of Assets  
During 2004, the Company recorded a pre-tax gain of $1.3 million in connection with a sale of certain assets and liabilities of its MRI operations. Under the terms of the sale 
agreement dated June 30, 2003, the Company received a $0.5 million non-refundable payment and a non-recourse note with a face value of $2.2 million. Since a 
substantial portion of the sales price received was in the form of a non-recourse note secured only by the business sold, and completion of the sale was contingent upon the 
buyer obtaining independent third-party financing for the remaining purchase price, the Company did not record this transaction as a sale until the buyer obtained third party 
funding. The buyer obtained such third party funding in June 2004 and paid the Company $2.2 million. The book value of the net assets sold was $1.4 million.  
   In 2002, the Company recorded a loss on the sale of its MRI Company-owned permanent placement offices of $1.3 million. This transaction was completed primarily to 
enable MRI to focus on its franchise operations.  
   Note 18 - Related Party Transactions  
The Company sublets office space and is provided legal services by a law firm in which one of the members of the Company’s Board of Directors is the Chairman and a 
partner. Total disbursements to the law firm relating to these items aggregated approximately $1.9 million, $1.3 million, and $1.5 million, in 2004, 2003, and 2002, 
respectively.  
   Note 19 - Reporting Segments  
In January 2004, the Company implemented a new structure and leadership alignment. As a result, the Company is reporting its segments as follows: Business Solutions, 
AndersElite, Todays Staffing (“Todays”), and Management Recruiters International (“MRI”). Todays and MRI segments remain unchanged from  
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prior reporting periods. Prior year segment reporting has been restated to conform to the new organizational structure.  
   Business Solutions includes most of the former Professional Services and Project Management reporting segments. It operates principally through five key verticals: CDI-
Information Technology (“IT”) Services, CDI-Process & Industrial (“P&I”), CDI-Aerospace, CDI-Government Services, and CDI-Life Sciences.  
   

   
  �   CDI Information Technology Services – Provides IT staffing and IT outsourcing solutions to a broad range of primarily service-based industries. 

   

  
�   CDI Process and Industrial – Provides a full range of engineering, project management, design, professional staffing, and outsourcing solutions to firms in two 

different sectors: the process sector, that includes firms in oil, gas, and chemicals; and the industrial sector, covering firms in power generation and energy 
transmission, telecommunications, and heavy manufacturing. 

   
  

�   CDI Aerospace – Provides a full range of engineering, design, project management, professional IT and engineering staffing, and outsourcing solutions to both 
the commercial and military aerospace markets. 

   
  �   CDI Government Services – Focuses on providing engineering, design, and logistics services to the defense industry. 

   
  

�   CDI Life Sciences – Offers design, validation, project management, engineering, professional staffing, and outsourcing solutions to customers in the 
pharmaceutical, bio-pharmaceutical, and regulated medical services industries. 

Business Solutions also provides services to businesses in the automotive and financial services industries.  
   AndersElite, formerly part of the Professional Services segment, is a leading United Kingdom firm specializing in sourcing professionals from architects and surveyors, to 
electrical and construction engineers, to information technology professionals, in private and government-funded design and construction projects.  
   Todays provides temporary and permanent administrative, clerical, and legal staffing services as well as managed staffing services.  
   MRI is a franchisor providing support services to its franchisees who engage in the search and recruitment of primarily management and sales personnel for employment by 
their customers. It also provides temporary management staffing services.  
   
Segment data for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002 follows:  
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     2004     
2003 

(As Restated)     2002   
Revenues:                       

Business Solutions     $ 700,831     717,225     811,160   
AndersElite       166,062     150,334     123,027   
Todays       122,262     135,746     149,387   
MRI       56,052     56,876     85,901   

     $ 1,045,207     1,060,181     1,169,475   
Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes, minority interests 

and cumulative effect of accounting change                       
Operating profit:                       

Business Solutions     $ 11,681     25,535     9,045   
AndersElite       2,456     8,614     7,258   
Todays       2,165     6,371     1,486   
MRI       9,830     3,622     6,902   
Corporate       (16,763 )   (12,951 )   (17,990 ) 

       9,369     31,191     6,701   
Interest income, net       528     1,053     115   
     $ 9,897     32,244     6,816   
Depreciation and amortization:                       

Business Solutions     $ 6,778     7,674     17,715   
AndersElite       1,046     1,181     1,254   
Todays       721     1,133     1,490   
MRI       756     1,484     2,705   
Corporate       317     391     1,293   

     $ 9,618     11,863     24,457   
Assets:                       

Business Solutions     $ 194,424     198,751     194,238   
AndersElite       57,540     54,429     48,153   
Todays       44,865     40,495     44,779   
MRI       28,428     38,115     38,934   
Corporate       33,762     73,390     106,670   

     $ 359,019     405,180     432,774   
Purchases of property and equipment:                       

Business Solutions     $ 5,747     11,233     6,456   
AndersElite       1,229     661     1,379   
Todays       338     1,107     558   
MRI       180     332     1,145   
Corporate       304     324     606   

     $ 7,798     13,657     10,144   
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Inter-segment activity is not significant. Therefore, revenues reported for each operating segment are substantially all from external customers.  
   The Company is domiciled in the United States and its segments (other than AndersElite) operate primarily in the United States. Revenues and fixed assets by geographic 
area for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002 are as follows:  
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     2004    
2003 

(As Restated)    2002 
Revenues:                   

United States     $ 808,169         847,015         979,372 
United Kingdom, Canada, and other       237,038    213,166    190,103 

     $ 1,045,207         1,060,181         1,169,475 
Property and Equipment:                   

United States     $ 23,720         26,513         23,758 
United Kingdom, Canada, and other       4,664    4,608    5,376 

     $ 28,384         31,121         29,134 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  
   
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of CDI Corp .:  
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of CDI Corp. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated 
statements of earnings, cash flows, and shareholders’ equity for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2004. In connection with our audits of the 
consolidated financial statements, we have also audited the financial statement schedule. These consolidated financial statements and the financial statement schedule are 
the responsibility of management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements and the financial statement schedule based on our 
audits.  
   We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a 
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  
   In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of CDI Corp. and subsidiaries as of 
December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2004, in conformity 
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated 
financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.  
   As discussed in Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company has restated its consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2003, and the related 
consolidated statements of earnings, cash flows, and shareholders’ equity for the year ended December 31, 2003.  
   We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness of the Company’s internal 
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”), and our report dated March 30, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of, and an 
adverse opinion on the effective operation of, internal control over financial reporting.  
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/ S /    KPMG LLP  

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania  
March 30, 2005       



Table of Contents  

   
Restated Quarterly Results (Unaudited)  
   The quarterly financial data below (except for the fourth quarter of 2004) has been restated for the applicable periods to reflect the adjustments described in Note 2. In 
addition, the Company has also presented restated quarterly financial data for its Business Solutions (“BS”) segment since the restatement impacted this segment. Quarterly 
financial data for the other segments were not affected by the restatements.  
   

   

     Consolidated   
     Year Ended December 31, 2004 (a)   

(in thousands, except per share data)    

First 
Quarter 

(As Restated)     

Second 
Quarter 

(As Restated)     

Third 
Quarter 

(As Restated)     
Fourth 

Quarter     Total   
Revenues     $ 255,987     264,839     263,152     261,229     1,045,207   
Gross profit       61,164     62,927     62,224     59,079     245,394   

Operating and administrative expenses       54,114     57,371     59,544     66,491     237,520   
Operating profit       7,050     6,851     2,680     (7,212 )   9,369   
Interest income, net and other       (268 )   (136 )   (39 )   (85 )   (528 ) 
Net earnings (loss)     $ 4,719     4,773     1,707     (3,671 )   7,528   
Diluted earnings per share:                                   
Net earnings (loss)     $ 0.24     0.24     0.08     (0.19 )   0.38   

     Consolidated   
     Year Ended December 31, 2003 (b)   

(in thousands, except per share data)    

First 
Quarter 

(As Restated)     

Second 
Quarter 

(As Restated)     

Third 
Quarter 

(As Restated)     

Fourth 
Quarter 

(As Restated)     
Total 

(As Restated)   
Revenues     $ 269,497     269,962     264,321     256,401     1,060,181   
Gross profit       68,570     65,188     63,481     59,754     256,993   

Operating and administrative expenses       60,606     56,309     55,178     53,852     225,945   
Operating profit       7,964     8,879     8,234     6,114     31,191   
Interest income, net and other       (374 )   (252 )   (170 )   (257 )   (1,053 ) 
Net earnings     $ 5,211     6,206     5,434     4,393     21,244   
Diluted earnings per share:                                   

Net earnings     $ 0.27     0.31     0.27     0.22     1.07   
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(a) The information presented in the table below reconciles the Company’s consolidated restated net earnings for the first three quarters of 2004 from the net earnings 
previously presented in the Company’s Form 10-Qs for the applicable periods. 
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     Year Ended December 31, 2004   

(in thousands, except per share data)    

First 
Quarter 

(As Restated)     

Second 
Quarter 

(As Restated)     

Third 
Quarter 

(As Restated)     
Fourth 

Quarter     Total   
Net earnings as originally reported     $ 4,936     5,209     2,287     (3,671 )   8,761   

Adjustments (pre-tax):                                   
Revenue       -    -    (97 )   -    (97 ) 
Cost of services       84     106     112     -    302   
Operating and administrative expenses       262     590     719     -    1,571   

Total adjustments (pre-tax)       (346 )   (696 )   (928 )   -    (1,970 ) 
Tax effect of restated adjustments       129     260     348     -    737   
Total net adjustments       (217 )   (436 )   (580 )   -    (1,233 ) 
Net earnings (loss) as restated     $ 4,719     4,773     1,707     (3,671 )   7,528   

Diluted earnings per share:                                   
Net earnings - as originally reported     $ 0.25     0.26     0.11     (0.19 )   0.44   
Effect of net adjustments       (0.01 )   (0.02 )   (0.03 )   -    (0.06 ) 
Net earnings (loss) as restated     $ 0.24     0.24     0.08     (0.19 )   0.38   
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(b) The information presented in the table below reconciles the Company’s consolidated restated net earnings for the first three quarters of 2003 from the net earnings 
previously presented in the Company’s Form 10-Qs for the applicable periods. The information for the fourth quarter of 2003 has been reconciled from the net earnings 
amount previously reported in the Company’s 2003 Form 10-K. 

     Year Ended December 31, 2003   

(in thousands, except per share data)    

First 
Quarter 

(As Restated)     

Second 
Quarter 

(As Restated)     

Third 
Quarter 

(As Restated)     

Fourth 
Quarter 

(As Restated)     
Total 

(As Restated)   
Net earnings as originally reported     $ 5,460     6,103     5,973     5,010     22,546   

Adjustments (pre-tax):                                   
Revenue       (29 )   (32 )   (34 )   (38 )   (133 ) 
Cost of services       (223 )   (50 )   (48 )   19     (302 ) 
Operating and administrative expenses       592     (143 )   900     822     2,171   

Total adjustments (pre-tax)       (398 )   161     (886 )   (879 )   (2,002 ) 
Tax effect of restated adjustments       149     (58 )   347     262     700   
Total net adjustments       (249 )   103     (539 )   (617 )   (1,302 ) 
Net earnings as restated     $ 5,211     6,206     5,434     4,393     21,244   

Diluted earnings per share:                                   
Net earnings - as originally reported     $ 0.28     0.31     0.30     0.25     1.14   
Effect of net adjustments       (0.01 )   -    (0.03 )   (0.03 )   (0.07 ) 
Net earnings as restated     $ 0.27     0.31     0.27     0.22     1.07   



Table of Contents  

   

   

     Business Solutions   
     Year Ended December 31, 2004 (a)   

(in thousands)    

First 
Quarter 

(As Restated)    

Second 
Quarter 

(As Restated)    

Third 
Quarter 

(As Restated)    
Fourth 

Quarter     Total   
Revenues     $ 172,452    179,634    176,833    171,912     700,831   
Gross profit       33,790    35,424    33,697    30,940     133,851   
Operating and administrative expenses       27,912    30,379    30,208    33,871     122,370   
Restructuring       -   -   -   (200 )   (200 ) 
Operating profit (loss)     $ 5,878    5,045    3,489    (2,731 )   11,681   

     Business Solutions   
     Year Ended December 31, 2003 (b)   

(in thousands)    

First 
Quarter 

(As Restated)    

Second 
Quarter 

(As Restated)    

Third 
Quarter 

(As Restated)    

Fourth 
Quarter 

(As Restated)     

Total 
(As 

Restated)   
Revenues     $ 185,530    182,014    177,785    171,896     717,225   
Gross profit       39,946    35,914    35,920    34,435     146,215   
Operating and administrative expenses       32,394    29,423    30,158    28,742     120,717   
Restructuring       -   -   218    (255 )   (37 ) 
Operating profit     $ 7,552    6,491    5,544    5,948     25,535   

   

   

(a) The information presented in the table below reconciles the Company’s BS segment’s restated operating profit for the first three quarters of 2004 from the operating profit 
previously presented in the Company’s Form 10-Qs for the applicable periods. 

     Year Ended December 31, 2004   

(in thousands)    

First 
Quarter 

(As Restated)     

Second 
Quarter 

(As Restated)     

Third 
Quarter 

(As Restated)      
Fourth 

Quarter      Total   
Operating profit (loss) as originally reported     $ 6,224     5,741     4,417      (2,731 )    13,651   

Adjustments (pre-tax):                                     
Revenue       -    -    (97 )    -     (97 ) 
Cost of services       84     106     112      -     302   
Operating and administrative expenses       262     590     719      -     1,571   

Total adjustments (pre-tax)       (346 )   (696 )   (928 )    -     (1,970 ) 
Operating profit (loss) as restated     $ 5,878     5,045     3,489      (2,731 )    11,681   
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(b) The information presented in the table below reconciles the Company’s BS segment’s restated operating profit for the first three quarters of 2003 from the operating profit 
previously presented in the Company’s Form 10-Qs for the applicable periods. The information for the fourth quarter of 2003 has been reconciled from the operating 
profit previously reported in the Company’s 2003 Form 10-K. 

     Year Ended December 31, 2003   

(in thousands)    

First 
Quarter 

(As Restated)     

Second 
Quarter 

(As Restated)     

Third 
Quarter 

(As Restated)     

Fourth 
Quarter 

(As Restated)     
Total 

(As Restated)   
Operating profit as originally reported     $ 7,950     6,330     6,430     6,827     27,537   

Adjustments (pre-tax):                                   
Revenue       (29 )   (32 )   (34 )   (38 )   (133 ) 
Cost of services       (223 )   (50 )   (48 )   19     (302 ) 
Operating and administrative expenses       592     (143 )   900     822     2,171   

Total adjustments (pre-tax)       (398 )   161     (886 )   (879 )   (2,002 ) 
Operating profit as restated     $ 7,552     6,491     5,544     5,948     25,535   
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Item 9. 
  

Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Ac counting and  
Financial Disclosure  

Not applicable.  
   

   

      

Item 9A.   Controls and Procedures 

   
(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

The management of the Company, under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated 
the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)) as of December 31, 2004. Based on this evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded 
that, as of December 31, 2004, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were not effective because a material weakness in internal control over financial 
reporting existed as of that date. The identified material weakness resulted from inadequate account analysis procedures as described below. Due to this material 
weakness, the Company, in preparing its financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2004, performed additional procedures relating to accounts 
receivable, accrued payroll, and certain other balance sheet accounts to ensure that the financial statements were stated fairly in all material respects in accordance with 
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.  

   
   
(b) Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. The Company’s internal control over 
financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance of the reliability of its financial reporting and of the preparation of its financial statements for 
external reporting purposes, in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.  

   The Company’s internal control over financial reporting includes policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail: 
accurately and fairly reflect transactions and disposition of assets; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of 
financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with the 
authorization of its management and directors; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding the prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on its financial statements.  

   Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of the 
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the 
policies and procedures included in such controls may deteriorate.  

   
As of December 31, 2004, management conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based upon the 
framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), Internal Control-Integrated Framework. Based on this 
assessment, management has concluded that, as of December 31, 2004, the Company did not maintain effective internal control over financial reporting, due to a 
material weakness associated with inadequate account analysis procedures, as described below.  

   In compiling its financial results for the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2004, management identified a material weakness in the Company’s internal control over 
financial reporting relating to account analysis practices and procedures employed by the Company in its period-end financial reporting process. Specifically, 
management identified circumstances in which certain financial statement accounts were not being analyzed by appropriate personnel, resulting in an accumulation of 
accounting errors that were not detected on a timely basis. The financial statement accounts in which accounting errors were identified included primarily accounts 
receivable, which was overstated in prior annual and interim periods, and accrued payroll, which was understated in prior annual and interim periods. These deficiencies 
in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting resulted in misstatements to prior annual and interim financial statements and, accordingly, certain prior annual 
and interim financial statements have been restated to reflect the correction of accounting errors as more fully described in Note 2 to the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements.  

   The Company’s independent registered public accountants, KPMG LLP, have audited and issued their report on management’s assessment of the Company’s internal 
control over financial reporting, which report is included herein.  

   
   
(c) Changes in Internal Controls 

There were no changes, other than as discussed below, in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation of such 
internal control that occurred during the Company’s last fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal 
control over financial reporting.  

   The Company has identified and is in the process of implementing action plans to remediate the material weakness described in (b) above. Specifically, the Company 
has developed and implemented new account analysis procedures to ensure that accounts are being analyzed on a timely basis, analyses are being independently 
reviewed, all identified adjustments are recorded on a timely basis, and all account balances are substantiated by supporting detail. The Company is currently in the 
process of hiring additional accounting staff as well as reorganizing its accounting and finance departments. While the Company is in the process of implementing 
remediation plans, the aforementioned material weakness will not be considered remediated until the new internal controls operate for a sufficient period of time, are 
tested, and management concludes that these controls are operating effectively. As a result, the Company did not consider these remediation efforts in the Company’s 
assessment of its internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004.  
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(d) Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

The Board of Directors and Shareholders  
   CDI Corp.:  
   We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting (Item 9A(b)), that 

CDI Corp. (the Company) did not maintain effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, because of the effect of a material weakness 
in account analysis practices and procedures employed by the Company in its period-end financial reporting process, based on criteria established in Internal 
Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company’s management is 
responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial 
reporting based on our audit.  

   We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. 
Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design 
and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit 
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

   A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial 
reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the 
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of 
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in 
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of 
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.  

   Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstate ments. Also, projections of any evaluation of 
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with 
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.  

   A material weakness is a control deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies, that results in more than a remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the 
annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected. The following material weakness has been identified and included in management’s 
assessment as of December 31, 2004:  

   

   

Management identified a material weakness in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting relating to account analysis practices and 
procedures employed by the Company in the period-end financial reporting process. Specifically, certain financial statement accounts were not 
being analyzed by appropriate personnel, resulting in an accumulation of accounting errors that were not detected on a timely basis. The financial 
statement accounts in which accounting errors were identified included primarily accounts receivable, which was overstated in prior annual and 
interim periods, and accrued payroll, which was understated in prior annual and interim periods. These deficiencies resulted in misstatements to 
prior annual and interim financial statements. 

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the Consolidated Balance Sheets, 
Statements of Earnings, Shareholders’ Equity and Cash Flows of CDI Corp. The aforementioned material weakness was considered in determining the nature, 
timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the 2004 consolidated financial statements, and this report does not affect our report dated March 30, 2005, 
which expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.  

   In our opinion, management’s assessment that CDI Corp. did not maintain effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, is fairly stated, 
in all material respects, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission (COSO). Also, in our opinion, because of the effect of the material weakness described above on the achievement of the objectives of the 
control criteria, CDI Corp. has not maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal 
Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).  

   
/s/    KPMG LLP                 

KPMG LLP  
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania  
March 30, 2005  
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Information related to security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management is omitted herein as the required information will be included in a definitive proxy 
statement to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A no later than 120 days after the close of the fiscal year.  
   

Part III  

      

Item 10. 
  

Directors and Executive Officers of the  
Registrant  

The Company has adopted a code of ethics that applies to all of the Company’s employees, including its principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal 
accounting officer or controller, or persons performing similar functions. This code of ethics is available on the Company’s website at www.cdicorp.com, or may be obtained 
by making a written request addressed to the Company’s Vice President of Corporate Communications. The Company will disclose on its website amendments to, and, if 
any are granted, waivers of, its code of ethics for its principal executive officer, principal financial officer, or principal accounting officer or controller.  
   

   
Information related to executive compensation is omitted herein as the required information will be included in a definitive proxy statement to be filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A no later than 120 days after the close of the fiscal year.  
   

   
Information related to security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management is omitted herein as the required information will be included in a definitive proxy 
statement to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A no later than 120 days after the close of the fiscal year.  
   
Equity Compensation Plan Information  
The following table provides information as of December 31, 2004 for common shares of the Company that may be issued under the CDI Corp. Omnibus Plan. It also 
includes information related to the CDI Corp. Stock Purchase Plan for Management Employees and Non-Employee Directors (“SPP”). See Note 9 in the Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements for further information related to these plans.  
   

      

Item 11.   Executive Compensation 

      

Item 12. 
  

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and  Management and Related Stockholder 
Matters 

   

     

Number of  
securities to be  

issued upon  
exercise of  
outstanding  

options,  
warrants and  

rights     

Weighted average  
exercise price of  

outstanding options,  
warrants and rights     

Number of  
securities  
remaining  

available for  
future issuance  

under equity  
compensation  

plans  
(excluding  
securities  

reflected in  
column A)  

     A    B    C 
Equity compensation plans approved by 

security holders (a)     1,550,061    $ 21.56    1,778,970 
Total     1,550,061    $ 21.56    1,778,970 

   

   
Information related to certain relationships and related transactions is omitted herein as the required information will be included in a definitive proxy statement to be filed 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A no later than 120 days after the close of the fiscal year.  
   

   
Information related to principal accountant fees and services is omitted herein as the required information will be included in a definitive proxy statement to be filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A, no later than 120 days after the close of the fiscal year.  
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(a) The number of securities in column A includes 128,400 units awarded to participants in the SPP. The weighted average share price of $22.90 for the SPP represents 
the weighted average market price per share of the Company’s common stock on the days when units were awarded to participants under the plans. Upon vesting, 
participants in the plans are entitled to receive an equal number of shares of the Company’s common stock. 

      

Item 13.   Certain Relationships and Related Transactions 

      

Item 14.   Principal Accountant Fees and Services 
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Part IV  
      

Item 15.   Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules 

   
(a) Documents filed as part of this report: 

Financial statements:  
   The consolidated balance sheets of the Registrant as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, the related consolidated statements of earnings, shareholders’ equity, and cash 

flows for each of the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002, the footnotes thereto, and the report of KPMG LLP, independent auditors, are filed herewith.  
   Financial statement schedule:  
   Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002.  
   
   
(b) Exhibits 
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Number    Exhibit 
3.a. 

   
Articles of incorporation of the Registrant, incorporated herein by reference to the Registrant’s report on Form 10-Q for the quarter 
ended June 30, 2002 (File No. 1-5519). 

3.b. 
   

Bylaws of the Registrant, incorporated herein by reference to the Registrant’s report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 
2002 (File No. 1-5519). 

10.a. 

   

CDI Corp. Non-Qualified Stock Option and Stock Appreciation Rights Plan, incorporated herein by reference to the Registrant’s report 
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2003 (File No. 1-5519). (Constitutes a management contract or compensatory plan or 
arrangement) 

10.b. 

   

Amended and Restated CDI Corp. 1998 Non-Qualified Stock Option Plan, incorporated herein by reference to the Registrant’s report 
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2003 (File No. 1-5519). (Constitutes a management contract or compensatory plan or 
arrangement) 

10.c. 
   

CDI Corp. 2004 Omnibus Stock Plan, incorporated herein by reference to the Registrant’s 2004 proxy statement filed on Schedule 
14A on April 21, 2004 (File No. 1-5519). (Constitutes a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.) 

10.d. 

   

Amended and Restated CDI Corp. Stock Purchase Plan for Management Employees and Non-Employee Directors, incorporated 
herein by reference to the Registrant’s 2004 proxy statement filed on Schedule 14A on April 21, 2004 (File No. 1-5519). (Constitutes a 
management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement) 

10.e.    CDI Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan. (Constitutes a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement) 
Number    Exhibit 

10.f. 

   

Executive Severance Arrangement Approved by the CDI Corp. Compensation Committee on September 10, 2002, incorporated by 
reference to the Registrant’s report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2002 (File No. 1-5519). (Constitutes a 
management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement) 

10.g. 

   

Supplemental Pension Agreement dated April 11, 1978 between CDI Corporation and Walter R. Garrison, incorporated herein by 
reference to the Registrant’s report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2003 (File No. 1-5519). (Constitutes a management 
contract or compensatory plan or arrangement) 

10.h. 

   

Restricted Stock Agreement dated as of October 25, 1999 between Registrant and Gregory L. Cowan, incorporated herein by 
reference to the Registrant’s report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999 (File No. 1-5519). (Constitutes a 
management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement) 

10.i. 

   

Employment Agreement dated October 1, 2001, between Registrant and Roger H. Ballou, incorporated by reference to the 
Registrant’s report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001. (File No. 1-5519). (Constitutes a management contract or 
compensatory plan or arrangement) 

10.j. 

   

Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement dated October 14, 2002 between Registrant and Jay G. Stuart, incorporated herein by 
reference to the Registrant’s report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2003 (File No. 1-5519). (Constitutes a management 
contract or compensatory plan or agreement) 

10.k. 

   

Restricted Stock Agreement dated October 14, 2002 between Registrant and Jay G. Stuart, incorporated herein by reference to the 
Registrant’s report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2003 (File No. 1-5519). (Constitutes a management contract or 
compensatory plan or agreement) 

10.l. 
   

Release and Waiver of Claims and Non-Competition Agreement dated December 20, 2004 between Registrant and Jay G. Stuart. 
(Constitutes a management contract or compensatory plan or agreement) 

10.m. 
   

Promissory Note dated November 16, 2004 from Registrant to JP Morgan Chase Bank, along with cover letter from JP Morgan Chase 
Bank to Registrant. 
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Number    Exhibit    Page 

21.    List of Subsidiaries of the Registrant.      

23.    Consent of Independent Certified Public Accountants.      

31.a.    Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.      

31.b.    Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.      

32. 
   

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted 
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.      
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Signatures  
   
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the 
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.  
   

   
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the 
capacities and on the dates indicated.  
   

CDI Corp.  
By: /s/   Roger H. Ballou  
    Roger H. Ballou 
    President and Chief Executive Officer 
    Date: March 29, 2005 

By: /s/   Roger H. Ballou    By: /s/   Michael J. Emmi    By: /s/   Ronald J. Kozich  
    Roger H. Ballou        Michael J. Emmi       Ronald J. Kozich 
    President, Chief        Director       Director 
    Executive Officer and Director        Date: March 29, 2005       Date: March 29, 2005 
    (Principal Executive Officer)                 
    Date: March 29, 2005    By: /s/   Walter R. Garrison    By: /s/   Barton J. Winokur  
            Walter R. Garrison       Barton J. Winokur 
By: /s/   Jay G. Stuart        Director       Director 
    Jay G. Stuart        Date: March 29, 2005       Date: March 29, 2005 
    Executive Vice President                 
    And Chief Financial Officer    By: /s/   Kay Hahn Harrell         
  

  
(Principal Financial and  
Accounting Officer)       

Kay Hahn Harrell  
Director          

    Date: March 29, 2005        Date: March 29, 2005         
                      
By: /s/   Walter E. Blankley    By: /s/   Lawrence C. Karlson         
    Walter E. Blankley        Lawrence C. Karlson         
    Director        Director         
    Date: March 29, 2005        Date: March 29, 2005         
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Schedule II  
   
CDI CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES  
Valuation and Qualifying Accounts  
(Allowance for Uncollectible Receivables)  
   

   
Exhibit 10.e 

   
CDI Deferred Compensation Plan  
   

    Years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 
  

  

Balance at 
beginning 

of year   

Additions 
charged to 

earnings   

Uncollectible 
receivables 
written off, 

net of recoveries   
Balance at 

end of year 

December 31, 2004    $5,496,000   1,349,000   2,379,000   4,466,000 
December 31, 2003    $7,683,000   1,843,000   4,030,000   5,496,000 
December 31, 2002    $8,162,000   3,246,000   3,725,000   7,683,000 

Effective as of January 1, 2005, CDI Corporation provisionally adopted a nonqualified deferred compensation plan for a select group of 
management or highly compensated employees, which is expected to have the final substantive terms described below. The written plan 
document is not yet finalized due to the passage of the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 and its creation of new Internal Revenue Code 
Section 409A (“Section 409A”), which governs nonqualified deferred compensation plans like the new plan. The Internal Revenue Service has 
issued guidance under Code Section 409A that permits nonqualified deferred compensation plan sponsors, like CDI, until December 31, 2005 
to finalize a plan document. CDI will finalize and execute the document on or before December 31, 2005. The final plan document for the CDI 
Deferred Compensation Plan (the “Deferred Compensation Plan”), when adopted, will be publicly filed and replace the description below.  
   
Administration  
   
The Deferred Compensation Plan is administered by an Administrative Committee (the “Committee”) comprised of the Chief Financial 
Officer, the Executive Vice President - Human Relations, the Senior Vice President - Corporate Legal, and such other members designated by 
CDI Corporation’s Board of Directors. The Board retains the right to amend, modify, discontinue or terminate the Deferred Compensation Plan 
and may delegate such authority to the Committee or another designee. The Deferred Compensation Plan provides that no amendment will be 
authorized that will have an adverse effect on participants unless the amendment is required by law or is reasonably necessary to preserve the 
federal tax deferral of participants’ accounts.  
   
Eligibility  
   
Eligible employees are current employees whose compensation for a previous year exceeded the compensation amount used to define who is a 
“highly compensated employee” under the Code plus $5,000. For 2004, the eligibility amount is $95,000 because the limit in the Code was 
$90,000 for 2004. The limit in the Code for 2005 is $95,000. Eligibility for any newly hired employee during a year will be determined by the 
Committee. Eligible employees will become participants in the Deferred Compensation Plan after making a valid election to defer a whole 
percentage, in 5% increments, of salary or bonus to be earned in the next following year. Salary deferrals will begin in the February following 
the year in which an election is made. The Committee may specify a maximum on the amount of salary or bonus that may be deferred in any 
year,  



Deferral of Salary and Bonus Amounts  
   
In order to defer a percentage of an employee’s salary or bonus for the next year, and become a participant in the Deferred Compensation Plan, 
an eligible employee must file an irrevocable deferral election with the Committee. The election may only be made during the fourth quarter of 
the calendar year preceding the year in which the applicable percentage of salary and/or bonus is earned. Any election with respect to the 
deferral of salary or bonus will only be effective for the subsequent calendar year, and does not renew for years thereafter. Special rules apply 
to new employees. New employees may not defer any portion of their bonus in the year of hire, but they may, within 30 days of becoming 
eligible to participate in the Deferred Compensation Plan, file an election to defer a portion of their unearned salary during their first year of 
employment.  
   
Accounts and Investments  
   
Bookkeeping reserve accounts are maintained under the Deferred Compensation Plan for each participant to reflect the amount of any salary, 
bonus and or earnings or losses accrued under the Deferred Compensation Plan. The Deferred Compensation Plan is unfunded. Participants do 
not have a secured right to amounts reflected in participant accounts beyond that of a general creditor of CDI. Accounts are established for the 
convenience of administration and do not constitute a trust or set-aside to fund CDI’s obligations under the Deferred Compensation Plan.  
   
Earnings and losses on deferral accounts maintained under the Deferred Compensation Plan will be determined on the basis of direction by the 
participant. A Deferred Compensation Plan participant may allocate his account among investment funds selected by the Committee. Although 
amounts are not actually invested on behalf of the participant pursuant to such an allocation, the Committee will credit earnings and debit 
losses to participants’ accounts according to the performance of the investments selected by the participant. Absent a participant’s designation, 
earnings and losses are credited or debited to participant accounts according to the performance of a default investment fund specified in the 
Deferred Compensation Plan. Participants are allowed to change their investment allocation as often as once a month, but a period of at least 15 
days must elapse between any two such designations. Elections remain effective until changed.  
   
Distribution Events  
   
Distributions from the Deferred Compensation Plan will be made only upon the earliest to occur of the following events: death of the 
participant, disability of the participant, the participant’s separation from service (whether on account of retirement or otherwise, as discussed 
below), unforeseeable emergency, a change in control of CDI, or a date specified by the participant as described below.  
   
Upon the death or disability of the participant, the participant’s account is to be distributed as soon as practicable in a cash lump sum. However, 
as required by the Code, certain key employees and officers of CDI may not receive distributions earlier than six months following the date of a 
separation from service with CDI.  



Distributions due to separation from service for reasons other than death or disability will be made on the first business day of April following 
a participant’s separation from service. However, as required by the Code, if any key employee separates from service with CDI, his account 
will not be distributed until the first business day of the first April which occurs 180 days or more after such separation. Distributions made 
upon termination of service after age 65 may be paid in installments of up to 10 years as described below.  
   
Specified date distributions must be elected at the time a participant initially files an election to defer a portion of his or her salary or bonus and 
must specify a date no earlier than the first business day of April that occurs at least one year after the election date. Specified date distributions 
may be further deferred only if a participant makes an election at least 12 months prior to the date originally selected in the participant’s 
deferral election and only if the new date chosen for the distribution is at least 5 years after the original distribution date. Specified date 
distributions may be made in installments of up to 5 years as described below.  
   
Upon a change in the ownership of CDI or a substantial portion of CDI’s assets or upon a change in effective control of CDI, amounts deferred 
under the Deferred Compensation Plan will be distributed in a lump sum to participants. However, as required by the Code, certain key 
employees and officers who separate from service from CDI will not receive a distribution earlier than six months following his separation 
from service.  
   
The Committee may, upon a participant’s request, and supporting documentation distribute that amount of a participant’s account that is 
necessary to alleviate the participant’s unforeseeable emergency (including any tax obligation arising from such distribution). An unforeseeable 
emergency is generally a severe financial hardship that results from injury, illness or casualty loss that cannot be remedied by other sources. 
Unforeseeable emergency distributions will not be authorized for amounts under $1,000. A participant may only receive two distributions as a 
result of an unforeseeable emergency per calendar year and must wait at least 90 days between unforeseeable emergency distributions.  
   
Distribution Form  
   
Optional installment payments are permitted only in the event of distributions due to retirement, which is a termination following age 65, or 
upon a specified date. All other distributions are in lump sums. Installment payments are to be made on the first business day of each April 
after the commencement date, and are limited to a term of 10 years for a retiring participant and 5 years for a specified date distribution. The 
Deferred Compensation Plan does not permit installments to be paid for an account balance of $10,000 or less, and instead pays such balances 
in the form of a lump sum on the date installments would otherwise commence.  
   
A participant may not accelerate the time of any distribution under the Deferred Compensation Plan. A participant may only elect to change the 
form of a distribution (from lump sum to installment or vice versa) regarding a distribution on account of retirement or a date specified in the 
participant’s deferral election if he or she makes such subsequent election at least 12 months prior to the date the amounts would otherwise be 
paid and he or she elects to receive amounts further deferred no earlier than 5 years following the date payment would otherwise be made.  



Special Rules Affecting Former MRI Plan Participants  
   
Certain employees of CDI who work for MRI, had accounts under another nonqualified deferred compensation plan maintained by MRI (the 
“MRI Plan”). The accounts under the MRI Plan to the extent they related to distributions that would be made under the MRI Plan on or after 
January 1, 2007 were merged with this Plan effective January 1, 2005. Distributions to be made prior to January 1, 2007, remain subject to the 
terms of the MRI Plan.  

Exhibit 10.l.  
   

RELEASE AND WAIVER OF CLAIMS  
and  

NON-COMPETITION AGREEMENT  
   

THIS IS A RELEASE AND WAIVER OF CLAIMS and NON-COMPETITION AGREEMENT (hereinafter referred to as 
“Agreement”) made this 20th day of December, 2004, by and between CDI Corporation (hereinafter referred to as “the 
Company”) and Jay G. Stuart (hereinafter referred to as “Employee”) which is entered into in connection with the termination of 
Employee’s employment with the Company as of May 31, 2005 or such other date to which the parties may agree (“Termination 
Date”).  
   

1. AS CONSIDERATION for Employee’s undertakings and covenants set forth herein, the Company hereby agrees to:  
   

   

  
(a) Pay Employee bi-weekly severance payments of $11,923.08 from the Termination Date until the earlier of the date on 

which Employee begins new full-time employment or the date on which a total of $310,000 of such payments have 
been paid to Employee; 

   

  

(b) Pay Employee prorated bonus for the period January 1, 2005 through the Termination date. This amount of bonus will 
be calculated as a percentage of the bonus for the entire 2005 year (based on the number of days in 2005 through the 
Termination Date divided by 365) using the bonus formula applicable to Employee and will be paid when bonuses are 
normally paid for 2005 (i.e., approximately the end of February, 2006); 

   

  

(c) Beginning on the Termination Date and continuing for twelve months, reimburse Employee for the same portion of the 
insurance premium for Employee’s COBRA insurance coverage as the Company was paying toward the premium for 
Employee’s group insurance coverage immediately prior to the Termination Date. This reimbursement is contingent 
upon Employee electing COBRA coverage and will continue for so long as Employee maintains COBRA coverage but 
not beyond this twelve month period; 

   

   

  (d) Continue Employee’s Basic Life Insurance coverage for as long as payments are made under 1(a), above; 

     Company         Employee 



   
  (e) Pay Employee, promptly following the Termination Date, $15,000 in lieu of his obtaining outplacement services; 

   

  
(f) Permit shares of CDI Corp. restricted stock that are held by Employee as of the Termination Date to continue to vest 

during the period that payments are made under 1(a), above; 

   

  
(g) Pay Employee a stay bonus of $50,000 if Employee continues satisfactorily to perform his duties on a full-time basis 

through the Termination Date; 

   

  
(h) Assume responsibility for the obligations under Employee’s apartment lease at 1600 Arch Street, Philadelphia from the 

Termination Date through the lease expiration date (November, 2005), with the exception of responsibility for any 
damage to the premises caused during Employee’s tenancy; and 

   
The Company’s obligations under this Section 1 are contingent upon (i) Employee having executed this Agreement and the 
General Release substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit “A”, (ii) the seven (7) day revocation periods provided in 
Section 7, below, and in the General Release having expired and (iii) Employee having not exercised either right of revocation.  
   

2. On or about the Termination Date, the Company will deliver to Employee for his signature a General Release, 
substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A, releasing the Company and related parties from any liability to Employee. 
Employee will have twenty-one (21) days from his receipt of such release to decide whether he will sign such release, and if he 
signs and delivers the release to the Company, he will then have seven (7) days to revoke the release (the “revocation period”) in 
accordance with its terms. If Employee has not executed such a release and delivered the same to the Company within twenty-
one days after receiving it from the Company, or if he has revoked the release during the revocation period, the Company will not 
have any obligation to make any payments under this Agreement to Employee or perform any other obligations under this 
Agreement.  
   

3. Employee warrants and agrees that he is responsible for any federal, state, and local taxes which may be owed by him by 
virtue of the receipt of any portion of the consideration herein provided. The Company will, however, make  
   

   
-2-  

  
(i) Promptly following the Termination Date, purchase Employee’s furnishings in the above apartment for $5,000, such 

furnishings to include: 1 king size bed, 2 dressers, 1 night stand, 1 wall unit, 1 leather sofa, 1 leather chair, 1 slate 
coffee table, 1 dining room table with 4 chairs and 1 computer desk. 

     Company         Employee 



any appropriate withholdings on amounts to be paid hereunder, as required by law.  
   

4. Employee acknowledges that he has been encouraged to seek the advice of an attorney of his choice in regard to this 
Agreement. The Company and Employee represent that they have relied upon the advice of their attorneys, who are attorneys of 
their own choice, or they have knowingly and willingly not sought the advice of their attorneys. Employee hereby understands and 
acknowledges the significance and consequences of an agreement such as this and represents that the terms of this Agreement 
are fully understood and voluntarily accepted by him.  
   

5. Both Employee and the Company have cooperated in the drafting and preparation of this Agreement. Hence, in any 
construction to be made of this Agreement, the same shall not be construed against either party on the basis that the party was 
the drafter.  
   

6. Employee acknowledges that he has had at least twenty-one (21) days to consider the terms of this Agreement prior to his 
signing it. If Employee has executed this Agreement prior to the end of such twenty-one (21) day consideration period, Employee 
acknowledges that such decision to waive any portion of the twenty-one (21) day consideration period was done knowingly and 
voluntarily.  
   

7. Employee further understands that he may revoke this Agreement within seven (7) days following his signing of the 
Agreement by giving written notice of such revocation to the Company. Such notice must be dated within such seven day time 
period and must be received promptly thereafter by the Company.  
   

8. Employee agrees to perform those actions that may be reasonably requested by the Company to effect his separation 
from the Company including, but not limited to, submitting resignations from director and officer positions in the Company and its 
subsidiaries.  
   

9. Employee agrees to perform certain actions that may be reasonably necessary in Company’s defense or prosecution of 
disputes, claims and/or lawsuits that involve matters or events, which occurred during Employee’s period of employment with 
Company. Such actions would include reviewing files and records, attending and participating in meetings, giving depositions, 
attending and testifying at trials and performing similar actions. Company agrees to provide reasonable notice, and as much 
notice as is practicable under the circumstances, to Employee before requesting Employee to perform any such actions. Company 
further agrees to cooperate with Employee in scheduling all such actions so as not  
   

   
-3-  

     Company         Employee 



to unduly burden Employee or to unduly interfere with Employee’s other activities and responsibilities. Company agrees to 
promptly reimburse Employee for all out-of-pocket costs (including travel, meal and lodging costs) reasonably incurred by 
Employee in fulfilling Employee’s responsibilities under this paragraph, upon Employee’s providing proper documentation of such 
costs. Also, Company agrees to pay Employee reasonable compensation for time spent by Employee fulfilling his responsibilities 
under this paragraph following the time period during which payments are made under Section 1(a), above.  
   

10. Employee agrees to hold all of the Company’s Confidential Information in the strictest confidence and not use any 
Confidential Information for any purpose and not publish, disseminate, disclose or otherwise make any Confidential Information 
available to any third party. “Confidential Information” means all information, data, know-how, systems and procedures of a 
technical, sensitive or confidential nature in any form relating to the Company or its customers, including, without limitation, all 
business and marketing plans, marketing and financial information, pricing, profit margin, cost and sales information, operations 
information, forms, contracts, bids, agreements, legal matters, unpublished written materials, names and addresses of customers 
and prospective customers, systems for recruitment, contractual arrangements, market research data, information about 
employees, suppliers and other companies with which the Company has a commercial relationship, plans, methods, concepts, 
computer programs or software in various stages of development, passwords, source code listings and object code.  
   

11. Employee agrees to return to the Company promptly after the Termination Date all Company property and documents 
that Employee may have in his possession.  
   

12. For the twelve month period following the Termination Date, Employee agrees that he will not:  
   

   

  
(a) Directly or indirectly hire or cause to be hired, or solicit, interfere with or attempt to entice away from the Company, any 

individual who is then an employee of the Company or, in the case of a person being hired, was an employee of the 
Company within six months prior to the date of such hire; 

   

  
(b) Directly or indirectly, contact, solicit, interfere with or attempt to entice away from the Company any customer of the 

Company on behalf of a business which competes with the Company; 

   

   
-4-  

  
(c) Own, manage, operate, finance, join, control, or participate in the ownership, management, operation, financing or 

control of,  

     Company         Employee 



   
13. Employee agrees not to use after the Termination Date any computer or network access code or password belonging to 

the Company or made available to him by virtue of his employment with the Company, and not to access any computer, network, 
or data base in the possession or control of the Company.  
   

14. Employee acknowledges that the amounts paid under Section 1, above, are being paid under the assumption that during 
Employee’s employment with Company Employee did not engage in any behavior that would constitute a serious breach 
(“Serious Breach”) of his obligations as an employee. A Serious Breach would include: (1) any act(s) or omission(s) by Employee 
that involved dishonesty in performing services for the Company including but not limited to submitting a false certification or 
falsifying records, expense accounts and other reports; (2) competing against the Company, directly or indirectly; (3) disclosure of 
confidential information of the Company or its customers; (4) violation of any Company policy that provided for termination of 
employment as a possible consequence of such violation; and (5) any act(s) or omission(s) that were or could be injurious to the 
Company (other than to an immaterial extent).  
   

If, after the date this Agreement is signed by the Company, the Company learns of information that would lead an employer 
acting in good faith to reasonably believe that Employee had engaged in a Serious Breach during his employment with Company, 
then the Company has the right to nullify this Agreement by sending Employee written notice of such nullification.  
   

Upon receipt of the nullification notice, this Agreement will be cancelled and all obligations of both parties under this 
Agreement and the General Release shall be voided. Within ten (10) days of receiving such notice, Employee shall return to the 
Company any payments made under Section 1 that have already been received. Employee also agrees that he shall forfeit any 
payments under Section 1 not yet made by the Company.  
   

   
-5-  

  

or be connected directly or indirectly, as proprietor, partner, shareholder (other than ownership of not more than two 
percent of a company’s outstanding capital stock), director, officer, executive, employee, agent, creditor, consultant, 
independent contractor, joint venturer, investor, representative, trustee or in any other capacity or manner whatsoever 
with, any business that provides the types of services that are provided by the Company as of the Termination Date. 
Providing consulting services to Management Recruiters International, Inc. or its franchisees will not be considered a 
violation of this Agreement.  

     Company         Employee 



Employee’s returning any previously paid amounts or the Company’s sending or not sending a nullification notice does not 
limit in any way the remedies that Company may pursue against Employee because of any Serious Breach that was committed by 
him.  
   

15. If one or more of the provisions of this Agreement shall for any reason be held invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any 
respect, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect or impair any other provision of this Agreement, but this 
Agreement shall be construed as if such invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision had not been contained herein.  
   

16. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties concerning the termination of Employee’s 
employment and all other subjects addressed herein. This Agreement supersedes and replaces all prior negotiations and 
agreements relating to the subjects addressed herein except as specifically addressed herein. All agreements, proposed or 
otherwise, whether written or oral, concerning all subject matters covered herein are incorporated into this Agreement.  
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    Date            Jay G. Stuart  

        CDI Corporation  

            By:     

  

  

Date  
  

  

  

  

  

Roger H. Ballou  
President and CEO  



EXHIBIT A 
   

Exhibit 10.l.  
General Release  

   
NOTICE ; This is a very important legal document and you should carefully review and understand the terms and effect of this 
document before signing it. By signing this General Release you are agreeing to completely release CDI Corporation from all 
liability to you. Therefore, you should consult with an attorney before signing this General Release. You have 21 days from the 
date of your receipt of this document to consider and execute this document. If you have not returned a signed copy of this 
General Release by that time, we will assume that you have elected not to sign the General Release. If you sign and return this 
General Release before the end of the 21 day period, you acknowledge that you have waived the remainder of the 21 day period 
knowingly and voluntarily. If you choose to sign the General Release, you will have an additional 7 days following the date of your 
signature to revoke this General Release and it shall not become effective or enforceable until the 7 day revocation period has 
expired.  
   

In consideration of benefits which would not otherwise be offered to me by CDI Corporation (“the Company”) and which are 
set forth in Section 1 of the Release and Waiver of Claims and Non-Competition Agreement dated December 20, 2004 between 
me and the Company (“the Agreement”), I hereby, on behalf of myself, my descendants, ancestors, dependents, heirs, executors, 
administrators, assigns and successors, fully and forever release and discharge the Company and its parent, subsidiaries, 
affiliates, divisions, successors, and assigns, together with its and their past and present directors, officers, agents, attorneys, 
insurers, employees, stockholders, and representatives (all of the foregoing other than the Company are collectively referred to as 
the “Related Parties”), from any and all claims, wages, demands, rights, liens, agreements, contracts, covenants, actions, suits, 
causes of action, obligations, debts, costs, expenses, attorneys’ fees, damages, judgments, orders or liabilities of whatsoever kind 
or nature in law, equity or otherwise, whether now known or unknown, suspected or unsuspected which I now own or hold or have 
at any time heretofore owned or held against said Company or any of the Related Parties, arising out of or in any way connected 
with my employment relationship with the Company, or the termination of that employment, or any other transactions, 
occurrences, acts or omissions or any loss, damage or injury whatsoever, known or unknown, suspected or unsuspected, 
resulting from any act or omission by or on the part of the Company or any of the Related Parties, committed or omitted prior to 
the date of this General Release, including, but not limited to claims under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Age 
Discrimination in Employment Act, any other federal or state statute which deals with discrimination or any claim for severance 
pay, bonus, salary, overtime pay, sick leave, holiday pay, vacation pay, stock options or other stock related compensation or 
programs, life insurance, health or medical insurance, benefits under any pension, retirement or 401(k) plan or any other fringe 
benefit, workers’ compensation or disability benefit.  
   

This General Release shall not, however, release any rights to (i) those items to be paid as consideration under the 
Agreement, (ii) payments to which I am entitled under any Company insurance, retirement, profit sharing, deferred compensation, 
401(k), stock purchase or any other Company benefit plan as of the Termination Date – the benefits under which will be paid in 
accordance with the terms of such plans, it being understood and agreed that neither the consideration paid under the Agreement 
nor the way that consideration is calculated or paid shall create or enhance any such entitlement, (iii) exercise any stock options 
that are vested as  
   

Page 1 of 2  



of the Termination Date at any time for two months following the Termination Date, or (iv) payment of salary through the 
Termination Date, all Paid Days Off earned and accrued through the Termination Date and reimbursement of any business 
expenses incurred by me in connection with the Company’s business and in accordance with the Company’s policy for the 
reimbursement of such expenses.  
   

By signing below, I acknowledge that I have carefully read and fully understand the provisions of this General Release. I 
further acknowledge that I am signing this General Release knowingly and voluntarily and without duress, coercion or undue 
influence. This General Release constitutes the total and complete understanding between me and CDI Corporation relating to the 
subject matter covered herein, and all other prior or contemporaneous written or oral agreements or representations, if any, 
relating to the subject matter of this General Release are null and void. It is also expressly understood and agreed that the terms 
of this General Release may not be altered except in a writing signed by both me and CDI Corporation.  
   
INTENDING TO BE LEGALLY BOUND, I hereby set my hand below:  
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WITNESSED BY:          

      
  

      
        Jay G. Stuart  

Dated:           
  

  Dated:         



Exhibit 10.l.  
   

Amendment  
   

This is an amendment (“Amendment”) to the Release and Waiver of Claims and Non-Competition Agreement (“Agreement”) 
made December 20, 2004 by and between CDI Corporation (“the Company”) and Jay G. Stuart (“Employee”). This Amendment is 
entered into as of March 10, 2005.  
   

The Agreement is hereby amended as follows:  
   

   
  1. Section 1(a) is deleted and replaced with the following: 

“Pay Employee bi-weekly severance payments of $11,923.08 from the Termination Date until the earlier of the date on 
which Employee begins new full-time employment or February 15, 2006. If Employee has not begun full-time 
employment as of February 15, 2006, the Company will make an additional lump sum payment to Employee prior to 
March 14, 2006. The amount of this lump sum payment will be the difference between $310,000 and the total of all bi-
weekly payments made under this section. If Employee begins full-time employment after this lump sum payment has 
been made but before the expiration of one year after the Termination Date (“the Anniversary Date”), he will repay to 
the Company the amount of $5,961,54 times the number of weeks between the start of his new employment and the 
Anniversary Date.  

   
All other provisions of the Agreement remain unchanged.  
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PROMISSORY NOTE  
   

   
FOR VALUE RECEIVED, CDI CORP. (the “ Borrower ”), HEREBY PROMISES TO PAY to the order of JPMORGAN CHASE 

BANK (the “ Bank ”), at its offices located at 277 Park Avenue, New York, New York 10172, or at such other place as the Bank or 
any holder hereof may from time to time designate, the principal sum of TWENTY MILLION DOLLARS ($20,000,000), or such 
lesser amount as may be advanced by the Bank and be outstanding from time to time, in lawful money of the United States, in 
immediately available funds on November 15, 2005 (the “ Maturity Date ”) (or earlier as hereinafter referred to), and to pay interest 
in like money at such office or place from the date hereof on the unpaid principal balance of each Loan (as hereinafter defined) 
made hereunder at a rate equal to the Applicable Interest Rate (as hereinafter defined and computed on the basis of the actual 
number of days elapsed on the basis of a 360-day year) for such Loan, which shall be payable on the Interest Payment Date 
relating to such Loan (as hereinafter defined) until such Loan shall be due and payable (whether at maturity, by acceleration or 
otherwise) and thereafter, on demand. Interest on any past due amount, whether at the due date thereof or by acceleration or 
upon default, shall be payable at a rate four percent (4%) per annum above the Applicable Rate in effect from time to time which 
rate shall be computed for actual number of days elapsed on the basis of a 360-day year and shall be adjusted as of the date of 
each such change, but in no event higher than the maximum permitted under applicable law.  
   

Interest/Grid Schedule  
   

          

    3/10/05           /s/    J AY G. S TUART         
    Date           Jay G. Stuart 

        CDI Corporation  

    3/10/05       By:   /s/    R OGER H. B ALLOU         
    Date           Roger H. Ballou 
                President and CEO 

     New York, New York 
$20,000,000     November 16, 2004 

The Bank is authorized to enter on the Grid Schedule attached hereto (i) the amount of each Loan made from time to time 
hereunder, (ii) the date on which each Loan is made, (iii) the applicable Interest Period for each Loan which in no event shall be 
later than the Maturity Date, (iv) the interest rate agreed between the Borrower and the Bank as the interest rate to be paid to the 
Bank on each Loan (each such rate, an “ Applicable Interest Rate ”), which rate, at the Borrower’s option in accordance herewith, 
shall be at (a) the Prime Rate (the “ Prime Rate Loan(s) ”) or (b) the Adjusted LIBO Rate (as hereafter defined) plus 0.60% (the “ 
LIBOR Loan ”; each Prime Rate Loan or LIBOR Loan shall be a “ Type ” of Loan), (v) the amount of each payment made 
hereunder, and (vi) the outstanding principal balance of the Loans hereunder from time to time.  



The date, amount, rate of interest and maturity date of each Loan and payment(s) (if any) of principal, the Loan(s) to which 
such payment(s) will be applied (which shall be at the discretion of the Bank) and the outstanding principal balance of Loans shall 
be recorded by the Bank on its books and records (which may be electronic in nature) and at any time and from time to time may 
be, and shall be prior to any transfer and delivery of this Note, entered by the Bank on the schedule attached or any continuation 
of the schedule attached hereto by the Bank (at the discretion of the Bank, any such entries may aggregate Loans (and payments 
thereon) with the same interest rate and tenor and, if made on a given date, may show only the Loans outstanding on such date). 
Any such entries shall be conclusive in the absence of manifest error. The failure by the Bank to make any or all such entries shall 
not relieve the Borrower from its obligation to pay any and all amounts due hereunder.  
   

Prepayment  
   

The Borrower shall not have the right to prepay any Loan, other than Loans based on the Prime Rate, prior to the last day of 
the applicable Interest Period of such Loan. In the event the Borrower does prepay a Loan prior to the last day of the applicable 
Interest Period, the Borrower shall reimburse the Bank on demand for any loss incurred or to be incurred by it in the 
reemployment of the funds released by any prepayment.  
   

Loans by the Bank  
   

The loan hereunder may be made in any combination of loans (each a “ Loan ” and collectively the “ Loans ”) as may be 
requested by the Borrower hereunder, which Loans shall in no event exceed $20,000,000 in aggregate principal amount 
outstanding at any time. Any LIBOR Loan shall be in a minimum principal amount of $500,000 and in increments of $100,000. 
Each such request for a Loan shall be made by any officer of the Borrower or any person designated in writing by any such officer, 
all of which are hereby designated and authorized by the Borrower to request Loans and agree to the terms thereof (including 
without limitation the Applicable Interest Rate and Interest Period with respect thereto). The Borrower shall give the Bank notice at 
least three (3) Business Days prior to the date thereof and the end of each Interest Period (as hereafter defined) specifying 
whether the Loan shall bear interest at the Prime Rate or the Adjusted LIBO Rate and the Interest Period applicable thereto. In the 
event the Borrower shall fail to provide such notice, the Loan shall be deemed to bear interest at the applicable Prime Rate and 
shall have an Interest Period of one month. The principal amount of each Loan shall be prepaid on the earlier to occur of the last 
day of the Interest Period applicable thereto, or the date upon which the entire unpaid balance hereof shall otherwise become due 
and payable.  
   

The Borrower shall have the right at any time upon the prior irrevocable written notice to the Bank required above to continue 
at the end of the then prevailing Interest Period any Prime Rate Loan or LIBOR Loan or portion thereof into a subsequent Interest 
Period and at the end of the then prevailing Interest Period to convert any Loan or portion thereof into a Prime Rate Loan or 
LIBOR Loan, subject to the selection of Interest Periods in accordance with the definition thereof and to the following conditions:  
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(a) no LIBOR Loan may be continued as such and no Prime Rate Loan may be converted to a LIBOR Loan if an Event of 

Default hereunder or, any event which upon notice or lapse of time or both would constitute an Event of Default 
thereunder, shall have occurred and be continuing at the time of such continuation or conversion; 



   

  

(b) in the case of a continuation of or conversion of less than all of a Loan, the principal amount of each LIBOR Loan 
continued or into which another Type of Loan has been converted shall not be less than $500,000 and shall be in an 
integral multiple of $100,000 and the principal amount of each Prime Rate Loan continued or into which another Type of 
Loan has been converted shall not be less than $100,000 and shall be in an integral multiple of $100,000; 

   

  
(c) each conversion shall be effected by the Bank by applying the proceeds of the new Prime Rate Loan or LIBOR Loan to 

the Loan (or portion thereof) being converted, and accrued interest on the Loan (or portion thereof) being converted 
shall be paid by the Borrower at the time of conversion; 

   

  

(d) if the last day of an Interest Period with respect to a Loan that is to be converted to a LIBOR Loan is not a Business 
Day, then such conversion shall be made on the next succeeding Business Day and during the period from the last 
such day of an Interest Period to such succeeding Business Day such Loan shall bear interest as if it were a Prime 
Rate Loan; 

   
  (e) a LIBOR Loan may be converted to another Type of Loan only on the last day of its Interest Period; and 

   
Increased Cost  

   

  
(f) any portion of a LIBOR Loan that cannot be converted or continued as a LIBOR Loan by reason of prepayment 

penalties thereon automatically shall be converted at the end of the prevailing Interest Period to a Prime Rate Loan. 

If at any time after the date hereof, the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System or any political subdivision of the 
United States of America or any other government, governmental agency or central bank shall impose or modify any reserve or 
capital requirement on or in respect of loans made by or deposits with the Bank or shall impose on the Bank or the eurocurrency 
market any other conditions affecting LIBOR Loans, and the result of the foregoing is to increase the cost to (or, in the case of 
Regulation D, to impose a cost on) the Bank of making or maintaining any LIBOR Loans or to reduce the amount of any sum 
receivable by the Bank in respect thereof, by an amount deemed by the Bank to be material, then, within 30 days after notice and 
demand by the Bank, the Borrower shall pay to the Bank such additional amounts as will compensate the Bank for such increased 
cost or reduction; provided, that the Borrower shall not be obligated to compensate the Bank for any increased cost resulting from 
the  
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application of Regulation D as required by the definition of Adjusted LIBO Rate. Any such obligation by the Borrower to the Bank 
shall not be due and owing until the Bank has delivered written notice to the Borrower. Failure by the Bank to provide such notice 
shall not be deemed a waiver of any of its rights hereunder. A certificate of the Bank claiming compensation hereunder and setting 
forth the additional amounts to be paid to it hereunder and the method by which such amounts were calculated shall be conclusive 
in the absence of manifest error.  
   

Capital Adequacy  
   

If the Bank shall have determined that the applicability of any law, rule, regulation or guideline adopted pursuant to or arising 
out of the July 1988 report of the Basle Committee on Banking Regulations and Supervisory Practices entitled “International 
Convergence of Capital Measurement and Capital Standards”, or the adoption after the date hereof of any other law, rule 
regulation or guideline regarding capital adequacy, or any change in any of the foregoing or in the interpretation or administration 
of any of the foregoing by any governmental authority, central bank or comparable agency charged with the interpretation or 
administration thereof, or compliance by the Bank (or any lending office of the Bank) or the Bank’s holding company with any 
request or directive regarding capital adequacy (whether or not having the force of law) of any such authority, central bank or 
comparable agency, has or would have the effect of reducing the rate of return on the Bank’s capital or on the capital of the 
Bank’s holding company, if any, as a consequence of its obligations hereunder to a level below that which the Bank or the Bank’s 
holding company could have achieved but for such adoption, change or compliance (taking into consideration the Bank’s policies 
and the policies of such Bank’s holding company with respect to capital adequacy) by an amount deemed by the Bank to be 
material, then from time to time the Borrower shall pay to the Bank such additional amount or amounts as will compensate the 
Bank or the Bank’s holding company for any such reduction suffered.  
   

Indemnity  
   

The Borrower shall indemnify the Bank against (i) any loss or expense which the Bank may sustain or incur as a 
consequence of the occurrence of any Event of Default and (ii) any loss or expense sustained or incurred pursuant to this Note in 
connection with obtaining, liquidating or employing deposits from third parties as a consequence of the conversion of any Loan 
from one interest rate to another or the payment of any principal of any LIBOR Loan by the Borrower (in either case, pursuant to a 
default, change in legality or otherwise) on any day other than the last day of an Interest Period, or the failure by the Borrower to 
borrow or prepay, convert or continue any LIBOR Loan or part thereof once notice has been given by the Borrower. The Bank 
shall provide to the Borrower a statement, supported where applicable by documentary evidence, explaining the amount of any 
such loss or expense, which statement shall be conclusive absent manifest error.  
   

Change In Legality  
   

(a) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained elsewhere in this Note, if any change after the date hereof in any law 
or regulation or in the interpretation thereof by any  
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governmental authority charged with the administration thereof shall make it unlawful (based on the opinion of any counsel, 
whether in-house, special or general, for the Bank) for the Bank to make or maintain any LIBOR Loan or to give effect to its 
obligations as contemplated hereby with respect to any LIBOR Loan, then, by written notice to the Borrower by the Bank, the Bank 
may require that all outstanding LIBOR Loans made hereunder be converted to Prime Loans, whereupon all such LIBOR Loans 
shall be automatically converted to Prime Loans as of the effective date of such notice as provided in paragraph (b) below.  
   

(b) For purposes of this Section, a notice to the Borrower by the Bank pursuant to paragraph (a) above shall be effective, if 
lawful and if any LIBOR Loans shall then be outstanding, on the last day of the then current Interest Period; otherwise, such notice 
shall be effective on the date of receipt by the Borrower.  
   

Events of Default  
   

If the Borrower shall default in the punctual payment of any sum payable with respect to, or in the observance or 
performance of any of the terms and conditions of, this Note, or any other agreement with or in favor of the Bank, or if a default or 
event of default that is accelerated shall occur for any reason under any such agreement, or in the event of default in any other 
indebtedness of the Borrower, or if the Bank shall, in its sole discretion, consider any of the obligations of the Borrower hereunder 
insecure, or if any warranty, representation or statement of fact made in writing to the Bank at any time by an officer, agent or 
employee of the Borrower is false or misleading in any material respect when made, or if the Borrower shall be dissolved or shall 
fail to maintain its existence in good standing, or if the usual business of the Borrower shall be suspended or terminated, or if any 
levy, execution, seizure, attachment or garnishment shall be issued, made or filed on or against any material portion of the 
property of the Borrower, or if the Borrower shall become insolvent (however defined or evidenced), make an assignment for the 
benefit of creditors or make or send a notice of intended bulk transfer, or if a committee of creditors is appointed for, or any 
petition or proceeding for any relief under any bankruptcy, reorganization, arrangement, insolvency, readjustment of debt, 
receivership, liquidation or dissolution law or statute now or hereafter in affect (whether at law or in equity) is filed or commenced 
by or against the Borrower or any material portion of its property, or if any trustee or receiver is appointed for the Borrower or any 
such property - then and in any such event (“ Event of Default ”), in addition to all rights and remedies of the Bank under 
applicable law and otherwise, all such rights and remedies cumulative, not exclusive and enforceable alternatively, successively 
and concurrently, the Bank may, at its option, declare any and all of the amounts owing under this Note to be due and payable, 
whereupon the maturity of the then unpaid balance hereof shall be accelerated and the same, together with all interest accrued 
hereon, shall forthwith become due and payable provided , however , that if a bankruptcy event specified above shall have 
occurred, all amounts owing under this Note shall be immediately due and payable without presentment, demand, protest or other 
notice of any kind, all of which are expressly waived by the Borrower.  
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Definitions  
   

   
  A. Adjusted LIBO Rate 

“ Adjusted LIBO Rate ” shall mean, with respect to any LIBOR Loan for any Interest Period, an interest rate per annum 
(rounded upwards, if necessary, to the next 1/8 of 1%) equal to the product of (i) the LIBO Rate in effect for such 
Interest Period and (ii) Statutory Reserves.  

   
“ LIBO Rate ” shall mean, with respect to any LIBOR Loan for any Interest Period, the rate quoted by the principal 
London branch of the Bank at approximately 11:00 a.m. London time two Business Days prior to the first day of such 
Interest Period for the offering to leading banks in the London Interbank market of dollar deposits in immediately 
available funds, for a period and in an amount, comparable to such Interest Period and the principal amount of such 
LIBOR Loan, as it appears on Page 3756 of the Dow Jones Market Service.  

   

   
  B. Business Day 

“ Business Day ” shall mean any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which the Bank is authorized or 
required by law or regulation to close, and which is a day on which transactions in dollar deposits are being carried out 
in London, England for LIBOR Loans and New York City for Prime Loans.  

   

   
  C. Interest Payment Date 

“ Interest Payment Date ” means (a) as to any LIBOR Loans, on the last day of the applicable Interest Period relating to 
such Loan and, if such Interest Period is greater than three (3) months, at three (3) month intervals after such Loan is 
made, (b) as to Prime Rate Loans at the end of each month following such Loan and (c) as to all Loans, the Maturity 
Date.  

   

   
  D. Interest Period 

   

  
(i) For LIBOR Loans, “ Interest Period ” shall mean the period commencing on the date of such Loan and ending 1, 

2, 3 or 6 months subject to availability (as selected by the Borrower and recorded on the grid attached hereto) 
after the date of such Loan; 

   

  
(ii) For Prime Loans, “ Interest Period ” shall mean the period agreed to by the parties hereto, however, the Interest 

Period shall not extend past the Maturity Date; 

If any Interest Period would end on a day which shall not be a Business Day, such Interest Period shall be extended to 
the next succeeding Business Day unless with respect to LIBOR Loans, such next succeeding Business Day would fall 
in the next calendar month, in which case (x) such Interest Period shall end on the first  
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preceding Business Day and (y) any Interest Period for a LIBOR Loan that commences on the last Business Day of a 
calendar month (or on a day for which there is no numerically corresponding day in the last calendar month of such 
Interest Period) shall end on the last Business Day of the last calendar month of such Interest Period. Furthermore, no 
Interest Period may extend beyond the Maturity Date.  

   

   
  E. Prime Rate 

“ Prime Rate ” shall mean the rate of interest as is publicly announced at the Bank’s principal office from time to time as 
its Prime Rate.  

   

   
  F. Statutory Reserves 

“ Statutory Reserves ” shall mean a fraction (expressed as a decimal) the numerator of which is the number one and 
the denominator of which is the number one minus the aggregate of the maximum reserve percentages (including, 
without limitation, any marginal, special emergency or supplemental reserves) established by the Board of Governors of 
the Federal Reserve System and any other banking authority to which the Bank is subject with respect to the Adjusted 
LIBO Rate, for “Eurocurrency liabilities” as defined in Regulation D. LIBOR Loans shall be deemed to constitute 
Eurocurrency liabilities and as such shall be deemed to be subject to such reserve requirements without benefit of or 
credit for proration, exceptions or offsets which may be available from time to time to the Bank under such Regulation 
D. Statutory Reserves shall be adjusted automatically on and as of the effective date of any change in any reserve 
percentage.  

   
Set-Off  

   
The Borrower hereby gives to the Bank a lien on, security interest in and right of set-off against all moneys, securities and 

other property of the Borrower and the proceeds thereof, now or hereafter delivered to, remaining with or in transit in any manner 
to the Bank, its correspondents, affiliates (including J.P. Morgan Securities Inc.) or its agents from or for the Borrower, whether for 
safekeeping, custody, pledge, transmission, collection or otherwise or coming into possession, control or custody of the Bank in 
any way, and also, any balance of any deposit accounts and credits of the Borrower with, and any and all claims of the Borrower 
against the Bank at any time existing, as collateral security for the payment of this Note, whether joint, several, absolute, 
contingent, secured, unsecured, matured or unmatured (all of which are hereafter collectively called “ Liabilities ”), hereby 
authorizing the Bank at any time or times, without prior notice (but the Bank will provide notice to the Borrower promptly after 
taking such action), to apply such balances, credits or claims, or any part thereof, to such Liabilities in such amounts as it may 
select, whether contingent, unmatured or otherwise and whether any collateral security therefor is deemed adequate or not. The 
collateral security described herein shall be in addition to any collateral security described in any separate agreement executed by 
the Borrower in favor of the Bank.  
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Miscellaneous  
   

The Borrower hereby waives diligence, demand, presentment, protest and notice of any kind, and assents to extensions of 
the time of payment, release, surrender or substitution of security, or forbearance or other indulgence, without notice.  
   

This Note may not be changed, modified or terminated orally, but only by an agreement in writing signed by the party to be 
charged and consented to in writing by the party hereof.  
   

The Bank reserves the right to assign or sell participations in the Loans or the Note to any entity (including to any Federal 
Reserve Bank in accordance with applicable law) and to provide any assignee or participant or prospective assignee or participant 
with information of the Borrower previously received by the Bank, subject to confidentiality requirements. The Borrower’s consent 
to such assignment or participation is hereby deemed granted.  
   

In the event the Bank or any holder hereof shall refer this Note to an attorney for collection, the Borrower agrees to pay, in 
addition to unpaid principal and interest, all the costs and expenses incurred in attempting or effecting collection hereunder, 
including reasonable attorney’s fees of internal or outside counsel, whether or not suit is instituted.  
   

In the event of any litigation with respect to this Note, THE BORROWER WAIVES THE RIGHT TO A TRIAL BY JURY and all 
rights of setoff and rights to interpose counter-claims and cross-claims. The Borrower hereby irrevocably consents to the 
jurisdiction of the courts of the State of New York and of any Federal court located in such State in connection with any action or 
proceeding arising out of or relating to this Note. The execution and delivery of this Note has been authorized by all necessary 
and appropriate corporate approvals. The Borrower hereby authorizes the Bank to complete this Note in any particulars according 
to the terms of the loan evidenced hereby. This Note shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State 
of New York applicable to contract made and to be performed in such State, and shall be binding upon the successors and 
assigns of the Borrower and inure to the benefit of the Bank, its successors, endorsees and assigns.  
   

If any term or provision of this Note shall be held invalid, illegal or unenforceable the validity of all other terms and provisions 
hereof shall in no way be affected thereby.  
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CDI CORP. 

By:    /s/    J AY G. S TUART         

Name:   Jay G. Stuart 
Title:    Executive Vice President & CFO 
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Lee P. Brennan  
Vice President  
Mid-Corporate Banking  
MidAtlantic Region  
   

  
   
November 16, 2004  
   
Mr. Jay G. Stuart.  
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer  
CDI Corporation.  
1717 Arch Street 35th Floor  
Philadelphia, P A 19103  
   
Dear Jay:  
   
We are pleased to advise you that based upon your annual financial statements for the fiscal year 2003, JPMorgan Chase Bank 
(the “Bank”) has approved your request for a line of credit in the aggregate amount of $20,000,000.00. Our officers may, at their 
discretion, make short term loans to CDI Corporation on such terms as are mutually agreed upon between us from time to time.  
   
Borrowings under this line are intended to be used to meet your normal short term working capital needs and will bear interest at 
such a rate as shall be mutually agreed upon by each of us from time to time.  
   
As this line is not a commitment, credit availability is, in addition, subject to your execution and delivery of such documentation as 
the Bank deems appropriate (including an executed original of the attached Promissory Note) and the receipt and continuing 
satisfaction with current financial information (including without limitation audited annual and unaudited quarterly financial 
statements, promptly prepared and received), which information will be furnished to the Bank as it may from time to time 
reasonably request, and continuing satisfaction with your financial condition, business affairs and prospects. This line expires on 
November 15, 2005.  
   
We are pleased to be of service and trust you will call upon us to assist in any of your banking requirements.  
   
Very truly yours,  
   

   
Please acknowledge your understanding of the above and indicate your acceptance by returning a signed copy of this letter to my 
attention.  
   
Acknowledged and agreed:  
   

   
cc: Phil Kiefer  
   

JPMorgan Chase Bank· 277 Park Avenue. Floor 22, New  York, NY 10172  
   

Telephone: 212 622 3623 • Facsimile: 646 534 0692  
   

/s/    L EE P. B RENNAN    

By   /s/    J AY G. S TUART   

lee.brennan@jpmorgan.com  
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Subsidiaries of the Registrant  

   
The following are subsidiaries of the Registrant as of December 31, 2004 and the jurisdiction in which each is organized. Each of 
the subsidiaries generally conducts its business using the names indicated except as separately set forth herein. Certain 
subsidiaries are not listed. These omitted subsidiaries individually and in the aggregate do not constitute a significant subsidiary.  
   

Subsidiary  
   

State or Country of 
Organization  

Subsidiary of the Registrant:       

CDI Corporation (a)     Pennsylvania 
   



   

Subsidiaries of CDI Corporation:       

CDI AndersElite Limited     United Kingdom 
CDI Engineering Solutions, Inc. (b)     Delaware 
CDI Marine Company (c)     Florida 
The M&T Company     Pennsylvania 
C.D.I. Professional Services Group, S. de R.L. de C.V. (d)     Mexico 
CDI Professional Services, Ltd.     Canada 
Greenhill LLC     Delaware 
Liquid Medium, LLC     Delaware 
Management Recruiters International, Inc. (e)     Delaware 
Maplehill Corporation     Delaware 
Shared Services of West Virginia, Inc.     Delaware 
Todays Staffing, Inc. (f)     Pennsylvania 

   

Subsidiaries of CDI AndersElite Limited:       

CDI AndersElite Ireland Limited     Ireland 
EuroElite Plc     United Kingdom 

   

Subsidiaries of Management Recruiters International , Inc.:       

Browns Canyon Corporation     Delaware 
Brownshill Corporation     Delaware 
Franchise Services of Ohio, Inc.     Delaware 
MRI Contract Staffing, Inc.     Ohio 

   

Subsidiary of Brownshill Corporation:       

Brownshill Holdings Limited     United Kingdom 
   

Subsidiary of Brownshill Holdings Limited:       

MRI Worldwide Ltd.     United Kingdom 
   

Subsidiary of Maplehill Corporation:       

Asset Computer Personnel Corporation     Canada 
   

Subsidiaries of Todays Staffing, Inc.:       

Todays Staffing, Ltd.     Canada 
Yellowhill LLC     Delaware 

(a) CDI Corporation also conducts its business using the trade names of CDI Business Solutions, CDI Professional Services, 
CDI Engineering Solutions, CDI-Aerospace, CDI-Government Services, CDI-Innovantage, CDI-IT Services, CDI-Life 
Sciences, and CDI-Process & Industrial. 

   

(b) CDI Engineering Solutions, Inc. also conducts its business using the trade names of CDI Business Solutions, CDI 
Engineering Solutions, CDI-Life Sciences, and CDI-Process & Industrial. 

   

(c) CDI Marine and The M & T Company also conduct their business using the trade names of CDI Business Solutions and CDI 
Government Services. 

   
(d) C.D.I. Professional Services Group, S. de R.L. de C.V. also conducts its business using the trade name of CDI. 

   

(e) Management Recruiters International, Inc. also conducts its business using the trade names of MRI, MRI Worldwide, Sales 
Consultants, Office Mates 5, and CompuSearch. 
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Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting  Firm  
   
The Board of Directors  
CDI Corp.:  
   
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statement (No. 333-112088) on Form S-8 and the Registration 
Statement (No.333-112752) on Form S-3 of CDI Corp. of our reports dated March 30, 2005, with respect to the consolidated 
balance sheets of CDI Corp. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of 
earnings, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2004, and the 
related financial statement schedule, management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as 
of December 31, 2004, and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, which reports 
appear in the December 31, 2004 annual report on Form 10-K of CDI Corp.  
   

(f) Todays Staffing, Inc. also conducts its business using the trade names Todays Legal Staffing Todays Office Staffing and 
Todays Financial Staffing. 



Our report on the consolidated financial statements refers to the Company’s restatement of its consolidated balance sheet as of 
December 31, 2003, and its consolidated statements of earnings, cash flows, and shareholders’ equity for the year ended 
December 31, 2003.  
   
Our adverse report on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 contains an 
explanatory paragraph that states that management has identified a material weakness in the Company’s internal control over 
financial reporting relating to account analysis practices and procedures employed by the Company in the period-end financial 
reporting process.  
   

/s/    KPMG LLP                 
   
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania  
March 30, 2005  
   

Exhibit 31.a 
   

Certification  
   
I, Roger H. Ballou, certify that:  
   

   
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of CDI Corp.; 

   

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a 
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were 
made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report; 

   

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present 
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods 
presented in this annual report; 

   

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

   

  

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be 
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in 
which this report is being prepared; 

   

  

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to 
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting 
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles; 

   

  
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report 

our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period 
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

   

  

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during 
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) 
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over 
financial reporting; and 

   

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant’s auditors 
and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

   

  
a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial 

reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and 
report financial information; and 

   
Date: March 29, 2005  
   

Exhibit 31.b  
   

Certification  
   
I, Jay G. Stuart, certify that:  
   

  
b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in 

the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

By:   /s/    R OGER H. B ALLOU         
  

  

ROGER H. BALLOU  
President and Chief Executive Officer  

   
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of CDI Corp.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a 



   

material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were 
made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report; 

   

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present 
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods 
presented in this annual report; 

   

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

   

  

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be 
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in 
which this report is being prepared; 

   

  

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to 
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting 
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles; 

   

  
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report 

our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period 
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

   

  

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during 
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) 
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over 
financial reporting; and 

   

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant’s auditors 
and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

   

  
a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial 

reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and 
report financial information; and 

   
Date: March 29, 2005  
   

   
EXHIBIT 32.  

   
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 AS  ADOPTED  
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT O F 2002  

   
In connection with the Annual Report of CDI Corp. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004 as filed 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned Chief Executive Officer and 
Chief Financial Officer of the Company hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that: 1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, and 2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respect, the financial condition 
and results of operations of the Company as of and for the periods covered in the Report.  
   

   
Dated: March 29, 2005  
   

   
Dated: March 29, 2005  
   
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to CDI Corp. and will be retained by CDI 
Corp. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.  

  
b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in 

the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

By:   /s/    J AY G. S TUART          
  

  

JAY G. STUART  
Executive Vice President and Chief  

Financial Officer  

By:   /s/    R OGER H. B ALLOU         
  

  
Roger H. Ballou  

President and Chief Executive Officer  

By:   /s/    J AY G. S TUART         
  

  

Jay G. Stuart  
Executive Vice President and  

Chief Financial Officer  
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